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Company Profile and Corporate Information
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2018, the Group experienced various challenges, the combined
effect of which were very significant to the Group’s operation and
profitability.

During the year, two industrial parks operated by our Group were shut
down in the Zengcheng District, Guangdong Province (namely Xinzhou
Industrial Park and Xiapu Industrial Park). This was attributable to the
change in the master planning of the local government such that all
textile and dyeing industrial players inside our industrial parks were
forced to shut down their factories, no more revenue and the operating
cashflow can be generated from these two projects. The Xinzhou
Industrial Park was the Group’s first wastewater treatment project and
has later become a flagship project and model project in the industry
while Xiapu Industrial Park was our largest wastewater treatment
project in terms of the designed treatment capacity.

In early 2018, the PRC government commenced a series of nationwide
actions in tightening the environmental enforcement efforts and
accountability by carrying out a centralised inspection of environmental
protection (FH RIR{R B ) and severely investigated a batch of
cases of environmental law violation so as to drive the intensive
implementation of environmental protection. A number of our projects
has been affected, some of which were required to pay penalties and
to temporarily suspended part of the operation in order to follow-up
on rectification orders as stated in the notices of administrative penalty
while some of which were sued by the relevant local procuratorate in
committing offences. The immediate impact of the above were that
some of the operations of the Group has to be suspended which
greatly affected the level of revenue. Certain customers did not pay our
service fee pending the results of the judgments of the environmental
related litigations while at the same time we lost certain rights of
preferential tax treatment.
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Owing to the above, the Group’s cashflow position has been
seriously deteriorated during the year, all the expansion plan has been
terminated, cost savings measures were underway and at the same
time, numerous negotiations with banks, suppliers, contractors and
other creditors were continuing with a view to getting more time to
resolve the existing setbacks which the Group was facing.

As a further response to the above cashflow position, the Group has
entered into an agreement in November 2018 to dispose 50% of
the Group’s equity interest in Xintao Investment Company Limited
(“Xintao Investment”), the then subsidiary which held all of our Group’s
environmental projects and investments in the Guangxi Autonomous
Region. The consideration was RMB563 million and has been
utilized as bank loan repayment and settlement of a major creditor.
Subsequently, the Group has disposed its remaining equity stake in
Xintao Investment in December 2019 at an effective consideration of
RMB620 million in order to repay the bank loans due.

Unfortunately, the continual worsening of the cashflow position
together with the commencement of the major legal actions during
2019 rendered certain creditors and banks to commence legal actions
against the Company and relevant subsidiaries for debt recovery.
Some of the judgments of the above legal actions has been issued
so that our Group is now facing risk of judgment enforcement by
the relevant creditors. The Group is continuing its effort in arriving
settlement plans with its creditors.

The Company’s trading of shares has been suspended since 1 April
2019 due to the failure to publish the annual results for the year ended
31 December 2018. The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”) has subsequently issued certain resumption
guidance to the Company, including the publication of the outstanding
financial results of the Group. The Group will continue its utmost effort
in satisfying the resumption guidance and target to resume trading as
soon as practicable. The trading suspension itself did not affect the
business operations of the Group.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK

The Group’s early presence in the general solid waste sector and
the hazardous treatment waste sector provided the Group with
advantages in these market segments. In recent years, the Chinese
government has expressed its concern over the potential harmful
effect of hazardous waste and also the concern over the rate of reuse
and recycle of general solid waste so as to promote efficiency in
resources utilization. In general, there are entry barriers to the solid
waste treatment sector and the hazardous treatment sector in terms
of obtaining operating permits or licenses and in terms of capital
expenditure. Hence, the Group believed that the operating permits or
licenses which the Group possesses can enhance the future revenue
base of the Group.

In view of the Group’s cashflow position, the Group is in the process
of disposing non-core assets or projects so as to further relieve the
Group from cashflow pressure. The Group has signed an agreement
with a local government in land resumption for a cash compensation
of approximately RMB1.24 billion on 28 September 2020. The Group
expected there will be similar transactions so that more cash inflow
from disposal is expected. In view of this, the Group is confident to
successfully pass through such a difficult moment.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The revenue of the Group decreased by approximately 45.1% to
approximately HKD1,153.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2018 from approximately HKD2,099.1 million for the year ended
31 December 2017. Such decrease was mainly attributable to the
following:

1) the closure of certain industrial parks operated by the Group
together with certain customers’ relocation, the Group’s revenue
generated from these industrial parks and customers decreased
by approximately HKD375.9 million as compared with last year;
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2) In response to the large-scale nationwide environmental
protection inspection during 2018, there was temporary
suspension of some of the operations of certain subsidiaries in
order to carry out rectification work and upgrade work, revenue
generated by certain subsidiaries decreased by approximately
HKD563.8 million as compared with last year;

3) Revenue from BOT construction services decreased by
approximately HKD223.0 million mainly due to the substantial
construction work being carried out for the waste-to-energy
plant located in the Guangdong Longmen Longtao Recycling
Economic and Industrial Base in 2017.

4)  the revenue of the Group’s business in the Guangxi Autonomous
Region, which started operation from late 2017, increased by
HKD208.4 million as compared with last year.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales of the Group decreased by approximately 25.8%
to approximately HKD964.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2018 from HKD1,298.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2017.
The decrease was mainly due to the closure of certain industrial
parks operated by the Group together with the temporary suspension
of some of the operations of certain subsidiaries in response to the
environmental protection inspection as mentioned above. In addition,
the costs of the Group’s BOT construction business also dropped
substantially by approximately HKD185.8 million as compared with last
year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit of the Group decreased by approximately 76.4%
to approximately HKD188.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2018 from approximately HKD800.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2017 while the gross profit margin of the Group dropped
to approximately 16.4% for the year ended 31 December 2018 from
approximately 38.1% for the year ended 31 December 2017, primarily
as a result of the factors described above. Although both revenue
and cost of sales were decreased, fixed costs such as depreciation
and amortization expenses were relatively stable, resulting in the
magnitude of reduction in cos of sales being less than the magnitude
of reduction in the revenue.
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Other income

Other income of the Group substantially decreased by approximately
84.1% to approximately HKD46.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 from approximately HKD291.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017. The decrease was mainly due to the
substantial decrease in land levelling services by HKD124.6 million
since the Company decided to slow down the development of such
type of services in view of the tight cashflow position. In addition,
value-added tax refund has been decreased by approximately
HKD88.0 million, this was a consequence of various administrative
penalty notices issued under the environmental protection inspection
which in turn affected the eligibility of claiming such tax refund.

Other net (losses)/gains

The other net losses for the year ended 31 December 2018 was
HKD139.0 million, compared with other net gains of HKD80.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017. The other net losses in 2018
mainly included penalties of approximately HKD106.3 million (2017:
approximately HKD4.7 million) which in turn was mainly attributable to
the various administrative penalty notices issued under the nationwide
environmental protection inspection in 2018. Also, the Group has
disposed a piece of land to improve the cashflow position and incurred
a loss of approximately HKD38.2 million. The other net gains in 2017
was mainly related to disposal of certain subsidiaries with gains of
approximately HKD66.4 million being recorded.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately
40.9% to approximately HKD380.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 from approximately HKD270.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017. The increase was mainly attributable
to substantial increase in legal and professional fee, office lease
expenses, contractual commitments recognized for the leasing of land
for use by certain treatment facilities and donation.
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Impairment losses

During the year ended 31 December 2018, impairment losses on
various items amounted to approximately HKD3,414.8 million (2017:
approximately HKD6.6 million). The substantial impairment losses were
mainly due to:

1) the closure of certain industrial parks operated by the
Group, together with the completion of rectification work and
upgrade work in response to the request after the large-scale
environmental protection inspection (the original assets of which
were obsolete thereon), has caused the related property, plant
and equipment to be impaired which amounted to approximately
HKD1,886.1 million;

2) the closure and termination of certain projects with goodwill
and intangible assets being recognized and the general poor
operating performance of the Group in 2018 has induced the
impairment losses on goodwill and intangible assets amounted to
approximately HKD689.9 million; and

3) impairment losses of approximately HKD273.6 million in relation
to certain amounts due from a former director and certain of his
controlled entities has been made.

Finance costs

The finance costs of the Group increased by approximately 94.2% to
approximately HKD242.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2018
from approximately HKD124.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2017. The increase was mainly attributable to the increase in loan
facility fees of HKD34.3 million, which was originally amortised over
the period of the bank loans. However, since the bank loans became
immediately due during the year, such loan facility fee has to be fully
reflected as finance costs in 2018. Besides, the Group has entered
into certain other loan agreements during the year with a relatively
higher interest rate so that the corresponding finance costs has been
increased by approximately HKD42.0 million.
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Income tax credit/(expense)

The income tax credit of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018 was approximately HKD59.2 million, compared with an income
tax expense of approximately HKD131.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2017. The first reason for the above was that the
provision of PRC income tax has been substantially decreased from
approximately HKD133.6 million in 2017 to approximately HKD19.2
million due to the downsize of the scale of operation of the Group for
reasons mentioned earlier in the Financial Review section. The second
reason was the reversal of certain temporary difference for deferred
taxation purpose amounted to approximately HKD78.4 million (2017:
reversal of approximately HKD2.1 million) arose from the impairment of
intangible assets during 2018.

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company

The loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
HKD3,872.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: profit
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately 641.6 million)
as a result of the factors described above.

EVENTS AFTER 31 DECEMBER 2018

Below are important events which occurred after 31 December 2018:

(1) On 18 December 2019, the Group entered into an equity transfer
agreement with Agile Eco pursuant to which the Company agreed
to sell the remaining 50% equity interest in Xintao Investment at
an effective consideration of RMB620,000,000. The transaction
under the above agreement was completed on 19 December
2019. Details of the above transactions were included in note 32
to the consolidated financial statements.
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On 26 March 2019, the then board of directors of the Company
resolved to withdraw the interim dividend for the six months
ended 30 June 2018 which was declared on 20 August
2018 amounted to approximately HK$60,641,000 due to the
continued volatility of the market and in order to preserve the
cash level of the Group for better working capital management
purpose. Details of the above withdrawal was disclosed in the
announcement dated 26 March 2019.

Certain subsidiaries, certain former directors and senior
management members were accused of certain criminal offences
in the PRC. Details of which are set out in note 6 and note 49 to
the consolidated financial statements

In April 2019, the Group entered into an agreement with an
independent third party which effectively reduce its equity stake
in Zhongshan Haitao Environmental Protection Technology
Company Limited from 100% to 51% at a consideration of
RMB98,000,000 in the form of equity and shareholder’s loan. The
above transaction was completed on 20 August 2020.

On 24 February 2020, one of the banks (“Bank A”) has filed a bill
of indictment to a court in Guangzhou against the Company as
borrower and its fourteen subsidiaries and Mr. Tsui as guarantor
claiming the immediate repayment of the loan with outstanding
interest and legal and other costs totalling HK$152,868,000. The
Group intended to reach a settlement agreement with Bank A.
Up to the date of this report, no settlement agreement has been
signed yet.

After the litigation initiated by Bank A, the Group has closely
communicated with other relevant banks progress of settlement
between the Group and Bank A and the progress of the disposal
of certain assets as mentioned above. Up to the date of this
report, other than Bank A, no bank has taken legal actions
against the Group.
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In 2018, the Company entered into certain loan agreements
with an independent third party pursuant to which the
Company borrowed an aggregate amount of HK$185,000,000.
Subsequently, the Company failed to repay the above loan and
the lender initiated legal actions against the Company with the
final judgment issued on 17 January 2020 in which the Company
were ordered to pay the lender.

On 20 July 2020, the lender informed the Company that if the
judgment debt were not settled by 30 September 2020, the
lender shall enforce the judgment and take further actions
including but not limited to winding up the Company and issue
a bankruptcy petition against Mr. Tsui (as a guarantor to the
loan) without further notice. Up to the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements, the Company is not aware of
any winding-up petition made against the Group and Mr. Tsui.
Please refer to note 36(a) to the financial statements for details of
the above loan and the corresponding litigation.

On 28 September 2020, the Group entered into a land
resumption agreement with a local government pursuant
to which the Group agrees to surrender certain land and
items erected on the land in return for a cash compensation
amounted to RMB1,237,884,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,381,850,000). Details of the above agreement were
disclosed in the announcements dated 30 September 2020.

Since early 2020, the Group’s operation has been affected
by quarantine measures imposed by the local government to
contain the COVID-19 outbreak. The Group has been paying
close attention to the impact of the situation on its operation and
taking all possible and reasonable measures to mitigate and limit
the impact on the Group’s operation. As the extent to which the
COVID-19 outbreak will continue is uncertain, the overall financial
effect that the COVID-19 outbreak may have on the Group’s
businesses and financial results cannot be reliably estimated as
at the date when these consolidated financial statements are
authorized for issue.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the principal liquidity and
capital requirements of the Group primarily relate to the obligations
under various bank loan agreements, construction of treatment
facilities and operation expenses.

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of the Group’s cash and
bank deposits was approximately HKD273.1 million (2017: HKD610.9
million), representing a decrease of approximately 55.3% as compared
to that as at 31 December 2017.

BANK LOANS AND GEARING

As at 31 December 2018, the total amount of bank loans of the Group
was approximately HKD2,795.1 million (2017: HKDS3,461.9 million),
in which 81.6% (2017: 77.0%) were denominated in RMB. All of the
Group’s bank borrowings carry floating interest rates. No bank facilities
were unutilised as at 31 December 2018 (2017: HKD1,679.1 million).

As at 31 December 2018, the secured bank loans amounted to
HKD2,468.0 million (2017: 2,696.0 million), and unsecured bank loans
amounted to HKD327.1 million (2017: 765.9 million).

As at 31 December 2018, covenants relating to restrictions on
controlling shareholder, the consolidated EBITDA to long-term
borrowings matured within one year and consolidated finance cost
ratio, and adjusted cash flow to consolidated debt services ratio had
been breached. Since then the Group has negotiated with each of the
banks in relation to: 1) obtain waiver for the above non-compliance;
2) extend the repayment date of certain overdue balance; 3) convince
the relevant banks not to take legal actions; 4) explore the feasibility
of providing additional securities or guarantees by subsidiaries
acceptable to the relevant banks; and 5) the progress and timing of
receipt of sales proceeds of intended disposal of certain assets of the
Group.
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Subsequently, one of the banks has taken legal action against the
Group, please refer to the section headed “Events after 31 December
2018” and note 2(d) to the consolidated financial statements for more
details.

As at 31 December 2018, the gearing ratio, as calculated by dividing
the total borrowings (net of bank and cash balance) by the total equity
of the Group, was 1,821.2% (2017: 65.1%).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND LITIGATIONS

In April 2018, Guangzhou Haitao was alleged to have commit a
number of criminal offences. Subsequently, in April 2019, the People’s
Procuratorate of Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province ( EXR & E /M
T AR®RZPR ) filed a bill of indictment against Guangzhou Haitao, the
details of which are set out in note 6(c) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Other than the above, as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December
2017, the Group had no material contingent liabilities or guarantees.

The Group has certain material litigations existed during the year
ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of the approval of
this report, details of which were set out in note 49 to the financial
statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group pledged certain of its property,
plant and machinery and lease prepayments with an aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HKD252.4 million (2017: HKD313.8
million) and pledged certain bank deposits amounted to approximately
HKD87.1 million (2017: approximately HKD92.0 million) to certain
banks to secure certain credit facilities granted to the Group. In
addition, the Group’s equity interests in major operating subsidiaries
including Guangzhou Lvyou, Guangzhou Yinglong, Guangzhou
Liangang and Zhongshan Haitao were pledged to secure bank loans
granted to the Group. Certain rights to receive service revenue were
also pledged to secure bank loans granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2018, the lease prepayments of HK$41,968,000
and property, plant and equipment of HK$349,920,000 as included in
assets of disposal group classified as held for sale were pledged for
the bank loans granted to the Group. Also, the equity interest of Xintao
Investment classified as held for sale was pledged to secure the bank
loans granted to the Group (note 35).
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

Due to the reasons and situations as disclosed in the section headed
“Business Review” and “Financial Review” sections, the Company has
incurred a comparatively low amount of capital expenditure during the
year ended 31 December 2018.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the capital expenditures of the
Group (mainly including additions to property, plant and equipment
and additions to lease prepayments) amounted to approximately
HKD912.6 million (2017: HKD1,055.6 million). These capital
expenditures were funded by bank borrowings and funds generated
from the operating activities of the Group.

Due to the reasons and situations as disclosed in the section headed
“Business Review” and “Financial Review” sections, the Company
currently does not have any plans for material investments or material
purchase of capital assets except for the Guangzhou Lvyou relocation
project. The expected fund source for the Guangzhou Lvyou relocation
project will be project financing in the form of debt and/or equity. For
details of the Guangzhou Lvyou relocation project, please refer to note
50(e) and 50(g) of financial statements.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group’s assets, borrowings and major transactions are mainly
denominated in RMB. The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
arising from receivables and bank loans that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the relevant entities.
The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily RMB and USD.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
As at 31 December 2018, approximately 80.6%, 0.0% and 19.4% of
the cash and cash equivalent held by the Group are denominated in
RMB, USD and HKD respectively (31 December 2017: 98.7%, 0.1%
and 1.2%).
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed 1,901 employees
(2017: 2,098 employees). Employee costs amounted to approximately
HKD210.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017:
approximately HKD213.3 million). The Group will endeavour to ensure
that the employees’ salary levels are in line with industry practice and
prevailing market conditions, and that employees’ remuneration is
based on their performance.

The Company has also adopted a share option scheme and a share
award scheme (“Share Award Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations and which is payable to staff based
on his or her individual performance and that of the Group as a whole.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On 29 November 2018, the Company entered into an equity transfer
agreement with Agile Eco Technology (Hong Kong) Limited (“Agile
Eco”), an independent third party, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to sell its 50% equity interests in Xintao Investment, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company which effectively owned
most of the Group’s assets in the environmental protection related
projects in the Guangxi Autonomous Region to Agile Eco at a
consideration of RMB563,000,000. The transaction under the above
agreement was completed on 8 January 2019.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2018,
the Group did not have any other material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.
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DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

The auditors of the Company expressed a disclaimer of opinion in the
independent auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the ended 31 December 2018 (the “Independent
Auditors’ Report”). As stated in the paragraph headed “Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion” in the Independent Auditors’ Report, the
auditors of the Company expressed a disclaimer of opinion after
considering the combined impact of the following: 1) opening balances
and corresponding figures; 2) multiple uncertainties relating to going
concern; 3) indictments and legal proceedings against the Group and
investigations; 4) carrying amount and impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets, contract assets, goodwill
and deferred tax liabilities; 5) amount due from a former director and
impairment on property, plant and equipment, lease prepayments
and prepayments for purchase of lease prepayments; 6) impairment
loss on payments for the acquisition of a subsidiary and transactions
and balances with an independent third party; 7) revenue, trade
receivables and impairment loss on trade receivable; 8) impairment
loss on consideration receivable from disposal of a subsidiary; and 9)
impairment of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries and amounts
due from subsidiaries.

SUSPENSION OF TRADING AND RESUMPTION GUIDANCE

At the request of the Company, trading in the shares of the Company
on the Stock Exchange has been suspended with effect from 9:00 a.m.
on 1 April 2019 and will remain suspended until further notice.
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On 24 June 2019 and 8 November 2019, the Company received
letters from the Stock Exchange setting out certain resumption
guidance, including: (a) conduct an appropriate investigation into the
Allegations, announce the findings and take appropriate remedial
actions; (b) publish all outstanding financial results and address
any audit modifications; (c) announce all material information for
the Company’s shareholders and other investors to appraise the
Company’s position; (d) demonstrate that the Company has in place
adequate internal controls and procedures to comply with the Listing
Rules; (e) demonstrate that there is no reasonable regulatory concern
about management integrity and/or the integrity of any persons
with substantial influence over the Company’s management and
operations, which will pose a risk to investors and damage market
confidence; and (f) demonstrate that all Directors meet a standard of
competence commensurate with their position as directors of a listed
issuer to fulfil duties of skill, care and diligence as required under Rules
3.08 and 3.09.

The actions taken up to 30 September 2020 to fulfil the above
resumption guidance Company were disclosed in the announcement
dated 30 September 2020. The Company will continue to work with its
professional and legal advisors to advance the resumption progress.
Fulfilment of the above resumption guidance is subject to the Stock
Exchange’s confirmation. The Company will keep the shareholders of
the Company and the public informed on the progress of fulfillment of
the above resumption guidance as and when appropriate.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Huang Qing, aged 35, is the Chairman, the Chief Executive
Officer of the Group. She is an Executive Director of the Company
appointed on 12 May 2020. Ms. Huang supervises five major
departments of the Company covering administrative and human
resources, finance, internal control and operation management,
technology and construction management and public relations.
She is mainly in charge of the administrative and human resources
department as well as the public relations department. Ms. Huang
is the spouse of Mr. Tsui, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Ms. Huang served in the Armed Services Department of General Staff
Department of Chinese People’s Liberation Army from 2002 to 2004
and served as a host of Guangdong Radio and Television Station
between 2009 to 2012 before she joined the Company in 2019. Ms.
Huang obtained a bachelor’s degree in broadcasting and hosting from
the Communication University of China in 2009, and has completed
the certificate program in Executive Master of Business Administration
from Sun Yat-sen University in 2019.
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Mr. Lam Wai Tong, aged 40, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 29 October 2020. Mr. Lam has extensive
experience in the corporate finance business management and
internal control. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Lam worked in Cinda
International Securities Limited (formerly known as Hantec Investment
Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 111) as a management trainee from
August 2005 to October 2007. He then worked in Shenyin Wanguo
Enterprises (H.K.) Limited as a corporate finance executive from
October 2007 to May 2010. From June 2010 to June 2011, Mr. Lam
worked in Partners Capital International Limited as an assistant
manager. From July 2011 to August 2012, he returned to Shenyin
Wanguo Enterprises (H.K.) Limited to work as a corporate finance
manager. From February 2013 to May 2014, Mr. Lam was the chief
operating officer of Haohai Industry (Group) Limited (G488 % (&
@)EPBRATF), a property developer in China, and was responsible
for overseeing its business operations in Hong Kong such as mergers
and acquisitions as well as human resources management and
internal control. From December 2014 to August 2016, Mr. Lam joined
True Eminent Development (Holdings) Limited (E S 2R (1K) A
FR’A7\]), a property developer in China, as the executive Director
and subsequently the chief executive officer, he was responsible for
providing oversight of the group’s investment decision, internal control,
corporate development, direct investment and finance. Since January
2017, Mr. Lam commenced his own business to provide business
consultancy services to both private and listed companies. Mr. Lam
graduated from the City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor
degree in business administration (human resources management)
in August 2004. He obtained a master degree in finance from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in August 2009. He was admitted a
member of the Institute of Public Accountants and Institute of Certified
Management Accountants (Australia) in March 2014 and July 2014
respectively. He is also a licensed representative for its Type 1 (dealing
in securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
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Mr. Li Yang, aged 49, is an Executive Director of the Company
appointed on 3 August 2020. He obtained a junior college degree
of Electronic Engineering from Shenzhen University in 1992 and his
EMBA from Shenzhen College of Economics and Management (&
YL BEEEEPT) in 2000. Mr. Li also completed a master degree
programme of the Graduate School of Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences (P EI#t 2RI 2R AFFRERT) , majoring in World Economics
in 2001. Mr. Li has over 20 years of experience in investment activities
and business management. Mr. Li serves as the deputy chairman
and an executive director of Leyou Technologies Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1089), since November 2018. He is currently also assuming senior
executive positions in several capital investment or management
companies. Mr. Li previously acted as a deputy chairman and an
executive director of China Best Group Holding Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 370),
from September 2014 to June 2018. He has also served as an
independent non-executive director of Ming Lam Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1106), from February 2017 to December 2018.

Mr. Wu Changbiao, aged 57, is an Executive Director of the Company
appointed on 31 January 2020. He worked at Xintang Finance
Office of Zengcheng City in Guangdong Province in 1980. One
year later, he established an export-oriented garment factory which
gradually became a large earner of foreign currency from export and
a large taxpayer in Zengcheng district. In 2003, Mr. Wu established
Guangzhou Longrun Textile Co., Ltd., which has more than 1,000
employees with its annual output value at about several hundred
million Renminbi. Most of its products are exported and it has become
a well-known local textile enterprise. In 2012, Mr. Wu participated in
the 17th MBA President Class in Sun Yat-sen University. Mr. Wu has
been in the industry for over 30 years and has extensive experience
in corporate management, adapting to market changes and operation
of exporting products. In 2017, he started to get involved in the
environmental protection industry and was engaged in hazardous
waste disposal and other related work. He joined Guangzhou CT
Lvyou Environmental Protection Technology Co., Ltd. in 2019, a
subsidiary of our Group, as the chairman of that subsidiary.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. He Jingyong, aged 58, is an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company appointed on 10 April 2019. He has over 34 years
of experience in corporate banking. From 1984 to 1992, he was
engaged in the fields of foreign exchange credit business, credit,
domestic and international settlement, liquidation, credit card and
international finance in Bank of China, Jiangxi Branch. From 1993 to
2006, Mr. He held various positions in Industrial and Commercial Bank
of China (“ICBC”), Zengcheng sub-branch in Guangdong Province,
of which he was appointed as the president in 2008. He was the vice
president of ICBC Guangzhou branch during 2016 to 2018. Mr. He is
a senior economist and was granted the Executive Master of Business
Administration (International) from City University of Hong Kong in
2009.

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy, aged 56, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company appointed on 3 August 2020. She obtained
a master degree of business administration from the University of
Manchester in the United Kingdom in June 2010. She is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ms. Lai has over 20 years of auditing, accounting, and
financial management experience. Ms. Lai served as an executive
director from October 2008 to May 2011, and the chairman of the
board from January 2009 to May 2011 of Mandarin Entertainment
(Holdings) Limited (now known as KEYNE LTD) (stock code: 9), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. She was
the chief financial officer and company secretary from May 2012 to
May 2016 and remains as the company secretary until 30 June 2016
of CIG Yangtze Ports PLC (now known as China Infrastructure &
Logistics Group Ltd.) (stock code: 1719), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. She is the Company Secretary of OCI
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 329), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. She is also an independent
non-executive Director of KPa-BM Holdings Limited (stock code:
2663), KNK Holdings Limited (stock code: 8039) and Zhejiang United
Investment Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 8366) and a non-
executive director of Larry Jewellery International Company Limited
(stock code: 8351).
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Mr. Fong Wai Ho, aged 40, is an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company appointed on 3 August 2020. He has over 16 years
of experience in auditing and business advisory services. He is the
founder and practitioner of UBC & Co., Certified Public Accountants
from March 2013 to present. Mr. Fong was the practicing director
of Andes Glacier CPA Limited from March 2017 to March 2020. Mr.
Fong holds a bachelor’'s degree in business administration (honours)
in accountancy and management information systems awarded by
City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Fong is a practicing Certified Public
Accountant in Hong Kong, a member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants as well as a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. He is a member of the Chartered
Professional Accountants of British Columbia and the Chartered
Professional Accountants of Canada as well as CPA Australia,
respectively. Mr. Fong is currently an independent non-executive
director of Global Sweeteners Holdings Limited (stock code: 3889),
Perennial Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 2798) and Great Wall
Belt & Road Holdings Limited (stock code: 524) respectively, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Sit Hon Wing, aged 43, was appointed as Company Secretary
on 22 September 2017. Between 2008 and 2015, Mr. Sit was one of
the management team members in the finance function, company
secretarial function and investor relations function of the Company.
Mr. Sit had worked in the audit and assurance department of
PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong and had also served as
the financial controller and/or company secretary of various listed
companies in Hong Kong, including Hao Tian Development Group
Limited (Stock code: 474), Hao Tian International Construction
Investment Group Limited (Stock code: 1341) and Sau San Tong
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 8200). Mr. Sit received a bachelor’s
degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
is a fellow member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. Sit currently serves as an executive director of Fujian Nuogi Co.,
Ltd. (Stock Code: 1353).
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in
the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2018.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintain good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Company has adopted the code
provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate
governance. The Board considers that the Company has complied
with all applicable code provisions set out in the CG Code for the year
ended 31 December 2018 save for the deviations with considered
reasons as stated in the following relevant paragraph.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board comprises four executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. The Directors who held office during the year
and up to the date of publication of this report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Huang Qing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 12 May 2020)

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai
(appointed on 3 August 2020 and
resigned on 10 November 2020)

Mr. Lam Wai Tong
(appointed on 29 October 2020)

Mr. Li Yang
(appointed on 3 August 2020)

Mr. Wu Changbiao
(appointed on 31 January 2020)

Mr. Gu Yaokun
(resigned on 24 May 2018)

Mr. Liang Qilin
(appointed on 30 November 2018 and
resigned on 11 December 2019)

Mr. Liang Zhenjie
(appointed on 8 November 2018 and
resigned on 24 January 2020)

Mr. Lu Xiaoan
(appointed on 5 November 2018 and
resigned on 18 June 2020)
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Mr. Tsui Cham To
(resigned on 8 April 2020)
Mr. Tsui Wai Kin
(appointed on 11 December 2019 and
resigned on 3 August 2020)
Mr. Xu Juwen
(resigned on 2 June 2020)
Ms. Xu Liugi
(appointed on 6 December 2019 and
resigned on 3 August 2020)
Mr. Xu Shubiao
(resigned on 28 December 2018)
Mr. Xu Zhencheng
(resigned on 8 November 2018)
Mr. Yuan Guanghua
(appointed on 20 June 2019 and
resigned on 11 February 2020)
Mr. Zhao Keyin
(appointed on 14 January 2019,
and resigned on 20 June 2019)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yang Chunlin
(appointed on 3 April 2018 and
resigned on 25 October 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. He Jingyong
(appointed on 24 January 2019 and

resigned on 28 January 2019, re-appointed on 10 April 2019)

Mr. Fong Wai Ho

(appointed on 3 August 2020)
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy

(appointed on 3 August 2020)
Mr. Chau Paul

(resigned on 14 February 2018)
Mr. Du Hequn

(resigned on 16 January 2018)
Mr. Liu Yung Chau

(resigned on 26 October 2018)
Mr. Ng Wai Kuen

(appointed on 28 January 2019 and

resigned on 3 August 2020)
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Mr. Suen To Wai
(appointed on 14 February 2018 and
resigned on 10 April 2019)

Mr. Yu Chung Leung
(appointed on 18 April 2019 and
resigned on 17 February 2020)

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu
(appointed on 16 January 2018 and
resigned on 3 August 2020)

The list of Directors has been published on the website of the
Company and the website of the Stock Exchange, and is disclosed in
all corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules from time to time.

The Board noted that following the resignation of Mr. Liu Yung Chau
on 26 October 2018, (a) the number of the independent non-executive
Directors has fallen below the minimum number required under Rules
3.10(1) of the Listing Rules; (b) the number of the members of the Audit
Committee does not meet the requirements stipulated in Rule 3.21 of
the Listing Rules; (c) the Remuneration Committee does not comprise
a majority of independent non-executive Directors as required under
Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules; and (d) the Nomination Committee is
chaired by the chairman of the Board but does not comprise a majority
of independent non-executive Directors as required by code provision
A.5.1 of the CG code. Subsequently, the Company had appointed
appropriate candidates in January 2019 to fill the above vacancies.
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The Board has a balance of skill, experience and diversity of
perspectives that are essential to and would promote the business
of the Group. The Board, with the assistance from the senior
management, forms the core management team of the Company.
The Board takes the overall responsibility for management of the
Company, formulating the business strategies and development plan
of the Company, decision making on important issues, including but
not limited to substantial mergers and acquisitions and disposals,
directors’ appointments and significant operational and financial
matters. The senior management are responsible for supervising and
executing the Board policies and strategies, including the provision
of updates of the Group’s performance to the Board to enable the
Board to deliver and discharge their duties. Daily management,
administration and operation of the Company are delegated to the
senior management of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, Mr. Tsui Cham To is the
Chairman of the Board and Mr. Lu Xiaoan is the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company with effect from 8 November (Mr. Xu Zhencheng was
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company throughout the year 2018
until his resignation on 8 November 2018). Responsibilities between
the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company are clearly divided and segregated to ensure a balance
of power and authority and to reinforce their independence and
accountability.

Each of Mr. Suen To Wai and Mr. Zhang Lu Fu as independent non-
executive director, is newly appointed in early 2018 for a term of three
years under their respective letters of appointment. All Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election at the
annual general meeting at least once every three years in accordance
with the articles of association of the Company.
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BOARD MEETINGS

Co

It is intended that the Board should meet regularly so that all Directors
are kept up to date with the business development of the Group.
Special meetings of the Board will be convened if the situation requires
so. For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board had convened
30 board meetings and 1 general meeting. The individual attendance
record of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2018 is

tabulated as follows:
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Attendance/

Total number of
general meetings

Attendance/
Total number of
board meetlngs

HERE RE
Exgel RREE
HIRE HBIRE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Tsui Cham To (Chairman) BEBEE (FFE) 28/30 1/1
Mr. Lu Xiaoan BENZRE 4/5 0/0
(Chief Executive Officer) (BEHITE)
Mr. Gu Yaokun P 3biea 0/8 0/0
(resigned on 24 May 2018) (R=ZZF—-—N\FHAZ+WHET)
Mr. Liang Qilin RS E 2/2 0/0
Mr. Liang Zhenijie RIREEEE 4/4 0/0
Mr. Xu Juwen BB EE 29/30 1/1
Mr. Xu Shubiao T%M’fﬁf'ﬁi 7/30 0/1
(resigned on 28 December 2018) (R=FE-NF+=A=+N\H
ﬁﬂ{)
Mr. Xu Zhencheng E‘F?)EESUEE 21/26 11
(resigned on 8 November 2018) (R=ZF—NE+—-—AN\BEMT)
Non-executive Directors BYkHITES
Mr. Yang Chunlin BEMEE 10/12 1/1
(appointed on 3 April 2018 and (R=—ZE-N\FNA=BHEZHE
resigned on 25 October 2018) WR=—ZF-NF+AZ+HARE)
Independent Non-executive BIYFHTES
Directors
Mr. Chau Paul BAXBRE 1/1 0/0
(resigned on 14 February 2018) (R=Z2—-—NFZ-A+IEABE)
Mr. Du Hequn HER L 0/0 0/0
(resigned on 16 January 2018) (R=ZF—NEFE—A+ BT
Mr. Liu Yung Chau fhffﬁfi"ﬁf'ﬁi 15/19 0/1
(resigned on 26 October 2018) (R=F—NF+AZ+/HEHL)
Mr. Suen To Wai 1?%1:;55& 24/28 1/1
(appointed on 14 February 2018) (R=ZFE-N\F-A+HAEZEE)
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu REREE 25/29 11

(appointed on 16 January 2018)

(R=E-NF-A+BEEM)
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, the
Company confirms that the then Directors complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December
2018.

RELATIONSHIP AMONG THE DIRECTORS

Among the members of the Board, Mr. Tsui Cham To is a cousin of
Mr. Xu Juwen. Save for the above, there is no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material relationship) between any
members of the Board throughout the year ended 31 December 2018.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, for the purpose
of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process, review risks management and internal controls
systems. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated
financial information for the year ended 31 December 2018, including
the accounting principles adopted by the Group, with the Company’s
management. The Audit Committee, together with the management,
has reviewed constantly the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, discussed auditing, internal control and
financial reporting matters and reviewed the financial results of the
Group. As of the date of publication of this report, the Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors of the Company,
namely, Mr. He Jingyong (the chairman of the Audit Committee). Mr.
Fong Wai Ho and Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
website of the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee had held three meetings during the year ended
31 December 2018 for considering the annual results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2017, interim results of the Group for the
six months ended 30 June 2018, and reviewing the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems issues regarding internal
audit. The individual attendance record of the Directors for the year
ended 31 December 2018 is tabulated as follows:
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Attendance/
Total number of
committee meetings

HERE ZEEER
HBIRE
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHITES
Mr. Suen To Wai (Chairman) BREBEEE (FF) 3/3
(appointed on 14 February 2018) (R=Z2—-NEF-_ATHAEZEE)
Mr. Chau Paul Hﬁ?ﬁf‘l’:ﬂi 0/0
(resigned on 14 February 2018) (R=Z—-N\FZATTABI)
Mr. Du Hequn (resigned on 16 January 2018) *iﬁ%ﬁif'ﬁi 0/0
(R=F—N\F—A+ABT)
Mr. Liu Yung Chau BEMELE 3/3
(resigned on 26 October 2018) (R=Z2-—NEF+A=+HHE)
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu @E%‘?’Ef‘l’:ﬂi 3/3
(appointed on 16 January 2018) (R=ZF—-NF—AB+<AEZME)
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMEEE
The primary responsibilities of the remuneration committee of AXABRHFMEZEES ([FMEEL|)MNE

the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) are to make
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure of the
Company for remuneration of all Directors and senior management,
to assess performance of executive directors and to review and
recommend to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
Director and senior management, by reference to the duties,
responsibilities, experience and qualifications of each candidate.
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In accordance with the written terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee, majority of members of the Remuneration Committee
should be Independent Non-executive Directors, and the chairman
must be an Independent Non-executive Director. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on the
Company’s website and the website of the Stock Exchange. As of the
date of publication of this report, Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (Chairman)
(Independent Non-executive Director), Mr. Fong Wai Ho (Independent
Non-executive Director) and Ms. Huang Qing (Executive Director) are
members of the Remuneration Committee. Six meeting was held by
the Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31 December
2018 to review and approve the remuneration packages of certain
executive Directors. The individual attendance record of the Directors
for the year ended 31 December 2018 is tabulated as follows:
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Attendance/

Total number of
committee meetings

HEXRE  ZE8E;
HIRE

Independent Non-executive Directors BIUFHTES

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu (Chairman) REXREE (FF) 5/5
(appointed on 16 January 2018) (R=ZF—-NF—ABt+<BEZME)

Mr. Liu Yung Chau BERmEE 3/3
(resigned on 26 October 2018) (R=ZF—NF+ A=+ HEE)

Mr. Du Hequn MEREE 0/0
(resigned on 16 January 2018) (R=F—-—NF—A+ABE)

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Tsui Cham To HwEERE 6/6

The remuneration of the Directors and members of the senior BE-ZZE—-—NE+=ZA=+-—HILtHF

management of the Group by band for the year ended 31 December
2018 is set out below:

3 '$El§$&ﬁﬁ&
AR B SI20T

S HEERENH

Number of persons

Remuneration bands (HKD) FW&R (GBT) AE
Nil to 500,000 Z£500,000 10
500,001 to 1,000,000 500,001%1,000,000 6
1,000,001 to 2,000,000 1,000,001%2,000,000 2
2,000,001 to 5,000,000 2,000,001%5,000,000 0
5,000,001 to 10,000,000 5,000,001%210,000,000 1



NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board had set up its nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) to, among others, review the structure, size and
composition of the Board to determine the policy for the nomination
of directors and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of Directors. As at the date of publication of this report,
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (Chairman) (Independent Non-executive
Director), Mr. Fong Wai Ho (Independent Non-executive Director) and
Ms. Huang Qing (Executive Director) are members of the Nomination
Committee. The Nomination Committee has also adopted a policy of
diversity for memberships of the Board which aims to achieve diversity
in the Board against a range of different perspectives, including but not
limited to professional and industry experience, skills and knowledge,
cultural and educational background. These criteria will be considered
in determining the optimum composition of the Board and when
possible should be balanced appropriately. In reviewing and assessing
the composition of the Board, the Nomination Committee will consider
all different perspectives, including the aforesaid criteria, in order to
maintain a diverse Board. And when recommending new appointment
to the Board, the Nomination Committee will consider candidates on
merit against objective criteria including the ones set out above, with
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on
the website of the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange.
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Seven meeting of the Nomination Committee was held during the
year ended 31 December 2018 to review the structure, size and
composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board.
The individual attendance record of the Directors for the year ended 31
December 2018 is tabulated as follows:

BE-Z-/\FF+-A=1+—-HLHF
E REZESRTLREBURTE
BB ABRAR (BFEREE - &
RE@mAH) -BE-Z-N\F+=A
Zt-RLEFE ESXAHESEN
FRCERAT

Attendance/
Total number of
committee meetings

HERE ZEEER
HBIRE
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHITES
Mr. Chau Paul BAXHELE 1/1
(resigned on 14 February 2018) (R=FE-NF-A+MABE)
Mr. Liu Yung Chau BRmEE 4/4
(resigned on 26 October 2018) (R=F—N\FE+AZ+HEE)
Mr. Suen To Wai BEEEE 5/5
(appointed on 14 February 2018) (R=ZF—NEFE-ATNAEZE)
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Tsui Cham To (Chairman) BREFRE (FE) 6/7

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

The Company recognizes the importance of keeping the Directors
updated with latest information of duties and obligations of a director
of a company which shares are listed on the Stock Exchange and
the general regulatory requirements and environment for such listed
company. To meet this goal, each newly appointed Director would
receive an introductory training regarding the statutory and regulatory
obligations of a director of a listed company in Hong Kong. As part of
the continuous professional development program pursuant to A.6.5
of the CG Code, the Company has also updated the directors of the
Company of any material changes in the Listing Rules and corporate
governance practices from time to time. During the year ended 31
December 2018, all directors of the Company are provided with
reading materials summarizing the duties and responsibilities in acting
as directors from time to time to keep the directors of the Company
abreast of such duties and responsibilities.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Sit Hon Wing, the company secretary appointed by the Board and
an employee of the Company, in the opinion of the Board, possesses
the necessary qualification and experience, capable of performance
of the functions of the company secretary and the Company will
provide fund for Mr. Sit to take not less than 15 hours of appropriate
professional training in each financial year as required under Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness on an
ongoing basis.

Such risk management and internal control systems are designed for
managing risks rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board
has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant authorities) of risk
management and internal control to the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee (on behalf of the Board) oversees management in the
design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems, and management has confirmed to the Audit
Committee (and the Board) on the effectiveness of these systems for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Group’s risk management framework is guided by the “Three
Lines of Defense” model. The Risk Management function co-ordinates
risk management activities and reviews significant aspects of risk
management for the Group, reports to the Audit Committee at each
regularly scheduled meeting, significant risks of the Group and the
appropriate mitigation and/or transfer of identified risks. The operating
units of the Group, as risk owners, identify, evaluate, mitigate and
monitor their own risks, and report such risk management activities to
risk management function on an annual basis. The risk management
function assesses and presents regular reports to the Audit Committee
at each regularly scheduled meeting.
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The internal control system of the Company is designed to facilitate
effective and efficient operations, to ensure reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
to identify and manage risks and to safeguard the assets of the
Company against loss or fraud. The main features of internal control
system consist of five elements including, internal environment, risk
assessment, monitoring activities, information and communication and
internal monitoring. However, any internal control system can provide
only reasonable but not absolute assurance of full protection against
material errors, losses, fraud or failure to meet its business objectives.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

For the purpose of handling and disseminating inside information in
accordance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Group has taken
various procedures and measures, including arousing the awareness to
preserve confidentiality of inside information within the Group, sending
blackout period and securities dealing restrictions notification to the
relevant directors and employees regularly, disseminating information
to specified persons on a need-to-know basis and regarding closely
to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

This section lists out the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group. This is a non-exhaustive list and there may be other risks and
uncertainties further to the principal areas of risk outlined below.
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Business development risk

Each of the Group’s projects has been or will be built to a specified
designed capacity. The utilization rate of its treatment facilities
depends on a number of factors including the size of the population,
the types of industries of its customers, the general economic
conditions and the level of industrialization in the area served by the
relevant facilities. If the facilities the Group operates are not utilized to
their designed capacity, the Group may not generate the revenue and
profit it had expected from the relevant projects, which could have a
material and adverse effect on its business, financial condition and
results of operations. It is therefore important that the Group perform
careful market research and project planning before implementing with
any investment decisions.

Credit risk

The Group may suffer from financial loss if a customer or counterparty
fails to meet the obligations under a contract. Customers requiring
a credit over certain amount must undergo an individual credit
evaluation. These evaluations are based on a customer’s records of
payment due and current ability to repay. The corporate information
and economic situation of the customer are also taken into account.

Change of regulatory environment risk

The Group’s business and operations in the PRC are subject to
the PRC government standards, rules and regulations. Change of
regulatory environment risk means the risk of failure in response to
change over government regulations, which may have a negative
impact on the Group’s business. Changes in regulatory environment
are monitored regularly in order to respond to the changes on a timely
and effective manner.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S ACKNOWLEDGEMENT ON
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the accounts
of the Company in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Board is accountable to the
shareholders for a clear and balanced assessment of the Company’s
financial position and prospects.
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The management provides all relevant information and records to the
Board, which enable it to prepare the accounts and to make above
assessments. As of the date of publication of this report, the Audit
Committee had reviewed and recommended the Board to adopt the
audited accounts for the year ended 31 December 2018. As more fully
disclosed in note 2(d) to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a loss of HK$3,883,763,000 during the year ended 31
December 2018 and, as of that date, its current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by HK$2,203,088,000.

Based on: 1) the progress of negotiation with the local government
authorities in the PRC in relation to compensations for land resumption
and compensation for expropriation of certain terminated treatment
facilities of the Group; and 2) progress of negotiation with banks and
other major creditors for allowing further extension of debt repayments
and not to initiate legal action, management believes that the Group
will be able to continue to operate as a going concern throughout the
next twelve months. The statement of the auditor of the Company on
its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is
set out in the Auditor’s Report from pages 55 to 83.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the fees payable to Crowe
(HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe”) in respect of its audit services provided
to the Group was HK$3.5 million (2017: corresponding fee to KPMG
HKD5.3 million). There is no non-audit service rendered by Crowe
during the year (2017: Nil).

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company’s shareholders’ communication policy is to maintain
transparency and provide timely information of the Group’s material
developments to shareholders and investors. General meetings
of the Company are formal channels for communication between
shareholders and the Board. The chairman of the Board is invited to
attend the general meetings to have direct communication with the
shareholders.
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Shareholders may also send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
by addressing them to the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong situated at Unit 807, 8/F, Tower 1, Cheung Sha Wan Plaza,
833 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong, for the attention of
the Company Secretary.

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meeting of the
Company may by written requisition request to the Board convene
an extraordinary general meeting. There are no provisions under the
Company’s articles of association governing shareholder’s right to put
forward proposals at general meetings. However, the shareholders
may follow the procedures as stated below to put forward proposals
in general meetings. The procedures for shareholders to convene
extraordinary general meetings and put forward proposal are as
follows:

1. The requisitionist(s) must sign a written request stating the
objects of the meeting to be convened, and deposit the same at
the principal place of business of the Company situated at Unit
807, 8/F, Tower 1, Cheung Sha Wan Plaza, 833 Cheung Sha Wan
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company
Secretary. The written request may consist of several documents
in like form, each signed by one or more requisitionist(s).

2. The Company will then verify the particulars of the requisitionist(s)
in their written request with the Company’s share registrar, and
upon confirmation from the Company’s share registrar that the
written request is in order, the Company Secretary will arrange
with the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting
by serving sufficient notice to all the registered shareholders
in accordance with all the relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements and the provisions in the articles of association of
the Company.

3. In the event that the written request has been verified as not
in order, the shareholders concerned will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, an extraordinary general meeting will
not be convened as requested.
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4. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit
of the written request proceed duly to convene an extraordinary
general meeting, the requisitionist(s) may themselves convene
an extraordinary general meeting, but any extraordinary general
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3
months from the date of deposit of the written request.

The Company continues to pursue a proactive policy of promoting
investor relations and communications by conducting analysts’
briefings, road shows, participating in investors’ conferences and
making corporate presentations during the conferences, arranging
visits to the Company and maintaining regular meetings with
institutional shareholders and analysts. The Company’s annual general
meeting provides a good opportunity for communications between the
Board and its shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company to express their view and
make enquiries on the business or operation of the Company.

The investor relations department of the Company maintains regular
communication and dialogue with shareholders, investors and
analysts. It can be accessed during normal business hour by phone
(Telephone number: (852) 2527 9777). Shareholders and investors can
also visit the Company’s website at www.chongto.com and the Stock
Exchange’s website for the Company’s announcements, circulars,
financial information, corporate governance practices, annual reports,
interim reports and other corporate information and updates of
business development and operations.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there was no change in the
constitutional documents of the Company.

The latest memorandum and articles of association of the Company
are available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the website of
the Company.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to the
financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s performance for
the year by business segments is set out in note 8 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 84. The Directors did not
recommend the payment of a final dividend (2017: a final dividend of
HKDO0.95 cents per ordinary share and special dividend of HKD1.98
cents per ordinary share).

There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year was HK$20,446,505
(2017: HK$NIl).

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of change in equity
and note 42(b) to the financial statements respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 41 to
the financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium, shares held under Share Award Scheme, accumulated
losses and capital reserve. As at 31 December 2018, there was no
reserve available for distribution (as at 31 December 2017: HKD1,347.8
million). Under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman lIslands, the share premium
of the Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to
shareholders subject to the provisions of its articles of association
and provided that immediately following the distribution or payment of
dividend the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results for the year ended and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2018 and for the previous
four financial years are set out on page 360.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
publication of this report were:

Executive Directors
Ms. Huang Qing
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (appointed on 12 May 2020)
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai (appointed on 3 August 2020
and resigned on 10 November 2020)
Mr. Lam Wai Tong (appointed on 29 October 2020)
Mr. Li Yang (appointed on 3 August 2020)
Mr. Wu Changbiao (appointed on 31 January 2020)

Mr. Gu Yaokun (resigned on 24 May 2018)

Mr. Liang Qilin (appointed on 30 November 2018 and
resigned on 11 December 2019)

Mr. Liang Zhenijie (appointed on 8 November 2018 and
resigned on 24 January 2020)
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Mr. Lu Xiaoan (appointed on 5 November 2018 and
resigned on 18 June 2020)

Mr. Tsui Cham To (resigned on 8 April 2020)

Mr. Tsui Wai Kin (appointed on 11 December 2019 and resigned
on 3 August 2020)

Mr. Xu Juwen (resigned on 2 June 2020)

Ms. Xu Liuqi (appointed on 6 December 2019 and
resigned on 3 August 2020)

Mr. Xu Shubiao (resigned on 28 December 2018)
Mr. Xu Zhencheng (resigned on 8 November 2018)

Mr. Yuan Guanghua
(appointed on 20 June 2019 and resigned on 11 February 2020)

Mr. Zhao Keyin
(appointed on 14 January 2019 and resigned on 20 June 2019)
Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yang Chunlin (@appointed on 3 April 2018 and
resigned on 25 October 2018)
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Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. He Jingyong (appointed on 24 January 2019,
resigned on 28 January 2019 and re-appointed on 10 April 2019)
Mr. Fong Wai Ho (appointed on 3 August 2020)
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (appointed on 3 August 2020)
Mr. Chau Paul (resigned on 14 February 2018)
Mr. Du Hequn (resigned on 16 January 2018)
Mr. Liu Yung Chau (resigned on 26 October 2018)

Mr. Ng Wai Kuen (appointed on 28 January 2019 and
resigned on 3 August 2020)

Mr. Suen To Wai (appointed on 14 February 2018 and
resigned on 10 April 2019)

Mr. Yu Chung Leung (appointed on 18 April 2019 and
resigned on 17 February 2020)

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu (appointed on 16 January 2018 and
resigned on 3 August 2020)

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director a confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and the Company considers such directors to be
independent.

In accordance with Article 83(3) and 84 of the Company’s articles
of association, all the Directors will retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Certain executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years, which can be terminated by not
less than one to three months’ notice in writing served by either party
on the other while certain executive Directors has not entered into any
service contract with the Company and has not been appointed for a
fixed term of service, they will hold office until the next general meeting
of the Company. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
one year to three years, which can be terminated by not less than one
to three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors has entered or has proposed to enter into any
service agreements with the Company or any other member of the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the directors’ fees are
reviewed and revised by the Board based on the recommendations
of the Remuneration Committee and with reference to the directors’
duties, responsibilities and performances and the results of the Group.

Information relating to the remuneration of directors are set out in note
14 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year except
as disclosed under the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” and note 47 to the financial statements.

FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

Report of the Directors
EEERE

EERBEN

ETHTESCRALRATIRBESE
2o AM=F THEFN-FES-H#E
HARPR-—Z=FANEEBH T UL
k- METHATESHEERQFRT L
EARSE % B B R EEERKF
B RENEHEEZEARQPIATERR
RERLE-BBYFHUTESCELLD
BRIV EER A —FZ2=F  THE
fA—rFmEas-—5HHEFTPR-ZE=EA
MEEBAT UKL

RRRHAEEEMEMKE D AHE
EHEHTEREMESI LEFNAEE
PER-FRENHEMRE CEER
ERRIN) BT T AR L 2 BRF Hh 5k o

BE_F-N\F+-A=1+T—-HLHF
E ESHIHESSRBEFMESS
MEBZRYSEZEEHE - 5F KRB
RASBEEEETRIRERT

FRESHFMNER BN B REKM T
14 o

EEZANER

BR[FERER S | —H R B mRME
ATFRI B E SN R R B EME 2 =8
BT ESENFRIAFAEABEER
TEENEEEREAED  BRAE
BxBEMSIBERNGH-

43



44

CT Environmental Group Limited Annual Report 2018

Report of the Directors
EEEWRE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior management as of
the date of publication of this report are set out on pages 18 to 22.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2018, the Directors and chief executives of the
Company and their associates had the following interests in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”), as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code:

EEREREEBHE

BEARETRHEY EERaNERE
EBzEEFBEHNE18E2H

EERIETHAERELAREME
BrEE R EERG RIEEEZE
mERE

R=B—N\F+=A=+—0 BEES
R 8 SR ([ 3 R EEHI]) $352
RATHEROBEMAR AARERE
FARABERARBRE AAT
EF FETHABRREOBEAR
AD R REAAEE (E3%RE SRS
BRI (3835 RIBEIERI)) ) EXVEN
BR1 BRI R A R
M

Approximate percentage

Total number of shareholding

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest of shares in the Company
CENNTY

EEH% 5t/ Wi E BHEH BABS

Mr. Tsui Cham To Interest of controlled corporations 3,359,604,000 (L) 53.19%

and beneficial owner®

HmEEEE RENRERRERBERAY

Mr. Lu Xiaoan Beneficial owner 134,000 (L) 0.002%

BENREE BREBA

Mr. Liang Qilin Beneficial owner 146,000 (L) 0.002%

REBEE BEREEA

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu Beneficial owner 20,000 (L) 0.0003%

REXREE BEREBA

Mr. Xu Shubiao Beneficial owner 306,000 (L) 0.005%

#hEgELE BREBA

Mr. Xu Juwen Beneficial owner 220,000 (L) 0.003%

HREXEE BEREEA

(L) denotes a long position in the shares
Notes:
(1) Mr. Tsui Cham To is deemed under the SFO to be interested in 3,359,232,000

shares of the Company held by Keen Vast Holdings Limited, and 372,000
shares directly held by himself.

L EBREROFNEE
B &E -

1 REBHFERHBEKRG BEEXE
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mEE A B #358372,0008% R 12



Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to
have any interests or short position in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which had been recorded in the
register maintained by the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO or which had been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code. At no time
during the year was the Company, or any of its holding companies,
its subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the directors and chief executives of the Company (including
their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to hold any interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or its associated corporation.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 4 September 2013. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to provide an incentive to motivate, attract and retain
eligible persons, and to encourage them to optimise their performance
efficiency, enhance the value of the Company and promote the long-
term growth of the Company. This scheme will provide the eligible
participants, including employees, consultants, executives and officers
of the Company, a personal stake in the Company to achieve its
intended purpose.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years from 4 September 2013 subject to the early termination
provisions contained in the Share Option Scheme, after which no
further options will be granted or offered but the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any subsisting options
granted prior to the expiry of the 10-year period or otherwise as may
be required in accordance with the provisions of the Share Option
Scheme.
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The maximum number of shares in respect of which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is 544,000,000, being 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue immediately after IPO on the Listing Date (i.e. 25 September
2013) which is the effective date of such scheme and representing
approximately 8.6% of the issued shares of the Company as at the
date of this annual report. An option shall be deemed to have been
granted and accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect when
the duplicate offer document constituting acceptances of the options
duly signed by the grantee, together with a remittance in favor of the
Company of HKD1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof, is
received by the Company on or before the relevant acceptance date.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to any eligible person under the Share
Option Scheme shall not in any 12-month period up to the date of
grant exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit
is subject to the issue of a circular and shareholders’ approval in
general meeting. The period within which an option may be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme will be determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised later than 10
years from the date of grant of the particular option. Under the Share
Option Scheme, the exercise price in relation to each option shall be
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, but in any event
shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date
of grant of such option, (ii) the average closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant of such option,
and (iii) the nominal value of a share on the date of grant of such
option.

No share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed, and
there was no outstanding option under the Share Option Scheme as at
31 December 2018.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

A share award scheme was adopted by the Board (the “Share Award
Scheme”) to recognize and motivate the contributions made to the
Group by its employees and to give incentives in order to retain and
attract suitable personnel for the future development of the Group.

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term
of 10 years commencing on the date of adoption. Pursuant to the
Share Award Scheme, the Board may cause to be paid a contributed
amount to the trust, which shall constitute part of the trust fund for
the purchase of Shares from the market or subscription of new shares
and other purposes set out in the scheme rules and the trust deed.
Subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Award Scheme and
the fulfillment of all vesting conditions to the vesting of the awarded
shares, the awarded shares shall be held by the trustee, being Bank of
Communications Trustee Limited, on behalf of the selected employee
until the end of each vesting period. The awarded shares will be
transferred to the selected employees at nil consideration.

The Board shall not make any further award of awarded shares which
will result in the aggregate nominal value of the Shares awarded under
the Share Award Scheme exceeding ten per cent of the issued share
capital of the Company at the time of such award. Further details of
the Share Award Scheme are set out in the announcement dated 12
November 2015. During the year, the Board did not grant any shares
under the Share Award Scheme.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, the persons (not being a Director or chief
executive of the Company) who have interests in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO or have otherwise notified to
the Company were as follows:

FTERRRBRG RERBRGOES

RZZB-NF+ZRA=1+—-H RE=
5 M B IRPI 336K R FERNE AT
BIACHEAQXAE REAQXARODH
HERDHEERENAL (LFAR
AEERERTHRAB)WT:

Approximate

Total number percentage of

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest of shares shareholding

BRREE B/ EEME % 10 48 BRESAET DL

Keen Vast Holdings Limited® Beneficial owner 3,359,232,000 (L) 53.18%

BARERBRAT EREBA

Li Sze Lim Beneficial owner 536,716,000 (L) 8.50%
BER EXEEA

(L)  denotes a long position in the shares

Note:

(1) Keen Vast Holdings Limited is controlled by Mr. Tsui Cham To.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the Directors are
not aware of any other person having an interest or short position in

shares and underlying shares of the Company representing 5% or
more of the issued share capital of the Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year, the Company did not enter into any contract in respect
of the management or administration of the entire business or any
significant business of the Group nor any such contract subsisting.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” and “Connected Transactions” in this report of the
Directors:

()  no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries subsisted
during the year or at the end of the year; and

(i)  no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries subsisted during the year
or at the end of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, an indemnity
provision was in force such that the Directors shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he/she may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty
in their respective offices. During the year ended 31 December 2018,
the Company has maintained directors and officers liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 49.6%
(2017: 56.2%) of the Group’s total cost of purchase for the year ended
31 December 2018. The largest supplier accounted for approximately
16.5% (2017: 37.0%) of the Group’s total cost of purchase for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

The Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately
11.9% (2017: 23.1%) of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended
31 December 2018. The largest customer accounted for approximately
2.8% (2017: 11.3%) of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31
December 2018.

FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

Report of the Directors
EEERE

EXEH

BREAESERE (HFEHRERZ IR[H
BRI BEEHRWEEN:

() RERARFLER BAFEARRF
FEEAEQRRRNQFHNEE
AMBLARZERRRZEZER
R -BHAEH R

(i) RERRFLER BAFEEREL
REAREEMHE R R 2 ZRRER
6 2 2% B) S E AR B B 2 B4R 1R AR
BeEREH-

EERBBEIRX

REAQTABEZRMA > —EREEMKRL
ENCBN ESERENEREHTHR
EEREL - BEZEAEASTES
MABE RN AIERE N EE 2z — 8
IREF RAQATRNEEFWEFEE -H
EE-N\E+A=+—HILEE">
ARABRCAREREERSRAERE
BEERSRAESTERE -

ITEEPRILER

BE-Z-—-N\F+=-A=+—HLHF
E AEEAEARERGEAERA
RBRANYLI96% (ZE—t5:
56.2%) - BE_ZE—N\FE+ZA=1+—
HIEFEE BRAHERGAEEAKE
BRA#16.5% (ZF—tF :37.0%) °

BE-Z-N\F+=ZA=+—HLLHF
B REBERAAREFMAEEAKELN
119% (ZE—HEHF:231%) BHEZ
E-NFE+ZA=+—HLEFEE X
EEMAEEBNZEN2.8% (ZF—t
F:11.3%)

49



50

CT Environmental Group Limited Annual Report 2018

Report of the Directors
EEEWRE

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or any shareholder (who to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had
any interest in any of the five largest suppliers or customers of the
Group.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” below, none of the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in these major
suppliers or customers at all times.

COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors had any interest in any competing business
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31
December 2018.

COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The Company has entered into a deed of non-competition dated
4 September 2013 (the “Non-competition Deed”) with Keen Vast
Holdings Limited and Mr. Tsui Cham To, both being the controlling
shareholders of the Company as at 31 December 2018 (the
“Controlling Shareholders”), and pursuant to which the Controlling
Shareholders procure its/his/her associates (other than members of
the Group) not to, engage in any business involving the development
of wastewater treatment facilities and the provision of wastewater
treatment and industrial water supply services.

The Company has received the annual confirmation from each of
the Controlling Shareholders that each of them has fully complied
with their respective obligations under the Non-Competition Deed.
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the annual
confirmation from the Controlling Shareholders relating to their
compliance with the non-competition undertaking by the Controlling
Shareholder under the Non-competition Deed and are satisfied that the
same has been complied with by the Controlling Shareholders under
the Non-competition Deed.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, certain related party
transactions were entered into by the Group which is disclosed in
note 47 to the financial statements. Certain related party transactions
constituted continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules
which are required to be disclosed in this report in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules has been complied with.

As disclosed in the announcement dated 13 February 2018,
Guangzhou Haitao Environmental Protection Technology Company
Limited (“Guangzhou Haitao”), a subsidiary of the Group, entered
into an office lease agreement (Guangzhou Haitao as the tenant) and
a licensing agreement (Guangzhou Haitao as the licensee in relation
to the naming and signage license rights of an office building) with
Guangzhou Yanchen Zhili Profession Company Limited (“Guangzhou
Yanchen”). Each of the above agreements lasted for a term of three
years commencing from 1 March 2018 to 28 February 2021. The
proposed annual cap under the office lease agreement is expected
to be no more than RMB8,833,329 while the proposed annual caps
under the licensing agreement is expected to be no more than
RMB10,800,000.

As at the date of the above agreements, Mr. Tsui Cham To, the then
Chairman and an executive Director of the Company, is deemed to
be interested in approximately 37.5% equity interest in Guangzhou
Yanchen. Guangzhou Yanchen is an associate of Mr. Tsui and is
therefore a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. The transactions contemplated under the above
agreements constitute continuing connected transactions for the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which are subject to
the reporting, annual review and announcement requirements but are
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, the amounts incurred
under the office lease agreement and under the license agreement
were approximately HK$8,710,000 million and HK$10,650,000 million
respectively.

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended 31 December 2018, the
related party transaction or continuing related party transaction as
set out in note 47 to the consolidated financial statements either did
not fall under the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing
connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules or fall
under exempted transaction pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the Listing
Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has advanced
various sums with an aggregate amount of approximately RMB517.4
million (equivalent to HK$590.5 million) to Mr. Tsui and received
repayments of RMB375.7 million (equivalent to HK430.0 million)
and has advanced various sums with an aggregate amount of
approximately RMB99.0 million (equivalent to HK$113.0 million) to a
company controlled by Mr. Tsui (collectively the “2018 Advances”) and
received repayments of approximately RMB45.7 million (equivalent to
HK$51.9 million).

Mr. Tsui was the then chairman and executive Director of the Company
while the entity controlled by Mr. Tsui is an associate of Mr. Tsui.
Therefore, both Mr. Tsui and the entity controlled by Mr. Tsui are
connected persons of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The transactions contemplated under the 2018 Advances
constitute connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules which are subject to the reporting, announcement requirements
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements.

BZ-_Z—\+-A=+—HIHF
B -RAZEHERRETRIESHFHREE
TAHE4XZ2&5ED % 4A8,710,00068 8
# 7T % 10,650,000 B8 T °

BREMFREEN BE=T-\Ft+=
A=+—-BLEEE GEaUBHRERME
ATFREBB AR Z RIFEEB LR 51T
FEMRAUFVUATIETREZ [BER
Z1BHERERS | NRELHRA
FIATORBRERRK S °

Rt
Kt

2 5

ot
BE-Z—-N\F+=-A=+—HLHF
B AEECHBREEBLBRENAR
¥517.48E T (HEMN590.5B8 & T)
MZEHIER BHERBERARKI?5.7
BET (HEMN430.0888T) T RM
BREEERHN-—BATNRFEEIAR
¥99.0BEE T (HEMK113.08EE T)
WZERE (KB \FEBK])
WINEBRHARKEATEE T (HER
51.98&®ET) °

BELEBAQRAESNEIERANTE
B MATERFNERRBR LT ENE
AR RIEEHRAE4AT 15
RERBAEEH 2ERIR/EAQTZ
BEAL -RELTRAUFI4AT . =F
—N\FRBRATHRETHNRZBAEE
R5 RABTHRH AERERBIRR
BERE -



The Company has conducted an investigation over the 2018 Advances
and found that they were made without proper authorization and
were not made for the operational use of the Group. At this stage,
the Company is considering alternative course of actions available for
the recovery of outstanding portion of the 2018 Advances. The Group
has engaged an internal control consultant to advise the Group and
is implementing controls and policies in relation to the above matter
which the Group believes can prevent similar incident from occurring in
the future.

On 14 February 2018, the Group entered into a termination agreement
(the “Termination Agreement”) with Mr. Gu Yaokun (“Mr. Gu”), a former
Director, under which the title of certain assets were transferred back
to the Group in consideration for an offsetting of part of the amount
of HK$149,338,000 due from Mr. Gu brought forward from 2017. Mr.
Gu is a Director at the time of entering into the Termination Agreement
and therefore a connected person of the Company. The Termination
Agreement therefore constitutes a connected transaction under
the Listing Rules. Details of the above transaction was disclosed in
the announcement dated 14 February 2018 and note 19(a)(ii) to the
financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company is not aware of any other connected transactions which falls
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2018.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information available to the Company, the Company
maintained adequate public float for the year ended 31 December
2018 and up to the date of this annual report.

CHANGE OF AUDITOR

KPMG has retired as the auditor of the Company with effect from
31 May 2018, being the date of the annual general meeting of the
Company held (the “2018 AGM”) and RSM Hong Kong (“RSM”) has
been appointed as the new auditor of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2018 and to hold office from the conclusion of the 2018
AGM until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company.

Subsequently, RSM has resigned as the auditors of the Company with
effect from 17 October 2019 and Crowe (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe”)
has been appointed as the new auditors of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2018 with effect from 17 October 2019 to
fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of RSM and to hold
office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited who retire. A resolution will be submitted at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited.

On behalf of the Board
Huang Qing
Chairman

8 December 2020
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A\ Crowe

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CT
Environmental Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 84 to 359, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group and as to whether the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. Because of
the significance of the matters described in the “Basis for Disclaimer
of Opinion” section of this report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

1)

Opening balances and corresponding figures

(a)

The corresponding figures disclosed in these consolidated
financial statements are based on the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017. As more fully disclosed in note 2(c) to
the consolidated financial statements, the predecessor
auditor expressed a qualified opinion on the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2017 as a result of limitation of scope. The predecessor
auditor identified that the revenue of HK$61.6 million
from the provision of sludge and solid waste treatment
services of the Group was not substantiated by sufficient
supporting documents or explanations for them to ascertain
the validity of the recorded transactions. Given these
circumstances, the predecessor auditor had not been
able to complete satisfactorily audit procedures to assess
if the revenue recognised amounting to HK$61.6 million,
the corresponding outstanding receivables amounting to
HK$72.1 million (including value-added tax), the related
value-added tax payable balance amounting to HK$10.5
million, the current tax expenses and current tax payable
balance amounting to HK$5.8 million arising from these
transactions were properly accounted for and disclosed.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
received payments of HK$44,500,000 from certain parties
not being the debtors as recorded in the books and alleged
to be in settlement of the trade receivables brought forward.
As we are unable to obtain direct confirmation or contact
the debtors or the payers and there are no alternative audit
procedures that we could perform to verify the authenticity
and validity of these transactions, we are unable to satisfy
ourselves that the related trade receivables, the related
value-added tax payable and the related income tax payable
brought forward from the previous year and the subsequent
transactions recorded in these accounts were free from
material misstatement.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

1) Opening balances and corresponding figures (Cont’d)

(b)

As more fully disclosed in item 3 of our report and notes
2(c) and 6 to the consolidated financial statements, certain
of the Group’s subsidiaries and senior management
members including the former chairman and director, Mr.
Tsui Cham To (“Mr. Tsui”), were charged by the relevant local
government authority in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) under criminal proceedings for, amongst others,
the fraudulent issuance of value-added tax invoices to
customers, the illegal disposal of sludge, the deliberate non-
performance of certain procedures when providing sludge
treatment services and environmental pollution during
the period from 2015 to 2018. The PRC courts delivered
judgments against the Group in three of the four cases in
April 2019 and in April 2020 respectively. Up to the date
of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
the judgment for the remaining case has not been made.
In this connection, the present directors were unable to
represent the reliability, completeness and accuracy of the
financial information of these subsidiaries as included in
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2017. As a result, we are unable to satisfy
ourselves as to whether any adjustment should be made to
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2017.

In 2017, the local government authorities in the PRC in
which certain of the Group’s subsidiaries were engaged
in wastewater treatment business, supply of industrial
water and the provision of heating services, promulgated
a number of new environmental protection policies which
adversely affected the subsidiaries’ operations. A significant
number of the Group’s customers moved out from the
areas where the subsidiaries’ facilities were situated in the
last quarter of 2017 and early 2018 and since then, the
subsidiaries’ business operations were seriously affected.
No provision for impairment loss on the Group’s property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill held
by these subsidiaries had been made in the year ended
31 December 2017. As a result, we are unable to satisfy
ourselves as to whether the carrying amounts of the assets
of these subsidiaries as at 31 December 2017 represent
fairly their recoverable amounts and whether any impairment
loss provision should be made.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

1)

Opening balances and corresponding figures (Cont’d)

©

As more fully disclosed in note 19(a)(iii) to the consolidated
financial statements, EREHBREEZREER QA
(“Longmen Zhongtao Recycling”) a subsidiary of the Group,
was assigned to take up the BOT contract entered into by
the Group with BEEFIBRIRIZFEEER (Longmen County
Environmental Hygiene Administration) (the “Longmen
Authority”) for the construction of a solid waste treatment
plant. Longmen Zhongtao Recycling completed the
construction in 2017 and the revenue recognised under
the BOT project for the construction services in the year
ended 31 December 2017 was HK$222,962,000. As
at 31 December 2017, the intangible assets, the gross
amounts due from customers for contract work and the
deferred tax liabilities relating to this BOT contract were
HK$640,506,000, HK$107,547,000 and HK$33,084,000,
respectively.

However, on 20 February 2019, the Group received a notice
from the Longmen Authority pursuant to which the Longmen
Authority ordered to early terminate the BOT contract.
According to the notice, amongst others, the construction
of the solid waste treatment plant was behind schedule
and certain of its facilities as constructed had quality and
safety issues and not built within the official red line of the
BOT project site and which had therefore seriously violated
the terms of the BOT contract. In this regard, the Longmen
Authority ordered to terminate the BOT contract and took
over the operation of the plant.

As we are not provided with sufficient appropriate audit
evidence for us to ascertain whether Longmen Zhongtao
Recycling had completed all the performance obligations
under the BOT contract in the previous years, we are
unable to ascertain the accuracy and appropriateness of
the amounts recognised as revenue from the construction
services in the previous years from the BOT project and
whether any impairment should be provided on the related
intangible assets and gross amounts due from customers
for contract work and the related deferred tax liabilities as at
31 December 2017.
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Opening balances and corresponding figures (Cont’d)

(d) As more fully disclosed in note 2(c) to the consolidated
financial statements, certain books and records of a
subsidiary for the current and previous years were seized by
the local government authority in June 2018 for investigation
purpose and were no longer accessible, and Mr. Tsui and
certain senior management and staff members of this and
certain other subsidiaries were either arrested in 2018 and
charged for, amongst others, the fabrication and falsification
of certain contracts and other documents or had left the
Group and were not contactable. The former directors and
certain senior management members also took managerial
role in other subsidiaries. Accordingly, the present directors
have not been able to obtain sufficient documentary
evidence and explanations to satisfy themselves regarding
the reliability, completeness and accuracy of the books and
records of these subsidiaries for the current and previous
years and whether there are any fraudulently recorded or
unrecorded transactions or liabilities for the year ended
and as at 31 December 2017. As a result, we are unable to
ascertain if the financial information of these subsidiaries
included in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year and as at 31 December 2017 are free
from material misstatements.

Under these circumstances, the present directors are unable to
represent that the comparative financial information disclosed in
these consolidated financial statements are free from errors or
omissions, or has these complied with the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards or the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

As a result, in performing our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018,
we are unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to satisfy ourselves as to whether the opening balances of
assets, liabilities and reserves as at 1 January 2018 and the
corresponding figures were free from material misstatements and
were fairly stated.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

1)

2)

Opening balances and corresponding figures (Cont’d)

Any adjustments found to be necessary in respect thereof had we
obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence would have had
a significant consequential effect on the net assets of the Group
as at 1 January 2018, and of its financial performance and cash
flows for the current and prior years, and the related disclosures
thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As more fully disclosed in note 2(d) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group incurred a loss of HK$3,883,763,000
during the year ended 31 December 2018 and, as of that
date, its current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$2,203,088,000.

(a) Other borrowings

As more fully disclosed in note 36(a) to the consolidated
financial statements, certain of the Group’s other
borrowings together with accrued interest thereon totalling
HK$197,183,000 as at 31 December 2018 were overdue.
The lender took legal actions against the Group for the
repayment of the overdue debts and obtained judgment
from the High Court of Hong Kong on 17 January 2020. On
20 July 2020, the lender informed the Company that if the
judgment debt together with interest and costs were not
settled by 30 September 2020, the lender shall enforce the
judgment and take further actions including but not limited
to winding up the Company without further notice. Up to the
date of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
no repayment was made by the Group and the lender has
not taken any action to enforce the judgment.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d) THREERZER (£

2) Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern (Cont’d) 2) EBEELEZEIHBEZE
(%)
(b) Bank loans b) RITEF

As more fully disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’s bank loans of
HK$2,795,108,000 as at 31 December 2018 were either
overdue, in default or in cross default. In 2017, Mr. Tsui
pledged his shares in the Company. This was a breach of
the terms of the bank loan agreements with Bank A in Hong
Kong. Bank A had therefore the right to demand immediate
full repayment as a result of the breach. On 10 December
2019, Bank A demanded full repayment of the outstanding
bank loans and interests. On 24 February 2020, Bank A
filed a bill of indictment with the Intermediate People’s
Court of Guangzhou (the “Guangzhou Court”) against the
Company as borrower and its fourteen subsidiaries and
Mr. Tsui as guarantor claiming the immediate repayment
of the loan with outstanding interest and legal and other
costs totalling HK$152,868,000. On 17 March 2020, the
Guangzhou Court ordered that the bank accounts and
other assets with a total carrying value of RMB137,278,000
(equivalent to HK$152,868,000) of the Company and its
fourteen subsidiaries be frozen pending the court hearing on
12 August 2020.
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Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern (Cont’d)

As more fully disclosed in note 2(d) to the consolidated financial
statements, in August 2020, the Group verbally agreed a
repayment schedule with Bank A for the repayment of all the
outstanding balances due by three installments by 30 June 2021.
After the court hearing on 12 August 2020, the court granted
one month’s period for the Company to execute a written
agreement on the repayment schedule. However, the Group was
unable to pay the first installment under the repayment schedule
by 30 September 2020. Up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, no settlement agreement has
been signed with Bank A.

The breach of the terms of the loan agreements with Bank A
caused a cross default in loans from other creditor banks. In
addition, the Group either failed to repay the loans according
to the repayment schedule or failed to meet the financial
and other covenants as stipulated in the various other bank
loan agreements. As a result, all the bank loans totalling
HK$2,795,108,000 as at 31 December 2018 became repayable
on demand.
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Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern (Cont’d)

These conditions, together with the other matters as described
in note 2(d) to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the
existence of multiple uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt over the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In order to enable the Group to meet its immediate financing
needs, the Group continues to implement a series of action
plans (the “Action Plans”) and measures which comprise,
inter alia, (i) the disposal of Xintao Investment Co. Litd and its
four subsidiaries with operations in Guangxi, the PRC, (i) the
negotiation with the Longmen County government authority for
the compensation on early termination of the BOT project in
Longmen County, (iii) the negotiation with the local government
authorities for compensation for the expropriation of various
wastewater, hazardous waste, sludge and solid waste treatment
plants operated by the Group; and (iv) negotiations with banks for
extension of due dates of the relevant debts, details of which are
set out in note 2(d) to the consolidated financial statements.
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Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern (Cont’d)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends on
the outcome of the Action Plans which are subject to multiple
uncertainties, including:

)

ii)

whether the Group is able to successfully negotiate
with the local government authorities in the PRC for the
compensations for the expropriation of various wastewater,
hazardous waste, sludge and solid waste treatment plants
operated by the Group and early termination of the BOT
project in Longmen County;

whether the Group is able to successfully negotiate with
the lender of the other borrowings and creditor banks to
allow the Group to make repayment or partial repayment
on the amounts due according to the Group’s expected
repayment priority and to further extend the repayment
schedules to the extent and in accordance with the
timetable and milestones of payments agreed or to be
agreed with the local government authorities in the PRC for
the expropriation of various wastewater, hazardous waste,
sludge and solid waste treatment plants operated by the
Group and compensations to be received on the early
termination of the BOT project in Longmen County;

whether the creditor banks will agree not to exercise their
right to demand for immediate repayment in respect of the
Group’s bank loans that had become in default or in cross
default;

whether the lender of the other borrowings will agree not to
enforce the judgement to wind up the Company; and

whether the Group is able to seek other financing resources
such as equity financing from potential investors which
in turn depends on whether the Group is able to resume
the trading of its shares on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited which is likely a condition for obtaining equity
finance from potential investors.
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Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern (Cont’d)

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned Action
Plans and measures, it might not be able to continue to operate
as a going concern, and adjustments would have to be made
to write down the carrying amount of the Group’s assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities which
might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

As more fully disclosed in note 2(d) to the consolidated financial
statements, the execution of the Action Plans and measures
taken by the Group involved multiple uncertainties. In view of the
significance of the extent of the multiple uncertainties relating
to the availability of future finance to the Group, we disclaim our
opinion in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018.

Indictments and legal proceedings against the Group and
investigations

As more fully disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements, in April 2018, the local environmental authorities
in the PRC conducted inspections on certain of the Group’s
subsidiaries and subsequently in 2019, E/NEBBRBKXEIR
A 7|] Guangzhou Haitao Environmental Protection Technology
Company Limited (“Guangzhou Haitao”), F L& BERARKAE
FR ‘A &) Zhongshan Haitao Environmental Protection Technology
Company Limited (“Zhongshan Haitao”) and & /N 2% i ff55
JHE PR A A Guangzhou Liangang Vessel Wastewater Treatment
Company Limited (“Guangzhou Liangang”) and certain senior
management members including Mr. Tsui, a former director
and former chairman, and staff members were charged for,
amongst others, fraudulent issuance of value-added tax invoices
to customers, fabrication and falsification of certain contracts
and other documents, the provision of false data for claiming
environmental subsidies, illegal disposal of sludge, discharge of
wastewater illegally, the deliberate non-performance of certain
procedures when providing sludge treatment services and
environmental pollution during the period varying from 2015 to
2018.
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Indictments and legal proceedings against the Group and
investigations (Cont’d)

Certain books and records of Guangzhou Haitao, the defendant
subsidiary, were seized by the local government authority for
the purpose of conducting an investigation and RMB75,000,000
(equivalent to HK$85,598,000) as at 31 December 2018 was paid
to the local government authority, the recoverability of which will
be subject to the outcome of the investigation and subsequent
court decision.

Judgments were delivered by the various courts on various
date for different cases ordering the relevant group entities to
pay penalties and the staff members and senior management
members were sentenced to imprisonment, with one of them let
out on probation. In one case, the subsidiary lodged an appeal
against the court’s judgment but it lost the appeal eventually.
In the case of Guangzhou Haitao, the court hearing has been
conducted. However, up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, no judgment has been made
by the relevant court.

TRRERZER (A

3)

et BREBRNEEFRR
AE(H)

WEHMBRAREMEE 2% TR
MELHCE N HBTHENE
LETHRE BR=ZE—-NF+=
B =+—H" ' AR%¥75,000,0007t
(FBE485,598,000/8 7T) 2 FHIEE
A F it 5 BUFAES  H A U E
BEBUARAELERREEZ LR R
fgo

EEERR A E BB =4
BHEER sSHBEEERX M
SR MEIRSREERKER
HAREZE Hf - AZMNEBR-R
—REMN KB D R EHIER IR
ERX L HHRL ERRAB-BR
BMEE 2 R4 ERERAEDE
TR BEZSHEESUBE/R
ERE B ABBAR R EHE
AIHR



FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont’d)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

3)

Indictments and legal proceedings against the Group and
investigations (Cont’d)

Given the above circumstances and that certain books and
records of Guangzhou Haitao for the current and previous years
were seized by the local government authority for investigation
purpose and were not accessible, and that Mr. Tsui, and certain
senior management and staff members of certain subsidiaries
were either arrested in 2018 and charged for, amongst others,
the fabrication and falsification of certain contracts and other
documents or had left the Group and were not contactable,
the present directors have not been able to obtain sufficient
documentary evidence, information and explanations to satisfy
themselves regarding the reliability, completeness and accuracy
of the books and records of these subsidiaries for the current
and previous years and whether there were any fraudulently
recorded or unrecorded transactions or liabilities for the year
ended and as at 31 December 2018. The financial information
of the above subsidiaries including, amongst others, revenue of
HK$187,562,000 and loss of HK$671,726,000 was consolidated
into the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018. The former directors and certain
senior management members also took managerial role in other
subsidiaries in the current and previous years. As a result, the
present directors were also unable to represent the completeness
and accuracy of the financial information of these other
subsidiaries.
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Indictments and legal proceedings against the Group and
investigations (Cont’d)

An independent investigation committee was formed to conduct
an investigation on the matters. Details of the investigation
findings reported to the present board of directors are set out in
note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

As we are unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
we consider necessary to assess the recoverability of the amount
of HK$85,598,000 paid to the local government authority, we
are unable to ascertain whether any impairment loss should be
provided, or whether any provisions should be made for liabilities
and costs arising from the outstanding litigations as at 31
December 2018.

There were no alternative audit procedures that we could perform
to satisfy ourselves as to the existence, completeness and
accuracy of revenue recognised and the financial information
of the above subsidiaries as consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 and
as to whether there are any fraudulently recorded or unrecorded
transactions or liabilities as at 31 December 2018.

Any adjustments found to be necessary in respect thereof had we
obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence would have had
a significant consequential effect on the financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2018 and the financial performance
and cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
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Carrying amount and impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, contract assets, goodwill and
deferred tax liabilities

As more fully disclosed in note 19, 21, 22, 27 and 40 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had property,
plant and equipment of HK$874,565,000, intangible assets
of HK$1,030,453,000, goodwill of HK$Nil, contract assets of
HK$329,492,000 and deferred tax liabilities of HK$182,250,000
as at 31 December 2018. As the Group’s business operations
were adversely affected by a number of factors including the
insufficient market demand of its services in certain locations, the
indictments and legal proceedings against the Group, the early
termination of BOT contracts by the local government in the PRC
and the expropriation of certain land and facilities, a number of
cash generating units of the Group ceased or suspended their
operations during the year ended 31 December 2018.

In determining the recoverable amount of these cash generating
units, the present directors adopted the fair value less cost
of disposal basis and made reference to the compensations
that might be received from the local government authorities.
However, up to the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, certain amount of the compensations has
not been officially confirmed and might still be subject to change.
As a result, we are unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence we consider necessary to assess the accuracy of the
recoverable amounts of these cash generating units totalling
RMB588,000,000 (equivalent to HK$671,084,000), which
have been used for the purpose of impairment assessment
on the related property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets, contract assets and goodwill with carrying amount of
HK$267,479,000, HK$313,326,000, HK$101,125,000 and HK$N:il
as at 31 December 2018 and the related impairment losses of
HK$232,793,000, HK$333,974,000, HK$Nil and HK$20,156,000
respectively charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Carrying amount and impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, contract assets, goodwill and
deferred tax liabilities (Cont’d)

As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements,
an impairment loss was made on property, plant and equipment
and lease prepayments including those assets acquired by a
subsidiary from Mr. Gu Yaokun as mentioned in item 5 below
which had no ownership certificates or had not complied
with the relevant regulations in the PRC. In previous years,
the subsidiary had been applying for ownership certificates in
respect of certain properties located in Qingyuan with a total
carrying amount as at 31 December 2017 of HK$40,410,000.
The former directors were of the opinion that the right to use
and conduct operating activities on the properties were not
affected by the fact that the Group did not have such ownership
certificates and no impairment loss was made in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017.
However, up to the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the Group was still unable to obtain such
ownership certificates. After consulting the PRC legal advisor,
the present directors considered that the possibility of obtaining
the ownership certificates was remote and penalty might be
imposed by the relevant government authority for the subsidiary
conducting operating activities on those land and properties
without ownership certificates and consequently the subsidiary
might be required to suspend such operating activities. In this
connection, the present directors have made a full impairment
loss of HK$149,970,000 on the relevant property, plant and
equipment and an impairment loss of HK$34,032,000 on lease
prepayments which had no ownership certificates or had not
complied with the relevant regulations in the PRC in the current
year.
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Carrying amount and impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, contract assets, goodwill and
deferred tax liabilities (Cont’d)

Given the above circumstances and the fact that the
compensations as estimated by the present directors were
recognised in the absence of a confirmation from the local
government authorities, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to ascertain the accuracy of
the impairment loss of HK$1,886,135,000, HK$39,485,000,
HK$521,538,000 and HK$168,390,000 made on property, plant
and equipment, lease prepayments, intangible assets and
goodwill charged and the related deferred tax of HK$78,374,000
credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2018 and the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment of HK$874,565,000, intangible
assets of 1,030,453,000, contract assets of HK$329,492,000,
goodwill of HK$NIl and deferred tax liabilities of HK$182,250,000
as at 31 December 2018.

Any adjustments that might have been found to be necessary
in respect of the above would have a significant effect on the
carrying amount of the property, plant and equipments, intangible
assets, goodwill, contract assets and deferred tax liabilities as
well as the financial position as at 31 December 2018 and the
Group’s loss for the year then ended and the related disclosure
notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Amount due from a former director of the Company, Mr. Gu
Yaokun and impairment on property, plant and equipment,
lease prepayments and prepayments for purchase of lease
prepayments

As disclosed in note 19(a)(ii) to the consolidated financial
statements, on 30 April 2014, the Group acquired 100% equity
interest of Qingyuan Lvyou from a former director, Mr. Gu Yaokun.
On the same date, Qingyuan Lvyou and Mr. Gu Yaokun entered
into an agreement (the “Original Agreement”) pursuant to which
Qingyuan Lvyou transferred the title of certain fixed assets and
land use rights (together the “Assets”) to Mr. Gu Yaokun. In
addition, Qingyuan Lvyou would purchase the Assets back when
the local government authority issued formal land and property
ownership certificates for the Assets. Pursuant to an undated
supplementary agreement, if the formal land and property
ownership certificates for the Assets were not issued by 31
December 2015, the Group would have the right to recover the
net assets value of the Assets and subsequent expenditures on
the Assets from Mr. Gu Yaokun.
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Amount due from a former director of the Company, Mr. Gu
Yaokun and impairment on property, plant and equipment,
lease prepayments and prepayments for purchase of lease
prepayments (Cont’d)

Subsequent to 31 December 2015, no formal land and property
ownership certificates for the Assets were issued by the local
government authority, nor were repayments from Mr. Gu Yaokun
made to the Group.

On 14 February 2018, the Group entered into a termination
agreement (the “Termination Agreement”) with Mr. Gu Yaokun
under which the title of the Assets were transferred back to
the Group in consideration for an offsetting of part of the
amount of HK$149,338,000 due from Mr. Gu Yaokun brought
forward from 2017. After offsetting, the Group recorded
property, plant and equipment of RMB72,105,000 (equivalent
to HK$82,293,000), lease prepayments of RMB28,760,000
(equivalent to HK$32,824,000) and prepayments for purchase of
lease prepayments and equipment of RMB26,169,000 (equivalent
to HK$29,867,000), totalling RMB127,034,000 (equivalent to
HK$144,984,000) in the books and the amount due from Mr. Gu
Yaokun was reduced by the same amount.
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Amount due from a former director of the Company, Mr. Gu
Yaokun and impairment on property, plant and equipment,
lease prepayments and prepayments for purchase of lease
prepayments (Cont’d)

On 30 October 2020, the Group obtained a legal opinion from
a PRC lawyer which stated that the Group may be able to
obtain formal legal title of the subject land use right in respect
of the Assets if the Group would purchase the subject land use
right in respect of the Assets through a public auction or other
means when the local government authority in Qingyuan should
offer the subject land use right to the public for auction, and
the Group pays the related consideration upon a successful
bidding. The PRC legal opinion also stated that the structures
built on the land which had no ownership certificates were illegal
structures and the local government authority may impose a
penalty equals to 10% of the construction costs of the illegal
structures. In addition, further actions may be taken to rectify the
illegal structures including an order for these to be demolished or
confiscated by the local government authority.

In 2017, the former directors of the Company were of the opinion
that the use of and the conduct of operating activities on the land
were not affected by the fact that the Group had not yet obtained
the relevant ownership certificates.

However, taking into consideration of the PRC legal opinion, the
present directors consider that the possibility of obtaining the
ownership certificates for these land is remote and the structures
built on the land which had no ownership certificates were illegal
structure and may be ordered to be demolished or confiscated by
the local government authority and therefore the assets without
ownership certificates should have no commercial value. Full
impairment loss on the Assets transferred to the Group and a
provision for penalty of HK$18,982,000 in respect of the illegal
structures were charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Amount due from a former director of the Company, Mr. Gu
Yaokun and impairment on property, plant and equipment,
lease prepayments and prepayments for purchase of lease
prepayments (Cont’d)

Given the above circumstances, we are unable to ascertain the
reasons for the acquisition of assets without title documents
but with illegal structure erected thereon. There are no other
satisfactory audit procedures that we could perform to satisfy
ourselves that the accounting treatment adopted to set off
the amount due from Mr. Gu Yaokun by RMB127,034,000
(equivalent to HK$144,984,000) and to recognise the same
amount as property, plant and equipment, lease prepayments
and prepayments for purchase of lease prepayments in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2018 and the impairment loss for these assets charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2018 are appropriate.

Impairment loss on payments for the acquisition of a
subsidiary and transactions and balances with EM T #HEE ¥
BEBERATE

As more fully disclosed in note 28(a) to the consolidated
financial statements, in 2015, Guangzhou Xintao entered into
an operation agreement with EMN T AEEE 7RI BER QA
(“Menghui”) pursuant to which Guangzhou Xintao was engaged
to provide wastewater treatment services and manage the
wastewater facilities of Menghui. According to the operation
agreement, Guangzhou Xintao was required to pay a security
deposit of RMB45,000,000 to Menghui and the security deposit
was subsequently increased to RMB47,045,000 as at 31
December 2018. As from May 2018, Guangzhou Xintao ceased
to provide the wastewater treatment services to Menghui. As at
31 December 2018, the security deposit paid of RMB47,045,000
(equivalent to HK$53,692,000) was recorded as other receivables
and prepayments.
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Impairment loss on payments for the acquisition of a
subsidiary and transactions and balances with B/ T #HEE

R ER QT (Cont’d)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group made
payments of RMB47,000,000 (equivalent to HK$55,615,000) for
the proposed acquisition of 100% equity interest in Menghui
from its equity owner which was an independent third party
namely BEMAE MR EFBR AT (“Guangzhou Yingzhou”).
Guangzhou Yingzhou was owned by a former employee of
two subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC and who was also a
former supervisor of an entity controlled by Mr. Tsui. The former
employee resigned from both positions in February 2017 and
in March 2017 respectively. Due to the delay in completion of
the acquisition, Guangzhou Yingzhou refunded RMB13,000,000
(equivalent to HK$15,383,000) to the Group. As at 31 December
2018, the net amount of payments for the acquisition made to
Guangzhou Yingzhou was carried at RMB34,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$38,804,000).

Based on its unaudited management accounts, the net assets of
Menghui as at 31 December 2018 was RMB465,000 (equivalent
to HK$531,000) and the current account balance with the
Group as shown in these management accounts differed
from the accounting records of the Group by RMB98,000,000
(equivalent to HK$111,847,000). The present directors are unable
to reconcile the discrepancies which cast significant doubt as
to the accuracy and reliability of the financial information and
management accounts presented by Menghui.
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Impairment loss on payments for the acquisition of a
subsidiary and transactions and balances with EM T #BEE ¥
R ER QT (Cont’d)

In 2019, the Group made further payments totalling
RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to HK$22,714,000) to Guangzhou
Yingzhou for the acquisition. On 14 October 2019, the Group
entered into an agreement to fix the consideration for the
acquisition at RMB56,150,000 (equivalent to HK$63,770,000).
Under the agreement, Guangzhou Yingzhou was to undertake a
reorganisation of Menghui to spin-off those unrelated investments
from Menghui. The balance of consideration of RMB2,150,000
(equivalent to HK$2,442,000) was paid to Guangzhou Yingzhou
in January 2020. However, Guangzhou Yingzhou was unable
to complete its reorganisation subsequently to spin-off those
unrelated investments from Menghui. As a consequence, the
acquisition was not completed.

On 30 June 2020, the Group entered into a cancellation
agreement with Guangzhou Yingzhou to cancel the acquisition.
According to the terms of the cancellation agreement,
Guangzhou Yingzhou should refund the payments of
RMB56,150,000 (equivalent to HK$63,770,000) to the Group on
or before 31 August 2020.

Notwithstanding repeated requests, up to the date of approval
of these consolidated financial statements, Guangzhou Xintao
received from Menghui a net payment of RMB1,250,000
(equivalent to HK$1,420,000) but no refund of the balance was
received from Guangzhou Yingzhou.

As the financial information presented by Menghui could not be
reconciled with those of the Group, the reliability of the financial
information of Menghui was in doubt and, taking into account
the repeated futile requests for settlement, the present directors
are of the opinion that full impairment loss on the payments
for the acquisition of Menghui of RMB34,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$40,232,000) and an impairment loss of RMB45,795,000
(equivalent to HK$54,189,000) on security deposit are necessary
and the losses were charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Impairment loss on payments for the acquisition of a
subsidiary and transactions and balances with B/ T #HEE

R ER QT (Cont’d)

Under these circumstances, we are unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence for us to ascertain the reasons
for the acquisition of a subsidiary at a significant premium
without a satisfactory due diligence, given that according to the
management accounts of Menghui, it would not have adequate
assets to justify the purchase consideration and the reasons
for making payments in advance of the completion of the
acquisition of Menghui. We were also unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the accuracy
of the impairment losses on the payments for the acquisition
of subsidiaries of HK$64,490,000 and the impairment loss on
security deposit of HK$54,189,000 as included in the impairment
loss on other receivable and prepayments of HK$144,894,000
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

Any adjustments to the impairment losses on the payments
for the acquisition of subsidiaries and the other receivable and
prepayments found to be necessary would affect the Group’s
financial position as at 31 December 2018, the Group’s financial
performance for the year then ended and the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements.
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Revenue, trade receivables and impairment loss on trade
receivables

As more fully disclosed in note 8(b) to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’s revenue included revenue of
HK$52,479,000 of two subsidiaries namely Guangzhou Kaizhou
and Guangzhou Xintao derived from the provision of wastewater
treatment plant operation services, the provision of heating
services and the electricity generation business. Guangzhou
Kaizhou and Guangzhou Xintao ceased their business operations
in the current year. A substantial portion of these revenue were
not substantiated with relevant supporting documents including
value added tax invoices while almost all of these revenue were
without subsequent settlements. These, together with other long
outstanding trade receivables brought forward from previous
years, were assessed to be impaired by the present directors and
a provision for impairment loss of RMB44,375,000 (equivalent to
HK$52,509,000) was charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Group’s revenue also included revenue of HK$282,963,000
of another subsidiary namely Guangzhou Lvyou. Guangzhou
Lvyou had trade receivable of HK$104,693,000 as at 31
December 2018. Guangzhou Lvyou recognized revenue and trade
receivables upon receiving hazardous waste from its customers
without taking into account the performance obligations under
the contracts with customers. As at 31 December 2018, certain
hazardous waste received from the customers were kept by
Guangzhou Lvyou at its plant without being processed all the
necessary treatment services. However, revenue was fully
recognized in respect of these hazardous waste for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

As there were insufficient supporting documents, the present
directors were unable to quantify the financial effect of this cut off
error and no adjustments to the revenue recognised were made
to these consolidated financial statements.

As more fully disclosed in note 2(c) to the consolidated financial
statements, trade receivables of HK$72.1 million brought
forward from the previous year from the provision of sludge
and solid waste treatment service business segment, which
were also not substantiated by relevant supporting documents,
of which HK$69.01 million were settled during the year ended
31 December 2018. However, the Group received payments of
HK$44,500,000 from certain parties not being the debtors as
recorded in the books and alleged to be in settlement of the trade
receivables brought forward. We had been unable to determine
whether any adjustments for offsetting the receipts from these
parties against the aforesaid receivables brought forward were
appropriate in the year ended and as at 31 December 2018.
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7) Revenue, trade receivables and impairment loss on trade

receivables (Cont’d)

Given the above circumstances and the matters as mentioned
in item 3 above, we are unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to ascertain the appropriateness of recognition,
completeness, existence and accuracy of the revenue of
HK$335,442,000 of the above subsidiaries and revenue of
HK$187,562,000 of the three subsidiaries as mentioned in
item 3 above totalling HK$523,004,000 as included in the total
revenue of HK$1,152,998,000 and the impairment loss on
trade receivables and contract assets of HK$161,796,000 of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 or the related
balances brought forward from 2017 and the trade receivables
of HK$104,693,000 as included in the total trade receivables of
HK$249,620,000 as at 31 December 2018.

There are no other practicable audit procedures that we could
perform to satisfy ourselves that the revenue transactions have
been properly accounted for and disclosed.

8) Impairment loss on consideration receivable from disposal of

a subsidiary

As more fully disclosed in note 12(c)(iii) to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group recorded a consideration
receivable from the disposal of a subsidiary of HK$70,059,000
and HK$4,565,000 as at 31 December 2017 and 2018
respectively. In March 2018, the Group received a settlement
of HK$22,826,000 from the purchaser. A further settlement of
HK$4,565,000 was received in 2019. Since then, no further
payments were made by the purchaser. Details of the disposal
are disclosed in note 44(b) to the consolidated financial
statements. According to the management, prior to the disposal,
the land acquired by the subsidiary from the local government
had been laid idle for more than three years without any
development and this was a breach of the original contract for the
acquisition. The purchaser encountered difficulties in obtaining
approval for the development of the land and, as a result, had to
pay a penalty imposed by the local government for the breach of
contract, namely, a delay in development which was caused by
the Group. The purchaser also incurred financial losses resulted
from the project delay. In the absence of sufficient documents,
the present directors were unable to ascertain the amount of
penalty paid and the financial losses incurred by the purchaser.
To avoid a claim from the purchaser on the above matter, the
Group did not follow up with the purchaser for settlement of
the balance of the consideration receivable. As the outstanding
balance has been overdue for a long period of time and without
any further subsequent settlements, the present directors made
an impairment loss of HK$45,198,000 on the consideration
receivable from the disposal of a subsidiary for the year ended 31

December 2018.
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FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont’d)

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Cont’d)

8)

9)

Impairment loss on consideration receivable from disposal of
a subsidiary (Cont’d)

In the absence of sufficient documents, we are unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence for us to satisfy ourselves
as to the appropriateness and the accuracy of the impairment
loss of HK$45,198,000 on the consideration receivable from the
disposal of a subsidiary charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018.

We are also unable to ascertain if any further liabilities might arise
as a result of any possible further claims from the purchaser in
respect of losses incurred as a result of the Group’s breach of the
terms of the original land acquisition contract.

Impairment of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries and
amounts due from subsidiaries

As disclosed in note 42(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2018, included in the Company’s
statement of financial position are investments in subsidiaries
of HK$493,483,000 and amounts due from subsidiaries of
HK$833,958,000. Due to the scope limitations as detailed above,
we have not been able to satisfy ourselves as to whether the
impairment provision determined by the directors against the
carrying amounts of the investments in subsidiaries and amounts
due from subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018 are fairly stated.

Any adjustments to the carrying amount of the Company’s
interest in subsidiaries found to be necessary would affect the
Company’s net assets as at 31 December 2018 and related
disclosures to the financial statements.

BARZBERE (&
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont’d)
BYZEEERE (&

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordnance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s
report. We report solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. However, because of the
matters described in the Basis of Disclaimer Opinion section of our
report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.
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FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

Independent Auditor’s Report (Cont’d)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA'’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 8 December 2020

Lam Cheung Shing
Practising Certificate Number P03552
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

— = N2
RElEK
for the year ended 31 December 2018
HE—F—/\F+=H=+—AIFE

2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt E FHExT FExT
(Restated)
€<E==¢7))
Revenue U & 8 1,152,998 2,099,098
Cost of sales SHERA (964,327) (1,298,871)
Gross profit EF 188,671 800,227
Other income Habug A 9 46,321 291,063
Other net (losses)/gains Hith (B518) W FHE 10 (138,969) 80,366
Administrative expenses THHAX (380,396) (270,026)
Impairment losses on property, plant and M- BEREZE
equipment Z B EEE 11 (1,886,135) N
Impairment losses on intangible assets mEEE2RERBE 11 (521,538) (8,325)
Impairment losses on goodwill BEZREEE 11 (168,390) =
Impairment losses on lease prepayments HEEMNREZRESE 11 (39,485) -
Impairment losses on payments for W B B BB 2 RS K
acquisition of subsidiaries ZBEEIE 28 (64,490) =
Impairment losses on amount due from FEWRIESRIE
a former director 2 BEEE 29(f) (245,300) -
Impairment losses on amounts due from FEUR BT E == H
companies controlled by a former director ZATMIEZRERE 29() (28,331) -
(Impairment losses)/reversals of BUEZRERGNEE
impairment losses on trade receivables OREEE) RERHE
and contract assets 58 27&29(b) (161,796) 1,726
Impairment losses on prepayments BEYE BERSEE
for purchase of property, plant and REERAREZEMS
equipments and lease prepayments MIEZ R EEE 12(c) (108,341) -
Impairment losses on other receivables HL{th P& U R 1R I TR A FRIE
and prepayments 2B EEE 12(c) (144,894) -
Impairment loss on consideration receivable & B A 7 EWA(E
from disposal of a subsidiary 2B EEE 12(c) (45,198) -

Impairment losses on interest in
a joint venture

R—RABEEER
2 RIESE

(925)




FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss (Cont’d)
meBRk (&)

for the year ended 31 December 2018

HE—F—\F1=A=+—ALFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B & FHERT FET
(Restated)
(F=E5)
(Loss)/profit from operations T (R, RF (3,699,196) 895,031
Finance costs Bl & R A 12(a) (242,286) (124,780)
Share of profits of associates DAEEEE N TE 2 &R 24 1,378 1,333
Share of (loss)/profit of a joint venture PE—REEDLEY
(&) &EF 25 (2,825) 362
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELAT (B51R) A (3,942,929) 771,946
Income tax credit/(expense) FREHESE, (B%) 13 59,166 (131,437)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(FER) BRI (3,883,763) 640,509
Attributable to: T &IEEA:
Owners of the Company FiN/NETEZ 2SN (3,872,815) 641,566
Non-controlling interests RS (10,948) (1,057)
(Loss)/profit for the year ER(ER),BF (3,883,763) 640,509
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(Restated)
(RRE5)
(Loss)/earnings per share BR (F5R) ER 17
Basic BN (0.62) 0.10
Diluted s (0.62) 0.10
The notes on pages 93 to 359 form part of these financial statements. FO3E359HE Z M FE B R -2 S B B Rk 2 — &b

7o
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
mEeBERkHMEEKER

for the year ended 31 December 2018

HE—F— V1 =A=+—ALFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt E FHET FET
(Restated)
(&&=75)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE) EF (3,883,763) 640,509
Other comprehensive income Hih 2 mEUk =
Items that may be reclassified to HEEEN 7 HEEEm AR -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on REBNIEBNEREZR
translating foreign operations (98,156) 296,780
Total comprehensive FREME (FHE) WS EHE
(loss)/income for the year (3,981,919) 937,289
Attributable to: LU B I B4
Owners of the Company RATREB A (3,970,930) 938,346
Non-controlling interests IR (10,989) (1,057)
Total comprehensive (loss)/ FRZE (BE) WEHHE
income for the year (3,981,919) 937,289
The notes on pages 93 to 359 form part of these financial statements. FO3E359E Z M T B -2 S B ¥Rk 2 — &b
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FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e AR R

at 31 December 2018

R=F—/\F+=H=+—H

2018 2017 2016

2N\ Bt C—B_xF

Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Miat TER TET TET

(Restated) (Restated)
(KE75) (KE75)

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BEREE 19 874,565 3,496,201 2,696,799
Lease prepayments HERAREA 20 263,992 335,443 320,823
Intangible assets B EE o1 1,030,453 1703829 1455213
Gooduwil WY 2 - 170,240 159,089
Investments in associates REERT2RE 24 9,561 8,629 6,776
Investment in a joint venture R—REEtECRE 25 = 3,790 3,193
Gross amounts due from customers for BB F SN TRTIBEHLLE
contract work i 26 - 324,715 289,778
Contract assets SHEE 27 300,048 = =
Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries ~ UEEHIE 2\ & 2 1 5 28 - - -
Deposits, other receivables and Be ,H{J@FE KRB R
prepayments BANE 29 72,168 611,521 370,723
Deferred tax assets EEHESE 40 10,244 8,584 9,376
Total non-current assets kRBDEEARE 2,561,031 6,662,952 5,311,770
Current assets REEE
Inventories BE 30 14,622 22,191 26,515
Trade and other receivables g5 &Eﬁﬂﬁi W8 29 488,489 1,826,964 1,219,601
Gross amounts due from customers EWEFANIRSELE
for contract work ) 26 - 30,938 42,990
Contract assets SHEE 27 29,444 - -
Bank and cash balances HITRBREEH 31 273,124 610,947 1,162,374
805,679 2,491,040 2,451,480
Assets of a disposal group classified ~ 2 ERFELE
as held for sale ZHEMARIZEE 32 1,705,463 = =
Total current assets REEELE 2,511,142 2,491,040 2,451,480
LIABILITIES =X
Current liabilities ﬁ@ﬁfﬁ
Trade and other payables ESREMENR 33 676,385 897,410 666,030
Contract liabilities /S'_J B 34 14,729 - -
Bank loans RITER 35 2,795,108 1,881,461 1,171,223
Other borrowings HEgg 36 212,296 - -
Deposits received for disposal of HENBARZENES
subsidiaries 37 415,342 - -
Provisions B 38 93,167 - -
Dividend payable ERRE 16 60,641 - -
Current tax iabilities MEREEE 35,150 130,423 80,287
4,302,818 2,909,294 1,917,540
Liabilities directly associated with HYBABELEEE
assets classified as held EENBzEE
for sale 32 411,412 - -
Total current liabilities aranaE 4,714,230 2,909,294 1,917,540

Net current (liabilities)/assets

nE(BE) EERE (2,203,088) (418,254) 533,940
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Cont’d)
REMBMRRK (&

at 31 December 2018

REE—/E+=A=+—H

2018 2017 2016

—2-NE _"ZT-+tF —F—RE

Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Miat TER TET TET

(Restated) (Restated)
(KE75) (KE5)

Total assets less current liabilities BEERTDEE 357,943 6,244,698 5,845,710

Non-current liabilities kRBEE

Bank loans HTEE 35 - 1,580,398 2,000,619

Provisions Bk 38 9,242 - -

Deferred income EIEWBA 39 16,313 17,613 16,592

Deferred tax liabilities EiEFEEE 40 182,250 268,114 253,978

Total non-current liabilities krBEE 207,805 1,866,125 2,271,189

NET ASSETS EERE 150,138 4,378,573 3,574,521

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners AAEEREEAEGER

of the Company

Share capital (&N 41 157,920 157,920 157,920

Other reserves Hitt s 347 4,217,793 3,405,063
158,267 4,375,713 3,562,983

Non-controlling interests FERER (8,129) 2,860 11,538

TOTAL EQUITY A 150,138 4,378,573 3,574,521

Approved by the Board of Directors on 8 December 2020 and are R-ZE-ZEFE+_FNBLEEZSHIt

signed on its behalf by: B XTHTIATRKES:
Huang Qing Li Yang
BE =
Director Director
5= B
The notes on pages 93 to 359 form part of these financial statements. FO3E359E Z M T B -2 S B ¥Rk 2 — &b
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FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to owners of the Company

MEEREER
for the year ended 31 December 2018
HE—F—/\F+=F=+—AIFE

ARAEEARENTEE
Share
held under Retained
the Share profits/ Non-
Share Share Capital Statutory Award Exchange  (Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve Scheme reserve loss) Total interests equity
EERH ROEHIE REEH/
A RBRE  EREE NEE ETHERG  ERRE  (RHEE) @y FBRER #E%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx TiEn TiEn TEn Tin TiEn TEn TEn TiEn TiEn
At 1 January 2017, R-Z-t%-A-A

as previously reported (BNEHTZR) 157920 1480788 00 197470 (0252) (59423 2158111 360452 158 3616002
Impact of prior year adjustments BAFEREZYE (W)

(note 4 d - - - - 1810 @) @) . (#1541
At 1 January 2017, as restated RZE-t5-A—A (£E5)) 157,920 1,480,788 (90) 197,470 (30,252) (357,613) 2,114,760 3,562,983 11,538 3,574,521
Profit for the year, as restated (note 4)  F &R (£E5]) (HzH4) - - - - - - 641,566 641,566 (1,057) 640,509
Other comprehensive income, A2 E ks (£85])

as restated (note 4) (fizE4) - - - - - 296,780 - 296,780 S 296,780
Total comprehensive income ERREREAE (LE5)

for the year, as restated - - - - - 296,780 641,566 938,346 (1,057) 937,289
Equity contribution by shareholders ~ RRERME# & (Hi47(0))

(note 47(8) - - 12563 - . - - 12563 - 12563
Contribution from non-controlling FRRERZHE

interests - - - - - - - - 766 766
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 44) HERBLR (M) - - 6,887 - - - - 6,887 (8,387) (1,500)
Shares purchased under the RERGEETHRERD

Share Award Scherme (note 43) (M3t43) - - - - 800 - - 36009 - (36,00
Equity-settled share-based payment ~ WEHEENRHZHR S

transactions - (4,587) - - 13,643 - - 9,056 - 9,056
Transfer to statutory reserve BRATRE - - - 51,424 - = (51,424) S = =
Dividends declared in respect of RBEFECERNRE

previous years (note 16) (fzH16) - (118,117) - - - - - (118,117) - (118,117)
At 31 December 2017, asrestated ~ RZZ—-tE+-F=1-H

(&&7) 157,920 1,358,084 19,360 248,894 (52,614) (60,833) 2,704,902 4,375,713 2,860 4,378,573
At 1 January 2018, as previously R=B-NE-F-H

reported (AMEAFZR) 157,920 1,358,084 19,360 248,894 (52,614) (58,327) 2,789,167 4,462,484 2,860 4,465,344
Impact of prior year adjustments EEREZYE (W)

(note 4 . = = . . (@506 (84265  (@6771) - @)
1 January 2018, as restated RZE-\§-A—H (LE5]) 157,920 1,358,084 19,360 248,894 (52,614) (60,833) 2,704,902 4,375,713 2,860 4,378,573
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - (3872815 (3,872,815 (10,948)  (3,883,763)
Other comprehensive loss Hth2EEE - - - - - (98,115) - (98,115) 1) (98,156)
Total comprehensive loss for the year  FR2EFEAE - - - - - (98,115  (3,872,815)  (3,970,930) (10,989)  (3,981,919)
Transfer to statutory reserve EZLTRE - - - 3,008 - - (3,003) - - -
Shares purchased under RERGERTHRERD

the Share Award Scheme (note 43)  (Hi&H43) - - - - (1,529) - - (1,523) - (1,523)
Dividends declared in respect of FBAEECSROKE

previous years (note 16) (HizE16) - (184,352) - - - - - (184,352) - (184,352)
Dividend declared inrespect of the ~ HAFEEERNRE

current year (note 16) (FzH16) - (60,641) - - - - - (60,641) - (60,641)
31 December 2018 2-N\§+zA=t-A 157920 1,113,091 19360 251897 (54137  (158.049)  (1,170916) 158267 8129 150,138

The notes on pages 93 to 359 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERERER
for the year ended 31 December 2018
HE—F—/\F+=H=+—AIFE

2018 2017
=E2-\F —E—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt & FHEx FHET
(Restated)
(&)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REXBAERERE
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax BELAT (BB OEF (3,942,929) 771,946
Adjustments for: AT RIE:
Finance costs & RN 12(a) 242,286 124,780
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss BN (E58) 8 42,150 32,809
Interest income FE U A 9 (13,647) (11,627)
Share of profits of associates DT 2 T 2 %A (1,378) (1,333)
Share of loss/(profit) of a joint venture MME—REELEN
EE Cadl) 2,825 (362)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AT Z WS 10 - (66,408)
Depreciation e 19 233,440 199,673
Amortisation of lease prepayments HETEN RIS 20 9,221 8,709
Amortisation of intangible assets BB EHE 21 90,627 63,914
Impairment losses on amount due from a FEW AT E B 7R IR
former director ZREEE 29(f) 245,300 -
Impairment losses on amounts due JELBZHIJ EEEH
from companies controlled by a ZATRIEZ
former director ﬁﬁﬁﬁé 29(g) 28,331 -
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment EWE ZHER
losses) on trade receivables and B ﬁEZ
contract assets WEEE
CREFBEE)  27829(b) 161,796 (1,726)
Impairment losses on other receivables H W RIE R AN
and prepayments RIENBEEE 12(c)(i) 144,894 -
Impairment losses on prepayments BEYX BMERXE
for purchase of property, plant and WIENREREE
equipment and lease prepayments FEARIERRERBE 120 108,341 -
Impairment loss on consideration HEME A A
receivable from disposal of a HEWREREBEEE
subsidiary 12(c)(iii) 45,198 -
Impairment losses on payments for W B B B8 D Bl RR
acquisition of subsidiaries 2B BB 28 64,490 -
Impairment losses on interest in a joint R—REGELX2
venture =2 REEIE 925 -
Impairment losses on intangible assets B EEREERE 11 521,538 8,325
Impairment losses on goodwill EmEZREEE 11 168,390 -
Loss/(gain) on disposals of property, HEXE MERXE
plant and equipment ZEB (k&) 10 1,390 (26)
Write down of inventories 17 & MR - 463
Impairment losses on property, plant and WE - BEREZE
equipment fZﬁﬁE??% 11 1,886,135 -
Impairment losses on lease prepayments HEFENRK
mEJEﬂa 11 39,485 -
Loss on disposal of lease prepayments HERERGTRIEZ
518 10 38,190 -
Equity-settled share-based payments URREENRMOMAR 43 - 9,056
Deemed rental charges RIEHEER 47(b) - 12,563




FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Cont’d)
MERERER (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018

HE=F—/\F A= +—AILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B &E FHEx FET
(Restated)
(&)
Operating profit before working EEESREEF
capital changes 2 & & Al 116,998 1,150,756
Decrease in inventories FERD 3,357 4,576
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other B 5 R HEMEWFRIE
receivables A (3Bh0) 168,754 (482,340)
Decrease in contract assets SHNEERD 9,036 424
Decrease in contract liabilities EHEERD (20,764) =
Increase in deferred income I 3 Y A 32 A0 7,328 1,021
Increase in provisions BEIE M 106,207 -
Increase in trade and other payables B RHEMEANRE
20 338,179 50,306
Cash generated from operations REELBMBRE 729,095 724,743
Income tax paid Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ*ﬂ (71,088) (90,548)
Net cash generated from KRETEMBREFHE
operating activities 658,007 634,195
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZTHFERERE
ACTIVITIES
Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries g1 NI R DB 28 (64,490) -
Prepayment of acquisition deposits W BE 1R & A TR IE - (4,187)
Refund of acquisition deposits W B iR IR 35,889 27,949
Payment for purchase of lease prepayments & 0 & 78 1% 7018 LA &
and property, plant and equipment - -BMEREZHEZ
e (324,107) (1,113,246)
Payment for construction costs ERIE R A (45,725) (130,327)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE -ME
plant and equipment REBEMEBHRIE 332 273
Proceeds from disposals of HEHRERNIREZ
lease prepayments P8 FRIE 139,844 -
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank EEHIRITIFR
deposits B (1) 838 (85,462)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMBR A
P8 2RIE 12(c)i) 22,826 -
Deposits received for disposal of HEMB AR ZzEWZRE
subsidiaries 37 400,000 -
Advance to a former director BT AIESWER 29(f) (590,533) -
Repayments from a former director REAESHEN 29(f) 430,008 —
Net cash inflow from disposal HEMELQRME
of subsidiaries ZEERANFHE 44 - 44,730
Advance to companies controlled BATEEES 2 QX B
by a former director 29(g) (113,012) -
Repayment from companies controlled RMESESZARER
by a former director 29(g) 51,972 -
Advance to related parties 8T EAEE 5 RV EARK (12,743) (42,962)
Repayment from related parties REBEEHHER - 37,500
Finance income received SN ON 13,647 8,219
Advance to third parties BTE=RWNER - (104,093)
Repayment from third parties REFE=HFHER - 231,764
Net cash used in investing activities BRETEMARSFR (55,254) (1,129,842)
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RERERER (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE—F—)\Ft=A=1—HILFE

2018 2017
=E2-\F —E—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt & FHEx FHET
(Restated)
(RRE5)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBHRIESRERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from new bank loans iR 1T BT S FIE 537,207 1,927,411
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (1,081,920) (1,789,285)
Proceeds from other borrowings HERAERIE 36 200,113 =
Advance from a non-controlling shareholder & B — & 3£ % AR SE B 39,946 -
Payment for purchase of shares under ?ﬁﬁ%?—iﬂﬁfﬁﬁ@ﬁ*%ﬂ BT
Share Award Scheme B8 2 A3 K 43 (1,523) (36,005)
Contribution from non-controlling interests ~ JEIERER 2 HE - 766
Advance from a third party ®E— 1/’:7' E=ZFERK - 287,451
Repayment to a third party M—RBE=FEX - (287,674)
Interests paid ENFE (184,950) (126,088)
Loan facility fees paid ENERREEHR - (8,623)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders B AR D A S
of the Company BEEARMSRE 16 (184,352) (118,117)
Net cash used in financing activities RMEEBFAREFE (675,479) (150,164)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERBASEEBURD
CASH EQUIVALENTS B (72,726) (645,811)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R—B—HHWEREE
1 JANUARY FREEEY 518,960 1,155,849
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNEERSETE (23,236) 8,922
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R+=-—A=+—H
31 DECEMBER HNESRESEEY 422,998 518,960
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH HERBREEBYNDWN
EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances RITRBESEE 31 186,034 518,960
Bank and cash balances included in a D *E?%T-M’HHE
disposal group classified as held for sale ZHEAE 2T
PN -3 32 236,964 -
422,998 518,960
The notes on pages 93 to 359 form part of these financial statements. FO3E359E Z M T B -2 S B ¥Rk 2 — &b
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

CT Environmental Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability. The
address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The addresses of its principal places of business in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Hong Kong are 20/
F., World Trade Centre, 148 Xingang East Road, Haizhu District,
Guangzhou, the PRC and Unit 807, 8/F., Tower 1, Cheung Sha
Wan Plaza, 833 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong
respectively. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the present directors of the Company, Keen Vast
Holdings Limited (“Keen Vast”), a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), is the ultimate holding company
and Mr. Tsui Cham To (“Mr. Tsui”), a former director and former
chairman of the Company, is the ultimate controlling party of the
Company as at 31 December 2018.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange.

e M RRME

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE=F—/\F+=A=+—HILFE
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A | o H 5 ¥ 35 55 #h 31k 5 Cricket
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2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands e AR E A R #
ME (PR REBNEEE X
b B 89 b 1k 53 Bl A P B B N OB ER
EH B RE1483IRIRE 5 P 0:20
BREBNERDEBESRBERY
& E 5181818807 E - A A A IR 17
REBEESRXSZMBERLE ([HB
Frl)EMmEM-

ARARBH-—BREZRDF - HM
BLRANEREBHANGESMBR
RMEE2S o
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mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE—F—)\Ft=A=1—HILFE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(b)

(c)

Suspension of trading in shares of the Company

At the request of the Company, trading in the shares of the
Company has been suspended since 1 April 2019 as the
Company was unable to publish annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2018 by 31 March 2019.

Comparative information

The corresponding figures disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements are based on the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2017. The predecessor auditor expressed a qualified
audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017 as a result of
limitation of scope. The predecessor auditor identified
that the revenue amounting to HK$61.6 million from the
provision of sludge and solid waste treatment services of
the Group was not substantiated by sufficient supporting
documents or explanations for them to ascertain the
validity of the recorded transactions. Given these
circumstances, the predecessor auditor had not been
able to complete satisfactorily audit procedures to assess
if the revenue recognised amounting to HK$61.6 million,
the corresponding outstanding receivables amounting to
HK$72.1 million (including value-added tax), the related
value-added tax payable balance amounting to HK$10.5
million, the current tax expenses and current tax payable
balance amounting to HK$5.8 million arising from these
transactions were properly accounted for and disclosed.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(c)

Comparative information (Cont’d)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the related
outstanding receivables of HK$69,014,000, value-added
tax payables and income tax payables were settled.
However, the Group received payments of HK$44,500,000
from certain parties not being the debtors as recorded
in the books and alleged to be in settlement of the trade
receivables brought forward.

Certain of the Group’s subsidiaries and senior management
members including the former chairman and director,
Mr. Tsui were charged by the relevant local government
authority in the PRC under criminal proceedings for,
amongst others, the fraudulent issuance of value-added
tax invoices to customers, the illegal disposal of sludge,
the deliberate non-performance of certain procedures when
providing sludge treatment services and environmental
pollution during the period from 2015 to 2018, the details
of which are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements. The PRC courts delivered judgments against
the Group in three of the four cases in April 2019 and in
April 2020 respectively. Up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, the judgment for the
remaining case has not been made. In this connection, the
present directors were unable to represent the reliability,
completeness and accuracy of the financial information of
these subsidiaries as included in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2017.

In 2017, the local government authorities in the PRC in
which certain of the Group’s subsidiaries were engaged
in wastewater treatment business, supply of industrial
water and the provision of heating services, promulgated
a number of new environmental protection policies which
adversely affected the subsidiaries’ operations. A significant
number of the Group’s customers moved out from the
areas where the subsidiaries’ facilities were situated in the
last quarter of 2017 and early 2018 and since then, the
subsidiaries’ business operations were seriously affected.
No provision for impairment loss on the Group’s property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill held
by these subsidiaries had been made in the year ended 31
December 2017.

e MBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE=F—/\F+=A=+—HILFE
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mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE—F—)\Ft=A=1—HILFE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(c)

Comparative information (Cont’d)

Certain books and records of a subsidiary for the current
and previous years were seized by the local government
authority in June 2018 for investigation purpose and were
no longer accessible, and Mr. Tsui and certain senior
management and staff members of this and certain other
subsidiaries were either arrested in 2018 and charged for,
amongst others, the fabrication and falsification of certain
contracts and other documents or had left the Group and
were not contactable. The former directors and certain
senior management members also took managerial role in
other subsidiaries. Accordingly, the present directors have
not been able to obtain sufficient documentary evidence
and explanations to satisfy themselves regarding the
reliability, completeness and accuracy of the books and
records of these subsidiaries for the current and previous
years and whether there are any fraudulently recorded or
unrecorded transactions or liabilities for the year ended and
as at 31 December 2017.

Under these circumstances, the present directors are unable
to represent that the comparative financial information
disclosed in these consolidated financial statements are free
from errors or omissions, or has these complied with the
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards or the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The comparative financial information has not been adjusted
on a basis consistent with that of the current year and
therefore may not be comparable and any adjustments to
the opening balances as at 1 January 2018 would have
significant consequential effect on the financial performance
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 and
the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(d)

Going concern

The Group incurred a loss of HK$3,883,763,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2018 and, as of that date,
its current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$2,203,088,000.

As disclosed in note 36(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, certain of the Group’s other borrowings
together with accrued interest thereon totalling
HK$197,183,000 as at 31 December 2018 were overdue.
The lender took legal actions against the Group for the
repayment of the overdue debts and obtained judgment
from the High Court of Hong Kong on 17 January 2020. On
20 July 2020, the lender informed the Company that if the
judgement debt together with interest and costs were not
settled by 30 September 2020, the lender shall enforce the
judgement and take further actions including but not limited
to winding up the Company without further notice. Up to the
date of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
no repayment was made by the Group and the lender did
not enforce the judgment.

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2018
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2. WEEEH)

(d)

%:I:—v )\E'i’ A= +—
BLtFE AEBELEFE
3,883,763,000/& ;t - M & £
ZH HRBEEBHERE
& E2,203,088,0005% 7T °

AN 4R S B 3% 3R 3 MY 5E36(a)
FEE AEER=-Z—N
F+ZA=+—HZEZTH
HEEEREENAESH
197,183,000 st A B Hi -
B HEAEERBUEETE
DEEBHER TR ===
ZE-A+tBEEBSEBESSE
ERWHR R_B_FF L
A=-+RH BERFHNEERAT:
M RERERFERAEE

ER-ZZEZZEFEAA=TAHA
BIE - AIE G SR EIETHIR
RERBGE—Z1TE (BFEET

[SEEAH—IZIK/A\—J 5R) mMTE

SITRHA -BEEZZEREUH
iﬁi’%Z?tt)’EEl/Hﬁ AEELE
PEHERR > & 75 I 8 08 ) 0
THR

97



98

CT Environmental Group Limited Annual Report 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE—F—)\Ft=A=1—HILFE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(d)

Going concern (Cont’d)

As disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s bank loans of HK$2,795,108,000
as at 31 December 2018 were either overdue, in default
or in cross default. In 2017, Mr. Tsui pledged his shares in
the Company. This was a breach of the terms of the loan
agreement with Bank A in Hong Kong. Bank A had therefore
the right to demand full repayment as a result of the breach.
On 10 December 2019, Bank A demanded full repayment
of the bank loans and interests. On 24 February 2020, Bank
A filed a bill of indictment with the Intermediate People’s
Court of Guangzhou (the “Guangzhou Court”), against the
Company as borrower and its fourteen subsidiaries and
Mr. Tsui as guarantor claiming the immediate repayment
of the loan with outstanding interest and legal and other
costs totalling HK$152,868,000. On 17 March 2020, the
Guangzhou Court ordered that the bank accounts and
other assets with a total carrying value of RMB137,278,000
(equivalent to HK$152,868,000) of the Company and its
fourteen subsidiaries be frozen pending the court hearing on
12 August 2020.

The breach of the terms of the loan agreements with Bank
A caused a cross default in loans from other creditor banks.
In addition, the Group either failed to repay the loans
according to the repayment schedule or failed to meet the
financial and other covenants as stipulated in the various
other bank loan agreements. As a result, all the bank
loans totalling HK$2,795,108,000 as at 31 December 2018
became repayable on demand.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(d)

Going concern (Cont’d)

These conditions, together with the other matters as
described in note 2(d) to the consolidated financial
statements, indicate the existence of multiple uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

In order to enable the Group to meet its immediate financing
needs, the Group continues to implement a series of action
plans (the “Action Plans”) and measures which comprise,
inter alia, (i) the disposal of Xintao Investment Co. Ltd and
its four subsidiaries with operations in Guangxi, the PRC,
(i) the negotiation with the Longmen County government
authority for the compensation on early termination of the
BOT project in Longmen County, (iiij the negotiation with
the local government authorities for compensation for the
expropriation of various wastewater, hazardous waste,
sludge and solid waste treatment plants operated by the
Group; and (iv) negotiations with potential investors and
banks for alternative equity financing, refinancing and/
or extension of due dates of the relevant debts, details of
which are set out below:

° On 29 November 2018, the Group entered into
a transfer agreement to dispose of the 50%
equity interest in Xintao Investment Co., Ltd. for
RMB563,000,000 (equivalent to HK$640,469,000).
On 18 December 2019, the Group entered into
another agreement with the same party to dispose
of the remaining 50% equity interest in Xintao
Investment Co., Ltd for RMB620,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$705,312,000). The first and the second
disposals were completed on 3 January 2019 and on
19 December 2019 respectively and the details of the
disposals were set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements. The disposal proceeds have been
applied, amongst others, to reduce the outstanding
bank loans of the Group.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE—F—)\Ft=A=1—HILFE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(d)

Going concern (Cont’d)

On 25 April 2019, the Group entered into an agreement
with an independent third party pursuant to which the
independent party agreed to inject RMB98,000,000
(equivalent to HK$111,847,000 as at 31 December
2018) into Zhongshan Haitao in form of equity and
shareholder’s loan which was to be accounted for as
a deemed disposal of part of the Group’s interest in
the equity Zhongshan Haitao. The deemed disposal
was completed on 20 August 2020 and the details of
which are disclosed in note 50(d) to the consolidated
financial statements.

On 22 November 2019, the Group entered into a
supplementary agreement with the Longmen County
government authority pursuant to which both parties
agreed that the compensation for the early termination
of the BOT project in Longmen County shall be
based on a valuation report issued by a professional
valuer recognized by both parties. Up to the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements,
the valuation was still in progress. On 24 April
2020, the Group received the first installment of the
compensation payment of RMB65,800,000 (equivalent
to HK$73,453,000) from the local government. The
present directors expected that the total compensation
for the early termination would not be less than
RMB329,000,000 (equivalent to HK$375,488,000 as at
31 December 2018).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e MWK (&)

for the year ended 31 December 2018

HE—F—\F1=A=+—ALFE

repayment schedule with Bank A pursuant to which
Bank A agreed not to demand for the immediate
repayment of the two outstanding bank loans of
HK$208,585,000, accrued interest of HK$7,826,000
(calculated up to 15 May 2020) and legal expenses
of HK$2,800,000 and allow the Group to repay all the
outstanding balances by three installments by 30 June
2021. After the court hearing on 12 August 2020, the
court granted one month’s period for the Company
to execute a written agreement on the repayment
schedule. However, the Group was unable to pay the
first installment under the repayment schedule by 30
September 2020. Up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, no settlement
agreement has been signed with Bank A.
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(d)

Going concern (Cont’d)

The management has been in active discussion with
the local government authorities for reaching an
agreement on the compensation for the expropriation
of the land held by of Guangzhou Lvyou, Guangzhou
Yinglong and Guangzhou Liangang. On 28
September 2020, Guangzhou Lvyou entered into a
compensation agreement with the local government
authority for the expropriation of the land held by
Guangzhou Lvyou pursuant to which a total cash
compensation of RMB1,237,884,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,381,850,000) will be paid to Guangzhou Lvyou
by four installments, the details of which are set out
in note 50(e) to the consolidated financial statements.
Based on the negotiations with the local government
authorities, the present directors estimated that the
compensation for the expropriation of land held by
Guangzhou Yinglong and Guangzhou Liangang would
be approximately RMB259,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$289,122,000) and not less than RMB541,000,000
(equivalent to HK$603,918,000) respectively, totalling
RMB800,000,000 (equivalent to HK$893,040,000).

In November 2020, Guangzhou Lvyou received the
first payment of compensation of RMB247,577,000
(equivalent to HK$276,370,000). The present directors
expected that the first installment of RMB160,000,000
(equivalent to HK$178,608,000), representing 20% of
the total compensation for Guangzhou Yinglong and
Guangzhou Liangang will be received by the end of the
first quarter 2021 and the balance of the compensation
will be received within the next two years. The present
directors planned to use the compensation to reduce
the bank and other borrowings and towards the first
repayment installment to Bank A and partial repayment
of other bank loans and other borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
REMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018

HE—F—\F1=A=+—ALFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d) 2. mWEE(H)
(d) Going concern (Cont’d) (d) HERE (F)
e Notwithstanding the breach of the loan covenants s REEREREHERIE
and default in certain repayments, the creditor banks RETFEF HEERR

did not take hostile actions against the Group since
2018 and permitted the Group to make repayments
of the outstanding bank loans orderly as and when
funds were available. The management has been
in active discussions with the creditor banks and
updated them with the financial position of the Group
and the progress on the Action Plans. The Group has
successfully negotiated with Bank A for a repayment
schedule in August 2020. Based on the discussion
with the major creditor Bank E as disclosed in note 35
to the consolidated financial statements and the fact
that the estimated market value of the securities held
by Bank E was sufficient to cover its risk exposure, the
present directors believe that Bank E will not demand
for immediate repayment of the outstanding bank
loans in the immediate future.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(d)

Going concern (Cont’d)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends
on the outcome of the Action Plans which are subject to
multiple uncertainties, including:

i)

ii)

whether the Group is able to successfully negotiate
with the local government authorities in the PRC for
the compensations for the expropriation of various
wastewater, hazardous waste, sludge and solid waste
treatment plants operated by the Group and early
termination of the BOT project in Longmen County;

whether the Group is able to successfully negotiate
with the lender of the other borrowings and creditor
banks to allow the Group to make repayment or
partial repayment on the amounts due according
to the Group’s expected repayment priority and
to further extend the repayment schedules to the
extent and in accordance with the timetable and
milestones of payments agreed or to be agreed with
the local government authorities in the PRC for the
expropriation of various wastewater, hazardous waste,
sludge and solid waste treatment plants operated
by the Group and compensations to be received on
the early termination of the BOT project in Longmen
County;

whether the creditor banks will agree not to exercise
their right to demand for immediate repayment in
respect of the Group’s bank loans that had become in
default or in cross default;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’d)

(d)

Going concern (Cont’d)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends
on the outcome of the Action Plans which are subject to
multiple uncertainties, including: (Cont’d)

iv)  whether the lender of the other borrowings will agree
not to enforce the judgement to wind up the Company;
and

v) whether the Group is able to seek other financing
resources such as equity financing from potential
investors which in turn depends on whether the Group
is able to resume the trading of its shares on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited which is likely
a condition for obtaining equity finance from potential
investors.

Taking into account the Group’s cash flow projections
prepared by the management, and assuming the successful
implementation of the above measures, the present
directors consider that the Group would be able to finance
its operations and to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due within the next 12 months from the date
of approval of these consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned
Action Plans and measures, it might not be able to continue
to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying amount of the
Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
any further liabilities which might arise and to re-classify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities respectively. The effects
of these adjustments have not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

e MBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE=F—/\F+=A=+—HILFE

2. WEEEH)

(d)

RREEE (#)

REMBHRRIDEFECER
EimE - HAMMEEURRITE
SFEINER 2 Z IR
BREFREE B (F)

V) HEENERARS
ICE TN LR
RAFEELR R

V) AEKEBERBREAGERE
REESRHEMMESE
R MR ARE  HAR
FAEBERBREMRE
HRONREBHERS
FRERARIEE - HA
BERAREEREENG
IRABE AR

BT REERRENAKEEE
EREFER  WRRENEE
L BEESRAS A
ZEFREPBHRRENER D
EEH2E AR - REE K REH
AHEERMHES IRNEH
BETEVBEE -BELL &
BUBRRCEFECERRE
mEo

i AR B ARREER LMATEIET
g e - H A REER ISR
ReRfEel YAFHAR
LA 7 52 [ 4 72 9 R TE 1 WURL
EHUWEEE FAREESE
MEME-SEBEFLHESE:
WHIFRBDEERFRBER
ENDEARDEENRRBE
B ZERBENEZELRNZ
EREVBHRRARM-

105



106

CT Environmental Group Limited Annual Report 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e MBmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2018
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in
associates and a joint venture.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated
at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell
(see note 3(w)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimates are revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 48.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. When assessing whether the Group has power, only
substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are
considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to
the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation
in respect of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Cont’d)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of
the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests and
the equity shareholders of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see note 3(f)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 3(j)(iii)), unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale (see note 3(w)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(b)

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

() the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets
and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain
purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash
generating units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination and is tested annually for
impairment (see note 3(j)(iii)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE—F—)\Ft=A=1—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(c)

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the financial
and operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or
Company and other parties contractually agree to share
control of the arrangement, and have rights to the net assets
of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
under the equity method. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any
excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair
values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the
cost of the investment (if any). The cost of the investment
includes purchase price, other costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment
into the associate or joint venture that forms part of the
Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the investment is
adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s
share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see notes 3(b) and 3(j)iii)).
Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees
and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of
the investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(c)

Associates and joint ventures (Cont’d)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest
in the associate or the joint venture, the Group’s interest
is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s
interest is the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with any other long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate or the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and joint venture
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate or joint control over
a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in associates and joint venture are stated at
cost less impairment losses (see note 3(j)(iii)).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d)

(e)

Gross amounts due from customers for contract work

The Group recognises a financial asset arising from
a service concession arrangement when it has an
unconditional contractual right to receive cash or other
financial asset from or at the direction of the grantor for the
construction services provided. Such financial assets are
measured at fair value on initial recognition and classified
as gross amounts due from customers for contract work.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial assets are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

If the Group is paid for the construction services partly by
a financial asset and partly by an intangible asset, then
each component of the consideration is accounted for
separately and is initially recognised at the fair value of the
consideration.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue (see note 3(t)) before being unconditionally entitled
to the consideration under the payment terms set out in the
contract. Contract assets are assessed for expected credit
losses (“ECL”) in accordance with the policy set out in note
3(j)() and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see note 3(l)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see note 3(t)). A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable would
also be recognised (see note 3(l)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.
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FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(e)

)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (Cont’d)

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see note 3(t)).

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated at
fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their classification.

(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method
(see note 3(t)(iv)).
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3. EXEEHBKR(£)

() Other investments in debt and equity securities (Cont’d)

(H REBREAZZ2HMRE

the investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

(%)

(A)  Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (Cont’d) A BE=ZFE—-NF—F—H

BEAYKE (&
Investments other than equity investments (Cont’d) RBRAREUAIINERE

(&

fair value through other comprehensive income - BRAFEFAHM
(“FVOCI”) - recycling, if the contractual cash 2EWE ([RLF
flows of the investment comprise solely payments Bt AHE M2 EUK
of principal and interest and the investment is wm]) (AJ#&m) -
held within a business model whose objective HRENENERE
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cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are BENF - BRET
recognised in other comprehensive income, AHBNAWEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3. EXEHBKR(£)

(H REBREAZZ2HMRE

() Other investments in debt and equity securities (Cont’d)

(%)
(A)  Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (Cont’d) A BE=-ZFE—-NEF—F—H
BEAYKE (&
Equity investments RARE
An investment in equity securities is classified as RBRABHFIRESE
FVPL unless the equity investment is not held for ARAFETABS

trading purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment the Group makes an election to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3. EXEEHBKR(£)

() Other investments in debt and equity securities (Cont’d)

( REBRBRAESZEMRE
(&)

(B)  Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 B R-ZF-NEFE—HF—H

Investments in securities held for trading were
classified as financial assets measured at FVPL. Any
attributable transaction costs were recognised in profit
or loss as incurred. At the end of each reporting period
the fair value was remeasured, with any resultant gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Dated debt securities that the Group had the
positive ability and intention to hold to maturity were
classified as held-to-maturity securities. Held-to-
maturity securities were stated at amortised cost (for
impairment see note 3(j)(i) — policy applicable prior to 1
January 2018).

Investments which did not fall into any of the above
categories were classified as available-for-sale
financial assets. At the end of each reporting period
the fair value was remeasured, with any resultant
gain or loss being recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the
fair value reserve (recycling). Dividend income from
equity investments and interest income from debt
securities calculated using the effective interest
method were recognised in profit or loss. Foreign
exchange gains and losses arising from debt securities
were also recognised in profit or loss. When the
investments were derecognised or impaired (see note
3(j)(i) - policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018),
the cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity was
reclassified to profit or loss.
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FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 3(j)(iii)):

- buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land classified as held under operating
leases (note 3(j)); and

- other items of plant and equipment.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located, and an appropriate proportion of production
overheads and borrowing costs (see note 3(v)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction in
progress.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

= Buildings and other infrastructure held for own use
which are situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and
their estimated useful lives, being 20-50 years after the
date of completion.

- Machinery 5 - 15 years
- Motor vehicles 3 -5 years
- Office equipment and others 3 -10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item
is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of
an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(h)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and
the Group has sufficient resources and the intention
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the costs of materials, direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing costs,
where applicable (see note 3(v)). Capitalised development
costs are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses (see note 3(j)(iii)). Other development
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred.

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated
useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see note 3(j)(iii)).

The Group recognises an intangible asset arising from a
service concession arrangement when it has a right to
charge for the use of the concession infrastructure. An
intangible asset received as consideration for providing
construction or upgrade services in a service concession
arrangement is measured at fair value on initial recognition
with reference to the fair value of the services provided.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the intangible asset
is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (see note 3(j)(iii)).
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(h) Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Cont’d)

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life of an
intangible asset in a service concession arrangement is the
period from when the Group is able to charge the end users
for the use of the infrastructure to the end of the concession
period. The following intangible assets with finite useful lives
are amortised from the date they are available for use and

their estimated useful lives are as follows:

- Supply of industrial water operation right

- HEIXRAKEER

- Wastewater treatment plants operation rights

- SKEERELERE

- Sludge and solid waste treatment operation rights
- TRREREYERLERE

- Hazardous waste treatment operation rights

- REREVEEELRE

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed

annually.

(i) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to
profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of

benefits to be derived from the leased asset.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease-term except where the property is classified as an

investment property or is held for development for sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets

()  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets

A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECLs
on the following items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents and
trade and other receivables; and

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15
(see note 3(e));

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls (that
is, the difference between the cash flows due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

()  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (Cont’d)

Measurement of ECLs (Cont’d)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables and contract assets: effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition
or an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current

effective interest rate;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

()  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (Cont’d)

Measurement of ECLs (Cont’d)

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit
risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort. This
includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are

expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

()  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (Cont’d)

Measurement of ECLs (Cont’d)

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors and an assessment of both the
current and forecast general economic conditions
at the reporting date.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

()  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (Cont’d)

Measurement of ECLs (Cont’d)

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument
since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk
of default occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making this
reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when the borrower is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions such
as realising security (if any is held). The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3.
(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

()  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (Cont’d)

Significant increases in credit risk (Cont’d)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e MWK (&)
for the year ended 31 December 2018
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

()  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (Cont’d)

Significant increases in credit risk (Cont’d)

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the
ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

()  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (Cont’d)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
note 3(i)(iv) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (that is, the gross carrying amount
less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.

3. EXEFEX#E)

() FEBEREERE (&)

() ZBTARSHEEZ
FEEE ()

A)

B=2—-N\F—A
—AEBEAZBR

(&

SAEANERECE

%

1R 15 BT 3t (iv) HE
RZABUWA TR
BemEEZR
IREEE R¥F
ZemEELRE
BERE ELRBER
T FEWATIR
EemEE#®
A (BN42BR ™
B EERE) G
o

RER/REAH &
BRIt TRMEER
BHBREERE
ERLE-HERZE
HEMEEMFR
REEREBTF
TEZEHR %
MEEHREER
B



FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2018
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EXEFBR (#)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

()  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (Cont’d)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Cont’d)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

a breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

- it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for
a security because of financial difficulties of
the issuer.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

()  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (Cont’d)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
lease receivable or contract asset is written off
(either partially or in full) to the extent that there is
no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows
to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in
which the recovery occurs.
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3. EXERERK(#)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

()  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018

Prior to 1 January 2018, an “incurred loss”
model was used to measure impairment losses
on financial assets not classified as at FVPL
(for example, trade and other receivables and
gross amounts due from customers for contract
work). Under the “incurred loss” model, an
impairment loss was recognised only when there
was objective evidence of impairment. Objective
evidence of impairment included:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

- it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

- a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument below its cost.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3. EXEHBR(£)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

() FEEEREERE(&A)

()  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract () ZHTARSHEEZ
assets (Cont’d) EEEE (&)
(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 (Cont’d) B HR=—ZT—NEFE—A
—HAIEAZBR
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was determined and recognised as follows:
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3. EXEgFHERK (&)
(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d) ) GEEEEREERE(Z)
()  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract () ZTHITAREHNEEZ
assets (Cont’d) EEES (&)
(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 (Cont’d) B R=ZF—NF—-B
—BAE A2 BE
(#&
(Cont’d) - (%)

If in a subsequent period the amount of
an impairment loss decreased and the
decrease could be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised, the impairment loss was
reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss was only recognised
to the extent that it did not result in the
asset’s carrying amount exceeding that
which would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

()  Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont’d)

(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 (Cont’d)

(Cont’d)

When the recovery of a trade debtor or
other financial assets carried at amortised
cost was considered doubtful but not
remote, associated impairment losses
were recorded using an allowance
account. When the Group was satisfied
that recovery was remote, the amount
considered irrecoverable was written off
against the gross carrying amount of those
assets directly. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously charged to the
allowance account were reversed against
the allowance account. Other changes in
the allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off
directly were recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

e MBRRNE (&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments
to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised
within “trade and other payables” at fair value, which
is determined by reference to fees charged in an
arm’s length transaction for similar services, when
such information is obtainable, or to interest rate
differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged
by lenders when the guarantee is made available with
the estimated rates that lenders would have charged,
had the guarantees not been available, where reliable
estimates of such information can be made. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance
of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE=F—/\F+=A=+—HILFE
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses from financial guarantees issued (Cont’d)

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit
or loss over the term of the guarantee as income from

financial guarantees issued.

(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

The Group monitors the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract and
recognises a provision when ECLs on the
financial guarantees are determined to be higher
than the amount carried in “trade and other
payables” in respect of the guarantees (that is,
the amount initially recognised, less accumulated

amortisation).

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes
in the risk of default of the specified debtor since
the issuance of the guarantee. A 12-month ECL
is measured unless the risk that the specified
debtor will default has increased significantly
since the guarantee is issued, in which case a
lifetime ECL is measured. The same definition of
default and the same assessment of significant
increase in credit risk as described in note 3(j)()

apply.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses from financial guarantees issued (Cont’d)

A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (Cont’d)

As the Group is required to make payments only
in the event of a default by the specified debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated based on the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for
a credit loss that it incurs less any amount that
the Group expects to receive from the holder of
the guarantee, the specified debtor or any other
party. The amount is then discounted using the
current risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to
the cash flows.

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018

Prior to 1 January 2018, a provision would be
recognised if and when it became probable that
(i) the holder of the guarantee would call upon the
Group under the guarantee and (ii) the amount of
the claim on the Group was expected to exceed
the amount carried in “trade and other payables”
in respect of the guarantee.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

)]

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(if)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets may be impaired
or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;

- lease prepayments;
- intangible assets;
- goodwill; and

- Interest in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for use and
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3. EXEEHBR(£)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

() FEEEREERE(HA)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets (Cont’d) (i) B FE B EE
(4%

Calculation of recoverable amount - FEAWE£EE
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater EEMNTKE SR
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value DIEAFEREE
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated AN ER {5 FREE M
future cash flows are discounted to their present ERPESE -1E
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects L EAEER
current market assessments of the time value AETABEERE
of money and the risks specific to the asset. THiRBBRBIATALRIR

Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets,
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(if)

(iv)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Cont’d)

- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in
the year in which the reversals are recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group
is required to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting,
in respect of the first six months of the financial year.
At the end of the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see
notes 3(j)(i) and 3(j)(ii).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller
loss, would have been recognised had the impairment
been assessed only at the end of the financial year to
which the interim period relates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(k)

U

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any writedown of inventories to net realisable value and all
losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.
If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount is
presented as a contract asset (see note 3(e)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses (see note
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(m)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for borrowing costs (see note 3(v)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in
accordance with note 3(j)(ii), trade and other payables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(p)

(q)

r)

Employee benefits (Cont’d)

(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The fair value of shares granted to employees is recognised
as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in a
capital reserve within equity. The fair value is measured
at grant date by reference to the market price of the
Company’s shares.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

)

Income tax (Cont’d)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary differences or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period,
or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

)

Income tax (Cont’d)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against
deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions
are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(r) Income tax (Cont’d)

in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

(s) Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous contracts

(0

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.
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e MBRRNE (&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(s) Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous contracts
(Cont’d)

()

(i)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (Cont’d)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has
a contract under which the unavoidable costs of
meeting the obligations under the contract exceed
the economic benefits expected to be received from
the contract. Provisions for onerous contracts are
measured at the present value of the lower of the
expected cost of terminating the contract and the net
cost of continuing with the contract.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

®

Revenue recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has
the right to use the asset, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. Revenue excludes value-added tax or other sales
taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer
for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amount receivable, discounted using
the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction with the customer, and interest income
is accrued separately under the effective interest method.
Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group,
revenue recognised under that contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. The Group takes advantage of the
practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does
not adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant
financing component if the period of financing is 12 months
or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

()  Provision of service

Revenue from the provision of services is recognised
when the relevant services has been provided.
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mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2018

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(t) Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

(i)

(if)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the goods. If the goods
are a partial fulfilment of a contract covering other
goods and/or services, then the amount of revenue
recognised is an appropriate proportion of the total
transaction price under the contract, allocated
between all the goods and services promised under
the contract on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis.

In the comparative period, revenue from sales of
goods was recognised when the goods were delivered
to the customers’ premises, which was taken to be
the point in time when the customer had accepted the
goods and the related risks and rewards of ownership.

Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group
as a construction contract when the contract relates
to work on real estate assets under the control of
the customer and therefore the Group’s construction
activities create or enhance an asset under the
customer’s control.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be
reasonably measured, revenue from the contract is
recognised progressively over time using the cost-to-
cost method, that is, based on the proportion of the
actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total
costs.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

®

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

(i)  Construction contracts (Cont’d)

(iv)

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual
bonuses for early completion or suffering contractual
penalties for late completion are taken into account
in making these estimates, such that revenue is only
recognised to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be
reasonably measured, revenue is recognised only to
the extent of contract costs incurred that are expected
to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised in accordance with the policy set out in
note 3(s).

Revenue for construction contracts was recognised on
a similar basis in the comparative period under HKAS
11.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling) that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (that is, gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset
(see note 3(j)(i))-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

®

(u)

Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

(v)  Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same periods in which
the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate
the Group for the cost of an asset are deducted from
the carrying amount of the asset and consequently
are effectively recognised in profit or loss over the
useful life of the asset by way of reduced depreciation
expense.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost is a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
company initially recognises such non-monetary assets and
liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates fair value was measured.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(u)

(v)

Translation of foreign currencies (Cont’d)

The results of foreign operations are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Statement of financial position items are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that foreign
operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when
the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or construction which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended
use are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing
costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use are interrupted or complete.
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mEMBmRME (F)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(w) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations

()

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified
as held for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying
amount will be recovered through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use and the asset
(or disposal group) is available for sale in its present
condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to be
disposed of together as a group in a single transaction,
and liabilities directly associated with those assets that
will be transferred in the transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for
sale when the above criteria for classification as held
for sale are met, regardless of whether the Group will
retain a non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after
the sale.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d) 3. EXEHBR(£)

(w) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued

(w) FHEHEZFRBEEREK

Immediately before classification as held for sale,
the measurement of the non-current assets (and all
individual assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is
brought up-to-date in accordance with the accounting
policies before the classification. Then, on initial
classification as held for sale and until disposal,
the non-current assets (except for certain assets as
explained below), or disposal groups, are recognised
at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this
measurement policy so far as the financial statements
of the Group and the Company are concerned are
deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee
benefits, financial assets (other than investments
in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures) and
investment properties. These assets, even if held for
sale, would continue to be measured in accordance
with the policies set out elsewhere in note 3.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for
sale, and on subsequent remeasurement while held
for sale, are recognised in profit or loss. As long as a
non-current asset is classified as held for sale, or is
included in a disposal group that is classified as held
for sale, the non-current asset is not depreciated or
amortised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBmRME (F)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(w) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations (Cont’d)

(i)

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of
the Group and which represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations,
or is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a
separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with
a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to
be classified as held for sale (see (i) above), if earlier. It
also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued,
a single amount is presented on the face of the
statement of profit or loss, which comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

- the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on
the disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s)
constituting the discontinued operation.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(x) Related parties

(@

®)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

()  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iliy is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iliy Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(x)

(v)

Related parties (Cont’d)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Cont’d)

v)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical

locations.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(v)

Segment reporting (Cont’d)

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

4. CORRECTION OF PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS

(@)

In 2018, Guangzhou CT Lvyou Environmental Protection
Technology Company Limited (“Guangzhou Lvyou”), a
subsidiary of the Group, was required to repay the value-
added tax refunded by the PRC tax authority during
the period from 2015 to 2017. The principal activities of
Guangzhou Lvyou were the provision of sludge and solid
waste and hazardous waste treatment services. Under
the notice issued by the Ministry of Finance and the State
Administration of Taxation of the PRC relating to the
Catalogue of Value-Added Tax Preferences for Products
and Labor Services Involving the Comprehensive Utilization
of Resources (“ERFEFAERMEKIZEREERE ")
in 2015 (the “Notice”), Guangzhou Lvyou was entitled to
claim value-added tax refund on condition that Guangzhou
Lvyou could comply with the relevant environmental
regulations. However, in 2015, Guangzhou Lvyou was
penalized by the local environmental protection bureau for
its failure to comply with certain environmental regulations.
As a result, Guangzhou Lvyou was no longer entitled to
claim the VAT tax refund for the next 36 months upon
receipt of the penalty notice. However, without knowledge
of the conditions set out in the Notice, Guangzhou
Lvyou continued to claim the VAT tax refund totalling
RMB65,952,000 during the period from 2015 to 2017 and
recognised the VAT tax refund as other income. In 2018, the
PRC tax authority requested Guangzhou Lvyou to pay back
the value-added tax refund received previously together
with surcharges totalling RMB76,542,000 (equivalent to
HK$86,771,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

4. CORRECTION OF PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Cont’d)

(@)

(Cont’d)

Based on the above circumstances, the present directors
consider that it is appropriate to make adjustments to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2017 and previous years. The effects
of the above adjustments on the consolidated financial
statements are summarized below.

During the course of audit for the year ended 31 December
2018, the management discovered that there were
omissions in recording a deposit received and an advance
to Mr. Tsui in the previous years’ consolidated financial
statements. On 5 December 2016, Guangzhou Lvyou
entered into a cooperation agreement with a property
developer in Guangzhou, the PRC (the “Developer”) for
the development of a parcel of land owned by the Group.
On 7 December 2016, Guangzhou Lvyou received a
cheque payment of RMB100,000,000 from the Developer
(the “Cheque”) for payment of a deposit under the
cooperation agreement. At the same time, the Cheque has
been endorsed to a third party without passing through
Guangzhou Lvyou’s bank account which had been
confirmed by Mr. Tsui to be receipt on the latters’s behalf.
As a result, both transactions were omitted from the books
and records of the Group.

Upon discovery of the above, the present directors made
the above adjustments to the prior years’ consolidated
financial statements. The advance to Mr. Tsui was impaired
in the year ended 31 December 2018 as set out in note 29(f)
to the consolidated financial statements.
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4.

CORRECTION OF PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Cont’d)

©

The effects of the restatements described above on the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017 are

4. HWIEXMER(HF)

() LMBEBRHEBEZE_T—tF
+ZBA=+—HLEEEZHE
BankEkGeEEkEME2E
WErk—_ZE—-—+tF&E+=H
=+ -AZHREHBERREZ

as follows:

HEMT :

As previously Prior year
stated  adjustments Restated
BEEE
W& 25 ZAE RE
Consolidated statement of HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
profit or loss GRBHEX TER TER TER
(Note 4(a))
(MiEka(a))
Revenue g 2,099,098 - 2,099,098
Cost of sales BERK (1,298,871) - (1,208,871)
Gross profit E 800,227 - 800,227
Other income HABBA 327,563 (36,500) 291,063
Administrative expenses THEX (270,026) - (270,026)
Other net gains H B 84,780 (4,414) 80,366
Impairment loss on intangible assets R EERERE (8,325) - (8,325)
Reversals of impairment losses on trade 5 EWFIEREFSBEE
receivables 1,726 - 1,726
Profit from operations BERF 935,945 (40,914) 895,031
Finance costs BE A (124,780) = (124,780)
Share of profits of associates DEHE D BANER 1,333 ~ 1,333
Share of profit of a joint venture PE—REELENER 362 - 362
Profit before tax BB ATRA 812,860 (40,914) 771,946
Income tax expense FREHE X (131,437) - (131,437)
Profit for the year & R 681,423 (40914) 640,500
Attributable to: NN EEER:
Owners of the Company ARAREEA 682,480 (40,914) 641,566
Non-controlling interests FERER (1,057) - (1,057)
Profit for the year & R 681,423 (40,914) 640,509
Earnings per share (HK$) BREF (Br)
Basic F=WiN 0.11 (0.01) 0.10
Diluted i3 0.11 (0.01) 0.10
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CORRECTION OF PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Cont’d)

(©)
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. HWIEXEER (HF)

(Cont’d) (c) (%)
As previously Prior year
stated  adjustments Restated
BEEE
mER 25 ZHAE RE
Consolidated statement of profit or REBRERHM HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
loss and other comprehensive income 2 E & TER TER TER
(Note 4(a))
(Kizk4(a))
Profit for the year & R 681,423 (40,914) 640,509
Other comprehensive income Htt2mEK R
Item that may be reclassified HANRENRIBZEEN
subsequently to profit or loss: EH:
Exchange differences on translation of BEBMEEREEN
foreign operations ELZE 301,096 (4,316) 296,780
Total comprehensive income FR2EKRERE
for the year 982,519 (45,230) 937,289
Attributable to: NN EEELR:
Owners of the Company ARREEA 983,576 (45,230) 938,346
Non-controlling interests FERESR (1,057) - (1,057)
Total comprehensive income FREEKRELE
for the year 982,519 (45,230) 937,289
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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4. CORRECTION OF PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Cont’d) 4. WESEISER (F)
(c) (Cont’d) () (#&)
As
previously
reported  Prior year adjustments Restated
MER 25 BAFEZHE T
Consolidated statement of oy HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
financial position BRI & TER TER TER TER
(Note 4(2)  (Note 4(b))
GEZE VNG EZ )
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- BRERRE 3,496,201 = - 3,496,201
Lease prepayments HEEARE 335,443 - - 335,443
Intangible assets EBREE 1,703,829 - - 1,703,829
Goodwil BE 170,240 = = 170,240
Investments in associates REEATHNRE 8,629 = = 8,629
Investment in a joint venture R—RAELENKRE 3,790 - - 3,790
Gross amounts due from customers BREFENIRIEAE
for contract work 324,715 - - 324,715
Deposits, other receivables and Be HttEWFER
prepayments EFHE 611,521 = = 611,521
Deferred tax assets EERBEE 8,584 = = 8,584
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 6,662,952 - - 6,662,952
Current assets REEE
Inventories RE 22,191 - - 22,191
Trade and other receivables ESRHMEKTE 1,757,957 (50,623) 119,630 1,826,964
Gross amounts due from customers BUEFANIRIERE
for contract work 30,938 - - 30,938
Bank and cash balances BIRBREER 610,947 s = 610,947
Total current assets RBEELE 2,422,033 (50,623) 119,630 2,491,040
Current liabilities hBaE
Trade and other payables B RHMEMTE 741,632 36,148 119,630 897,410
Bank loans BITEX 1,881,461 - - 1,881,461
Current tax liabilities WEBEaE 130,423 - - 130,423
Total current liabilities RBRBLR 2,753,516 36,148 119,630 2,909,294
Net current liabilities REEEFE (331,483) (86,771) = (418,254)
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE=F—/\F+=A=+—HILFE

4. HWIEXEER (HF)

(Cont’d) (c) (%)
As
previously
reported  Prior year adjustments Restated
WEAZF RAFECRE S
Consolidated statement of ) HK§'000 ~ HK§'000  HK§'000  HK$'000
financial position BN & TAET TAT TET TET
(Note 4(a))  (Note 4(b))
(MisFa(@) (B EF4))
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERE 6,331,469 (86,771) - 6,244,698
Non-current liabilities *¥RBEE
Bank loans BITEX 1,580,398 - - 1,580,398
Deferred income iF13/ N 17,613 - - 17,613
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEAE 268,114 - - 268,114
Total non-current liabilities FRBEELHE 1,866,125 - - 1,866,125
Net assets BEFE 4,465,344 (86,771) - 4378573
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRfEE
Share capital JEEN 157,920 = = 157,920
Reserves i 4,304,564 (86,771) - 4,217,793
Total equity attributable to ARRBEEAELESARE
owners of the Company 4,462,484 (86,771) - 4,375,713
Non-controlling interests FERES 2,860 = = 2,860
Total equity k] 4,465,344 (86,771) - 4378573
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4.

(d)

CORRECTION OF PRIOR YEARS’ ERRORS (Cont’d) 4. WESEISER (F)
The effects of the restatement described above on the (d LHEMRHR—_Z=—tF—A
consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 January —BRAREMBRRERZEE
2017 are as follows: M
As
previously
reported  Prior year adjustments Restated
MER 25 BEFEECHE K&
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TAERT TER TET TER
(Note 4(a))  (Note 4(b))
(MisE4@)  (M=E4()
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BERR 2,696,799 = - 2,696,799
Lease prepayments BAHEERE 320,823 - - 320,823
Intangible assets BREE 1,455,213 - - 1455213
Goodwill EE 159,089 - - 159,089
Investments in associates REEQRANKRE 6,776 = = 6,776
Investment in a joint venture R-REELENRE 3,193 = = 3,193
Gross amounts due from customers BREFANIRIELAR
for contract work 289,778 - - 289,778
Deposits, other receivables and e HtEWRER
prepayments BATE 370,723 - - 370,723
Deferred tax assets EERBERE 9,376 = = 9,376
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 5,311,770 = - 5311,770
Current assets TBHEE
Inventories FE 26,515 = = 26,515
Trade and other receivables ESRHEMERE 1,119,834 (12,027) 111,794 1,219,601
Gross amounts due from customers for EREFAENIRIEAR
contract work 42,990 - - 42,990
Bank and cash balances BOIRASER 1,162,374 - - 1,162,374
Total current assets RBEERE 2,351,713 (12,027) 111,794 2,451,480
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables BN EMENTE 524,722 29,514 111,794 666,030
Bank loans BITEX 1,171,223 - - 1171223
Current tax liabilities BB IEEE 80,287 - - 80,287
Total current liabilities REEEAR 1,776,232 29,514 111,794 1,917,540
Net current assets RBEEFE 575,481 (41,541) - 533,940
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4. HWIEXEER (HF)

@ (#&)
As
previously
reported  Prior year adjustments Restated
mEH 235 BEFEZRE &5

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TEx TExT TERT
(Note 4(a))  (Note 4(b))
(MEE4@@)  (BEE4())

Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDAR 5,887,251 (41,541) - 5845710
Non-current liabilities *¥RBEE
Bank loans RITEX 2,000,619 - - 2,000,619
Deferred income EIEBA 16,592 = = 16,592
Deferred tax liabilities EEFEEE 253,978 = = 253,978
Total non-current liabilities FREEEHEE 2,271,189 = - 2,271,189
Net assets EEZE 3,616,062 (41,541) - 3574521
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARGHE
Share capital [EES 157,920 = = 157,920
Reserves 1 3,446,604 (41,541) - 3,405,063
Total equity attributable to ANRERANEGEREARE

owners of the Company 3,604,524 (41,541) - 3,562,983
Non-controlling interests FERER 11,538 = = 11,538
Total equity EReE 3,616,062 (41,541) - 3574521
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5.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 5.

REPORTING STANDARDS

The HKICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs and
amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group. Of these, the following
developments are relevant to the Group’s financial statements:

() HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers; and

(i)  HKFRS 9 Financial instruments.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

(i) HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11
Construction Contracts, HKAS 18 Revenue and related
interpretations and it applies, with limited exceptions, to
all revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS
15, establishes a new five-step model to account for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under
HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services
to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a
more structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements,
including disaggregation of total revenue, information
about performance obligations, changes in contract asset
and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. As a result of the application
of HKFRS 15, the Group has changed the accounting
policy with respect to revenue recognition in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

5. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

(i)

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers
(Cont’d)

The Group adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption and it elected to
apply that method only to those contracts that were not
completed at the date of initial application. The comparative
information for each of the primary financial statements
would be presented based on the requirements of HKAS 11,
HKAS 18 and related interpretations.

The cumulative effect of the initial application of HKFRS 15
was immaterial and no adjustment was made to the opening
balance of retained profits as at 1 January 2018.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 5.

REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

(i)

R REERTERMBRSE

#A (7

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers (i)

(Cont’d)

Set out below are the amounts by which each financial
statement line item was affected as at 1 January 2018 as a
result of the adoption of HKFRS 15:

Consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 January

BRMBREEAFEISS F
F&#wzs (&)

TXEIR-"F-—NF—-A—
A ERME BRI BREEASE
155 M R B MRETE
BEMTEZEHE:

R=Z2-NF-A—-B2Z&HE

2018 B AR R R
Amounts prepared under
BREATEAGER 2S5
Previous Increase/
HKFRS 15 N HKFRSs (decrease)
BRMKRE EAERHE 5
% B 5155 HEER (R2)
Note HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
MiEE TERT THERT THEx
Non-current assets: kRBEE:
Gross amounts due from BUREFSHNIR
customers for FEAE
contract work 26 - 324,715 (324,715)
Contract assets EHEE 27 324,715 = 324,715
324,715 324,715 -
Current assets: TBEE:
Gross amounts due from BHEFSHTIRE
customers for contract BB
work 26 - 30,938 (30,938)
Contract assets BRNEE 27 30,938 - 30,938
30,938 30,938 -
Current liabilities: FBEE:
Trade and other payables &5 Kk HH1 {38
(note) (WiaE) 33 861,527 897,410 (35,383)
Contract liabilities EHEE 34 35,883 - 35,883
897,410 897,410 -
Net assets (note) EEFE (HE) 4,378,573 4,378,573 =
Retained profits (note) REBEF (BEE) 2,704,902 2,704,902 -
Non-controlling interests FERES 2,860 2,860 =
Total equity (note) @R (M) 4,378,573 4,378,573 -
Note: B &
The amounts prepared under previous HKFRSs were the restated RIBIBIET B IR & =R R ELRY
amounts after the prior years adjustments as detailed in note 4 to the THABTFERELZNEN S
consolidated financial statements. 5 S EENGRE B HRRMEES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

5. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

(i)

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers
(Cont’d)

The nature of the adjustments as at 1 January 2018 are
described below:

@)

Concession Operating Right

The Group entered into concession agreements with
local government authorities in the PRC. Pursuant to
the concession agreements, the Group was granted
rights to construct, operate and maintain wastewater
and solid waste treatment plants in the PRC for
the periods of 25-30 years. The Group recognises
the consideration receivable in exchange for the
construction services provided as a financial asset
under the concession agreements. The balance as
at the end of each reporting period represent the
amounts not yet due for payment and will be settled
by the revenue to be generated during the operating
period under the concession agreement. Upon the
adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group reclassified the
balance to contract assets from gross amounts due
from customers for contract work.
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

() HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers
(Cont’d)

(b)

Construction Services

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the
Group obtains rights to receive consideration from the
customer and assumes performance obligations to
transfer goods or provide services to the customers.
The combination of those rights and performance
obligations gives rise to a net asset or a net liability
depending on the relationship between the remaining
rights and the performance obligations.

The excess of the cumulative revenue recognised in
profit or loss over the cumulative billings to customers
is recognised as contract assets. Contract assets
are rights to consideration in exchange for goods or
services that the Group has transferred to a customer
when that right is conditional on a matter other than
the passage of time.

The excess of cumulative billings to customers over
the cumulative revenue recognised in profit or loss is
recognised as contract liabilities. Contract liabilities are
obligations to transfer goods or services to customer
for which the Group has received consideration in
advance.

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group has
reclassified the gross amounts due from/to customers
for contract work to contract assets/liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

5. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

(i)

(ii)

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers
(Cont’d)

(c) Consideration Received from Customers in Advance

Prior to the adoption of HKFRS 15, deferred revenue
arose from advance receipt was recognised in the
statement of financial position within other payables
and accruals . Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, the
Group reclassified it to contract liabilities from other
payable and accruals .

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39, Financial instruments:
recognition and measurement. It sets out the requirements
for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial
liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial
items.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively to items
that existed at 1 January 2018 in accordance with the
transition requirements. The Group has recognised the
cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment
to the opening equity at 1 January 2018. Therefore,
comparative information continues to be reported under
HKAS 39.
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

(i)

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Details of the nature and effect of the changes to previous
accounting policies and the transition approach are set out
below:

a.  Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

HKFRS 9 categories financial assets into three
principal classification categories: measured
at amortised cost, at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL”). These supersede HKAS
39’s categories of held-to-maturity investments, loans
and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets and
financial assets measured at FVPL. The classification
of financial assets under HKFRS 9 is based on the
business model under which the financial asset is
managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics.
Under HKFRS 9, derivatives embedded in contracts
where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the
standard are not separated from the host. Instead,
the hybrid instrument as a whole is assessed for
classification.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL 5. AT REBEITETEMBRE

REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d) AR ()
(i) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (Cont’d) (i) BEEVBEREELFESSR &
BMITE (&)

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
(Cont’d)

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has no impact on the
classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
of the Group as at 1 January 2018.

Note 3 explains the accounting policy of how the
Group measures financial assets and recognises
related gains and losses under HKFRS 9.

The measurement categories for all financial liabilities
remain the same, except for financial guarantee
contracts. The carrying amounts for all financial
liabilities at 1 January 2018 have not been impacted by
the initial application of HKFRS 9.

Credit losses

HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in HKAS
39 with the “expected credit loss” (‘ECL”) model. The
ECL model requires an ongoing measurement of credit
risk associated with a financial asset and therefore
recognises ECLs earlier than under the “incurred loss”
accounting model in HKAS 39.
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

(i) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (Cont’d)

b.

Credit losses (Cont’d)

The Group applies the new ECL model to the following
items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including bank and cash balances, trade and
other receivables and loans receivables); and

—  contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see note
3;

As disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, the present directors of the Company
are unable to represent that the comparative financial
information as disclosed in these consolidated
financial statements are free from errors or omissions,
or has these complied with the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards. In addition, the present directors
have not been able to obtain sufficient documentary
evidences and explanations to satisfy themselves
regarding the reliability, completeness and accuracy of
the books and records of certain subsidiaries. As such,
the present directors of the Company are unable to
assess the correct amount of expected credit loss on
the financial assets measured at amortised cost and
contract assets as at 1 January 2018 upon adoption
of HKFRS 9 nor any adjustments were made in the
consolidated financial statements.

Note 3 contains details on the Group’s accounting
policy for accounting for credit losses.
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

(i) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (Cont’d)

@ Transition

Changes in accounting policies resulting from
the adoption of HKFRS 9 have been applied
retrospectively, except as described below:

- Information relating to comparative periods has
not been restated. Differences in the carrying
amounts of financial assets resulting from the
adoption of HKFRS 9 are recognised in retained
profits and reserves as at 1 January 2018.
Accordingly, the information presented for 2017
continues to be reported under HKAS 39 and
thus may not be comparable with the current
period.

- If, at the date of initial application, the
assessment of whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition would have involved undue cost
or effort, a lifetime ECL is recognised for that
financial instrument.
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5.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial year
beginning 1 January 2018. These new and revised HKFRSs
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.
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NTHBEHR

ZERBZ
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HKFRS 17, Insurance Contract BBV REERIE17IE 2 185] 1 January 2021
REE# —E-_—F

—B—H

Amendments to HKFRS 3, BBV K REERFEIF 21EFT (Note i)
Definition of a Business KT (FfEEI)
HKFRS 16, Leases EBMBERELELE16 HE 1 January 2019
—E-hEF

—HA—H

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, BEBMKERELEAE109ER (Note ii)
Sales or Contribution of Assets between on BB ERE285E 2 185] (B &Eii)

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

HK(IFRIC) 23, Uncertainty over
Income Tax Treatments
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

(Cont’d)
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Effective for
accounting
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RIS AH
ZERBZ
SHBEX

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS & & IR EEAE
%;‘%%Jﬁﬂﬂ%%ﬁ&
BRERELEDS

7, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8,
Definition of Material

Amendments to HKAS 28, Long-term
Interest in Associates and Joint Ventures

Conceptual framework for financial reporting
2018, Revised conceptual framework for
financial reporting

HKFRS 16 (Amendments), COVID-19 related
rent concessions

Amendments to annual improvements project,

Annual improvement
2018-2020 cycle

HKAS 16 (Amendments), Proceeds before
intended use

FIFERENE

BEMBRELN-FT-—HFZE

BT ZER

1 January 2020
—EIEF
—H—H

1 January 2019

—E—LFRENFENGE —E-AF
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EBETEAEIHR 1 January 2020
EBGTT AR 2155 —EIEF
EAWEZE —B—H
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EELFE R E e 2 155] —E-AF
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—E-N\FHEREHAER 1 January 2020
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5.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Cont’d)

AT REERTERMBRSE
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HKAS 37 (Amendments), Cost of fulfilling B BETTERIZEI7THR Z BT A 1 January 2022
a contract JBITE A A e

—HA—H

HKFRS 3 (Amendments), Reference to the BBV K REERFEIF BT 1 January 2022
conceptual framework BESKEZF B 5| =2

— /=Nl =|

HKAS 1 (Amendments), Presentation of BEBAGTEAE1FE BT AR 1 January 2023
financial statements on classification of BB HREZERGEESHE —E-=

liabilities —HA—H

Note (i) Effective for business combination and asset acquisitions for which
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Note (i) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after date to be
determined.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these amendments and new standards is expected
to be in the period of initial application. Except for HKFRS 16
as discussed below, the present directors anticipate that the
application of all other new and revised HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Cont’d)

HKFRS 16, Leases

As disclosed in note 3, currently the Group classifies leases into
finance leases and operating leases and accounts for the lease
arrangements differently, depending on the classification of the
lease. The Group enters into some leases as the lessor and
others as the lessee.

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way that
lessors account for their rights and obligations under a lease.
However, once HKFRS 16 is adopted, lessees will no longer
distinguish between finance leases and operating leases. Instead,
subject to practical expedients, lessees will account for all leases
in a way similar to current finance lease accounting, that is, at
the commencement date of the lease the lessee will recognise
and measure a lease liability at the present value of the minimum
future lease payments and will recognise a corresponding “right-
of-use” asset. After initial recognition of this asset and liability, the
lessee will recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding
balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-
of-use asset, instead of the current policy of recognising rental
expenses incurred under operating leases on a systematic basis
over the lease term. As a practical expedient, the lessee can elect
not to apply this accounting model to short-term leases (that is,
where the lease term is 12 months or less) and to leases of low-
value assets, in which case the rental expenses would continue
to be recognised on a systematic basis over the lease term.
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5.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Cont’d)

HKFRS 16, Leases (Cont’d)

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as a
lessee of leases for properties, plant and equipment which are
currently classified as operating leases. The application of the
new accounting model is expected to lead to an increase in both
assets and liabilities and to impact on the timing of the expense
recognition in the statement of profit or loss over the period of the
lease.

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019. As allowed by HKFRS 16, the Group plans to use
the practical expedient to grandfather the previous assessment of
which existing arrangements are, or contain, leases. The Group
will therefore apply the new definition of a lease in HKFRS 16
only to contracts that are entered into on or after the date of
initial application. In addition, the Group would elect the practical
expedient for not applying the new accounting model to short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Cont’d)

HKFRS 16, Leases (Cont’d)

The Group plans to elect to use the modified retrospective
approach for the adoption of HKFRS 16 and will recognise
the cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment
to the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2019 and will
not restate the comparative information. As disclosed in note
46, at 31 December 2018 the Group’s future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases amount
to HK$97,487,000 for properties. Upon the initial adoption
of HKFRS 16, the opening balances of lease liabilities and
the corresponding right-of-use assets will be adjusted to
HK$58,317,000 and HK$45,517,000 respectively, after taking
account the effects of discounting, as at 1 January 2019.

INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS

In April 2018, the local environmental authorities in the PRC
conducted inspections on certain of the Group’s subsidiaries and
subsequently in 2019 EMEERAEREBER AT Guangzhou
Haitao Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Haitao”), F LG FERREHEBR AT Zhongshan
Haitao Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Zhongshan Haitao”) and EMNmEEMMBEEER QA
Guangzhou Liangang Vessel Wastewater Treatment Company
Limited (“Guangzhou Liangang”) and certain senior management
members including Mr. Tsui and staff members were charged for,
amongst others, fraudulent issuance of value-added tax invoices
to customers, fabrication and falsification of certain contracts
and other documents, the provision of false data for claiming
environmental subsidies, illegal disposal of sludge, discharge of
wastewater illegally, the deliberate non-performance of certain
procedures when providing sludge treatment services and
environmental pollution, during the period varying from 2015 to
2018.
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6.

INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

An independent investigation committee was formed to conduct
an investigation on the above matters. The investigation
committee composed of the present independent non-executive
directors who are independent of the matters under investigation.
The details of the cases and the findings of the investigation are
set out below:

The independent investigation committee also conducted an
investigation on the payments to and receipts from Mr. Tsui
and the companies controlled by him, the details of which are
disclosed in note 29(f) and 29(g) to the consolidated financial
statements.

(@) Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Liangang Vessel
Wastewater Treatment Company Limited (“Guangzhou
Liangang”) by the local government authority in the PRC

On 9 April 2019, EREEMTEAIBARKRER filed a
bill of indictment against Guangzhou Liangang alleging
that Guangzhou Liangang and its legal representative,
Mr. Xu Juwen, a former director of the Company (a
separate hearing is to be scheduled for Mr. Xu Juwen)
and an accounting staff committed a criminal offence in
the issue of false value added tax invoices to customers
for claiming tax refund and deduction purpose during
the period from January 2016 to December 2017 without
providing any goods or services to its customers. The total
amount of value added tax of the false VAT invoices were
RMB5,650,000 (equivalent of HK$6,448,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

6. INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

(a)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Liangang Vessel
Wastewater Treatment Company Limited (“Guangzhou
Liangang”) by the local government authority in the PRC
(Cont’d)

On 22 April 2019, BEREEMmEDEARZEBR the People’s
Court of Nansha District, Guangzhou City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC (the “Nansha Court”) delivered a
judgment against Guangzhou Liangang and the accounting
staff on the above case and ordered Guangzhou Liangang
to pay a fine of RMB300,000 (equivalent of HK$335,000).
The accounting staff was sentenced to imprisonment with
probation.

In addition, on 9 April 2019, EREEMTEAIBARK
22z, filed another bill of indictment against Guangzhou
Liangang alleging that Mr. Xu Juwen, Guangzhou Liangang
and certain of its senior management members committed a
criminal offence of environmental pollution by collaborating
with a third party to deal with hazardous waste treatment
illegally (a separate hearing is to be scheduled for Mr. Xu
Juwen).

On 29 April 2020, the Nansha Court issued its judgment
against Guangzhou Liangang for committing environmental
pollution offences and fined Guangzhou Liangang a sum of
RMB300,000 (equivalent to HK$335,000) (the “Guangzhou
Liangang Judgement”). The senior management members
were sentenced for imprisonment plus penalty. After
reviewing the Guangzhou Liangang Judgment with the
PRC legal advisors, Guangzhou Liangang lodged an appeal
against the Guangzhou Liangang Judgment but Guangzhou
Liangang lost the appeal eventually.
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6.

INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

(a)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Liangang Vessel
Wastewater Treatment Company Limited (“Guangzhou
Liangang”) by the local government authority in the PRC
(Cont’d)

Findings of the investigation

The results of the investigation conducted by the
investigation committee showed that Guangzhou Liangang
issued 13 VAT invoices for a total amount of RMB5,650,000
(equivalent to HK$6,448,000) in 2016 and 2017 to three
companies without delivery of goods nor provision of any
services. The three companies applied tax deduction based
on the fraudulently issued VAT invoices and Guangzhou
Liangang received the same amount of money from the
three companies. The investigation committee is of the view
that the fraudulent issuance of VAT invoices was a one-off
event caused by the former management of Guangzhou
Liangang. All the staff involved in the fraudulent issuance of
VAT invoices no longer have any roles and responsibilities
in the management or operations of any of the Company’s
subsidiaries.

According to the judgement dated 29 April 2020, during
the period from January 2017 to April 2018, Guangzhou
Liangang leased part of the premises and equipment to a
company in Shenzhen (“Shenzhen Party”) for it to operate
the “oil cleaning” business. Shenzhen Party illegally applied
the “sulphuric acid clay method” to clean oil at the site and
illegally provided the hazardous waste (white clay residue)
produced in the oil cleaning process to a third party who
did not possess a business license for such disposal,
causing environmental pollution. The charge for Guangzhou
Liangang was the provision to Shenzhen Party with
services and conveniences to assist and ensure the smooth
operation of Shenzhen Party’s “oil cleaning” business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

6. INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

(a)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Liangang Vessel
Wastewater Treatment Company Limited (“Guangzhou
Liangang”) by the local government authority in the PRC
(Cont’d)

Findings of the investigation (Cont’d)

Based on the results of the investigation, the investigation
committee noted that Guangzhou Liangang did lease its site
and oil tank equipment to Shenzhen Party and the terms of
the lease contract stipulated that Shenzhen Party should
comply with relevant national laws and regulations for the
use of oil tanks as well as to comply with the relevant safety
regulations, and should not use the premises for conducting
illegal business activities. As the responsible accounting
staff had already left, the completeness and correctness of
the record of Guangzhou Liangang’s income from Shenzhen
Party could not be ascertained. The investigation results
indicated that the relevant prima facie evidences show that
() Guangzhou Liangang did provide Shenzhen Party with
additional services other than site and equipment rental.
Guangzhou Liangang believed that it was not to cover up
Shenzhen Party’s criminal acts but only considerations of
customer services and safety. However, the court ultimately
held that Guangzhou Liangang was an accomplice in the
environmental pollution offences; and there was insufficient
information to analyse whether Guangzhou Liangang did
cooperate in hazardous waste disposal by the third party
and the impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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6.

INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

(b)

Legal proceedings against Zhongshan Haitao
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Zhongshan Haitao”) by the local enforcement authority
in the PRC

On 15 April 2019, FILME—TEARMER filed a
bill of indictment against Zhongshan Haitao and certain
senior management members of Zhongshan Haitao (the
“Defendants”) alleging that the Defendants committed a
criminal offence of environmental pollution by discharging
wastewater and sludge illegally during the period from 2015
to June 2018.

On 14 April 2020, the First People’s Court of Zhongshan
City, Guangdong Province, the PRC (EXR&H LT %
— AR JEBR) delivered a judgment against Zhongshan
Haitao and ordered Zhongshan Haitao to pay a fine of
RMB500,000 (equivalent to HK$558,000) (the “Zhongshan
Haitao Judgment”). The senior management members of
Zhongshan Haitao were sentenced to imprisonment plus
penalty. After reviewing the Zhongshan Haitao Judgment
with the PRC legal advisors, Zhongshan Haitao decided not
to appeal against the Zhongshan Haitao Judgment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

6. INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

(b)

Legal proceedings against Zhongshan Haitao
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Zhongshan Haitao”) by the local enforcement authority
in the PRC (Cont’d)

Findings of the investigation

According to the judgement dated 14 April 2020, since
2015, the representative of Zhongshan Haitao allowed and/
or acquiesced the then plant manager in the arrangement
of employees to discharge unprocessed sewage and
sludge through concealed pipes and modified the online
monitoring data. Therefore, Zhongshan Haitao was
convicted of the environmental pollution offence. The
management of Zhongshan Haitao acknowledged that the
concealed pipes were arranged by the then plant manager
who authorised and arranged employees to carry out
the process. Zhongshan Haitao and the Group were not
aware of the illegal discharge of unprocessed sewage and
sludge through concealed pipes and the modification of the
online monitoring data. The relevant government authority
has completely dismantled the concealed pipes and the
clear water pipes used to inject clean water to dilute the
sewage and interfere with the online monitoring data. The
investigation results showed that Zhongshan Haitao did
illegally discharge sewage and sludge and interfered with
the online monitoring data. However, there was insufficient
information to ascertain the volume of sewage and sludge
Zhongshan Haitao had discharged at the material times
and the amount of online monitoring data being modified
or to quantify the relevant impact on the Group’s financial
statements as a whole.
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6.

INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

(c)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Haitao
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Haitao”) by the local government authority
in the PRC

In October 2018, the Ministry of Ecology and Environment
of the PRC made allegations against Guangzhou Haitao for
illegal disposal of sludge, the deliberate non-performance
of certain procedures when providing sludge treatment
services and suspected forgery of the seals of state
authorities.

Guangzhou Haitao was alleged for having received sludge
in excess of its treatment capacity and has deliberately
excluded certain procedures when providing sludge
treatment services in order to reduce costs. It was also
alleged that since 2016, through collusion with other
wastewater treatment plants, Guangzhou Haitao had
provided false data for the purpose of claiming local
government subsidies.

The allegations were investigated by the relevant local
government authority in the PRC. In the meantime,
Guangzhou Haitao paid administrative penalties and
performed certain remedial work as required by the relevant
environmental protection bureau. Certain books and records
were seized by the local government authority for the
purpose of conducting an investigation on the matter and
RMB75,000,000 (equivalent to HK$85,598,000) was paid to
the local government authority, the recoverability of which
will be subject to the outcome of the investigation and
subsequent court decision.
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6. INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

(c)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Haitao
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Haitao”) by the local government authority
in the PRC (Cont’d)

On 23 April 2019, EREEMN ™ A RMEER filed a bill
of indictment against Guangzhou Haitao, certain senior
management members of Guangzhou Haitao, Mr. Tsui and
Mr. Xu Shubiao, a former director alleging that they had
committed certain criminal offences, including the deliberate
non-performance of certain procedures when providing
sludge treatment services, and disposing of sludge
illegally in various cities in Guangdong and fabrication
and falsification of certain contracts and other documents
during the period from 1 January 2016 to 31 March 2018.
According to the bill of indictment, amongst others,
Guangzhou Haitao was accused of having recognised
sludge treatment service fee income of RMB174,261,000
(equivalent to HK$198,884,000) but without completing
all necessary sludge treatment procedures and disposed
of the sludge illegally during the period from 1 January
2016 to 31 March 2018. In addition, Guangzhou Haitao
was also charged for the issuance of false documents for
claiming environmental subsidy totalling RMB7,770,000
(equivalent to HK$8,868,000) illegally and receiving illegal
sludge treatment service fee of RMB9,051,000 (equivalent
to HK$10,330,000). The court hearing has been conducted.
However, up to the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, no judgment has been made by the
relevant court.
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6.

INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

(c)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Haitao
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Haitao”) by the local government authority
in the PRC (Cont’d)

Findings of the investigation
Suspected forgery of seals of state authorities

The seals of state authorities were found in a co-working
space which is a common area that can be accessed
by personnel of the Group and by employees of a non-
listed affiliated company. Therefore, it is hard to ascertain
which party held or owned the forged official seals at the
time when they were found on spot. The statement of
claim issued by the People’s Procuratorate of Guangzhou
City, Guangdong Province (the “Procuratorate”) showed
that neither Guangzhou Haitao nor the Company was
prosecuted for forging official seals of the state authorities.

In light of the abovementioned and relevant prima facie
evidence, there is no concrete evidence to prove that
Guangzhou Haitao and the Company were involved in
forging the seals of state authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

6. INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

(c)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Haitao
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Haitao”) by the local government authority
in the PRC (Cont’d)

Findings of the investigation (Cont’d)

Deliberate non-performance of certain procedures when
providing sludge treatment services and disposing of sludge
illegally

The management stated that Guangzhou Haitao adopted
another sludge treatment process (the “Adopted Process”)
which shortened the time required for sludge processing
and increased efficiency. The Adopted Process is included
in the “Sludge Disposal Technology Policy and Guidelines”
issued by the State as a permitted sludge treatment
process. According to the industry expert engaged in
the investigation, the State has no unified process for
sludge disposal and the requirements of sludge treatment
process vary according to the ultimate use of the sludge.
The treatment plant shall determine the most appropriate
treatment process depending on the sludge itself. According
to the legal advisor of Guangzhou Haitao, the accusation of
environmental pollution offence is unfounded as the sludge
disposed of by Guangzhou Haitao was anaerobic nutrient
soil, which met the standards of agricultural sludge and
would not lead to environmental pollution. The dumping site
contained sludge other than Guangzhou Haitao’s, and other
third parties who piled up construction waste at the same
location. Notwithstanding Guangzhou Haitao changed the
sludge treatment process, there was not enough prima facie
evidence to support that the sludge treatment process and
procedures of Guangzhou Haitao are inappropriate which
led to the ligitation.
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6.

INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

(c)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Haitao
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Haitao”) by the local government authority
in the PRC (Cont’d)

Findings of the investigation (Cont’d)

Issuance of false documents for claiming environmental
subsidy totalling RMB7,770,000

The management of Guangzhou Haitao confirmed that
Guangzhou Haitao had collaborated with its customers
(the “Zhengcheng Sewage Plants”) to manipulate the
sludge treatment volume. According to findings of the
investigation, the Zhengcheng Sewage Plants requested
Guangzhou Haitao to manipulate the sludge treatment
volume by informing Guangzhou Haitao the volume to be
recorded and Guangzhou Haitao would then produce the
related records for the Zhengcheng Sewage Plants. The
management of Guangzhou Haitao stated that they were
unclear about how the amount of RMB7,770,000 (equivalent
to HK$8,868,000) was calculated. According to the industry
expert, the environmental protection subsidy was paid by
the government to the Zhengcheng Sewage Plants directly
but not paid to Guangzhou Haitao.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

6. INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

(c)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Haitao
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Haitao”) by the local government authority
in the PRC (Cont’d)

Findings of the investigation (Cont’d)

Receiving illegal sludge treatment service fee of
RMB9,051,000

Guangzhou Haitao together with a third party (the “Third
Party”) signed two contracts with the local government
authority in providing river dredging, sludge transportation
and disposal, and river maintenance services for the Yonghe
River in Zengcheng District of Guangzhou City for three
years. The contract sum was RMB47,605,000 (equivalent
to HK$54,332,000). The management of Guangzhou
Haitao stated that the purpose and scope of the project
were mainly the river excavation and dredging and sludge
disposal is not the main service required. Guangzhou
Haitao did not weigh the sludge dredged from the river as
there was no such requirements stated in the contracts.
In order to meet the additional requirements subsequently
added for processing of payment by the local government,
Guangzhou Haitao estimated the amount of sludge
dredged and then prepared the “Weighing List” which
was subsequently stated in the indictment as fabricated
documents. Guangzhou Haitao changed the sludge
treatment process to the Adopted Process as Guangzhou
Haitao believed that the river sludge could be treated by
the Adopted Process. However, Guangzhou Haitao did not
report to the local government in advance about the change
in the treatment process. The management of Guangzhou
Haitao stated that Guangzhou Haitao has no intention to
deceive the other parties under the contract and the breach
of contracts is of civil in nature instead of a criminal offence.
According to the investigation result, the local government
paid the Third Party a sum of RMB33,323,000 (equivalent
to HK$38,032,000). After deducting of management fee, tax
and other costs, the Third Party paid Guangzhou Haitao a
total sum of RMB30,629,000 (equivalent to HK$34,957,000)
under the contracts.
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6.

INDICTMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE
GROUP AND INVESTIGATIONS (Cont’d)

(c)

Legal proceedings against Guangzhou Haitao
Environmental Protection Technology Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Haitao”) by the local government authority
in the PRC (Cont’d)

Given the above circumstances and that certain books and
records of Guangzhou Haitao for the current and previous
years were seized by the local government authority
for investigation purpose and were not accessible and
that Mr. Tsui and certain senior management and staff
members of certain subsidiaries were either arrested in
2018 and charged for, amongst others, the fabrication
and falsification of certain contracts and other documents
or had left the Group and were not contactable, the
present directors have not been able to obtain sufficient
documentary evidence, information and explanations to
satisfy themselves regarding the reliability, completeness
and accuracy of the books and records of these subsidiaries
for the current and previous years and whether there are
any fraudulently recorded or unrecorded transactions or
liabilities for the year ended and as at 31 December 2018.
The financial information of the above subsidiaries including,
amongst others, revenue of HK$187,562,000 and loss
of HK$671,726,000 was consolidated into the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018. The former directors and certain senior
management members also took managerial role in other
subsidiaries in the current and previous years. As a result,
the present directors were also unable to represent the
completeness and accuracy of the financial information of
these other subsidiaries.

Details of other ligitations in which the Group was a party
are disclosed in note 49.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks,
namely, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

(a)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk
as most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in HK$ and Renminbi (“RMB”),
that is, the functional currency of the Company and of the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries respectively. However, as the
principal subsidiaries mainly carries out transactions in
RMB, therefore, any appreciation or depreciation of HK$
against RMB will affect the Group’s financial positions and
be reflected in exchange reserve. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation
to its trade and other receivables, contract assets, loan
receivables and cash deposits at banks. The carrying
amounts of trade and other receivables, contract assets,
loan receivables, cash and cash equivalents and restricted
cash represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk
associated with cash deposits at banks since they are
substantially deposited at state-owned banks and other
medium or large-sized listed banks. Management does not
expect that there will be any significant losses from non-
performance by these counterparties.

For trade receivables, contract assets and other receivables,
including the amounts due from Mr. Tsui and the entities
controlled by him, the Group has monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability
of these receivables at the end of each reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as
at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

° credit rating;

° actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
customer’s ability to meet its obligations;

° actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the debtor/customer;

° significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the customer, including changes in the
payment status of customer in the Group and changes
in the operating results of the customer.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Credit risk (Cont’d)

()

Other receivables

The credit risk of other receivables, including the
amount due from Mr. Tsui, amounts due from entities
controlled by Mr. Tsui and amounts due from other
related companies, are managed through internal
process of the Group. The Group actively monitors
the outstanding amounts owned by each debtor and
identifies any credit risk in a timely manner in order
to reduce the risk of a credit related loss. In addition,
the Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately
providing for expected credit losses. In calculating
the expected credit loss rates, the Group considers
historical loss rates for each category of receivables
and adjusts for forward looking macroeconomic data.

Details of the amount due from Mr. Tsui and the
amounts due from companies controlled by Mr. Tsui
are set out in notes 29(f) and 29(g) respectively. At the
end of the reporting period, the present directors of
the Company have assessed the financial conditions
of these debtors, and took appropriate action where it
was concluded that there has been significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition of the amounts
due from Mr. Tsui and entities controlled by him.
Accordingly, the loss allowance for these receivables is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.
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e MBRRNE (&

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Credit risk (Cont’d)

()

Other receivables (Cont’d)

In assessing the probability of defaults of the
amounts due from Mr. Tsui and entities controlled
by him, the management has taken into account the
financial position of the counterparties as well as
forward looking information that is available without
undue cost of effort. Since the counterparties have
financial difficulties with high level of debt and have
defaulted the repayments to their other creditors,
the management considered that the recoverability
of these receivables is remote and fully impaired the
outstanding amounts without subsequent settlement.

for the year ended 31 December 2018
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Credit risk (Cont’d)

(i)

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables and contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables and contract assets have been grouped
based on aging. For trade receivables relating to
accounts which are long overdue with significant
amounts, known insolvencies or non-response to
collection activities, they are assessed individually for
impairment loss.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales and the corresponding historical
credit losses experienced. The historical loss rates
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
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(b) Credit risk (Cont’d)

(i)

for the year ended 31 December 2018
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 7. SHEREEREMIENATF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) 15 (&)
b) EERK (&)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Cont’d) (i) BZERFEREHNE
E (&
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December BRIEEEE RZZE—N
2018 was determined as follows for trade receivables F+-ZH=+—HmME
and contract assets: SEWFEEENER
BEWUT:
Contract asset Trade receivables
AHEE EAkYRE
Days past due Days past due
PN | PN
Current Current 1-90days  91-360 days Over 1 year Total
L] ] 1290A 9123607 BB-£ F )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fén TEn Thn T TEn Tn
31 December 2018 Z2-\EtZR=1-H
Provision on indliiclual basis EREHEEZ G
Expected loss rate ROEEE 10% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 69.6%
(Gross carrying amount FHELE 77,459 581 2563 14517 96,829 251,949
Loss allowance BERG 175 581 2563 14517 96,829 175,265
Provision on collective basis ERAFEEZ
Expected loss rate REpEE 00% 20% 31% 6.0% 27.2% 25%
(Gross camying amount KHESE 259,808 143,024 60,612 38,030 21,091 515,565
Loss allowance FERE - 2,860 2250 2,282 5,745 13,187
Trade receivables are written off when there is no ELREFEESEA Y ETE
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that HARE - i SH B 5 R
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, B AFEATREIMNE
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to agree a EBEEPSFREE (EH

repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make
contractual payments for a period of greater than 3
years past due without positive response to collection
activities.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract
assets are presented as impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the same line
item.
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7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 7. SHEAREERCMIANAT
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) B (#&)
(b) Credit risk (Cont’d) (b) EERM (&)
Trade receivables FEWE 55 H
Prior to 1 January 2018 R=ZF—N\F—A—H5A
Prior to 1 January 2018, an impairment loss was recognised R-ZB-NHFE—-—HA—H2
only when there was objective evidence of impairment. At AAEBEERERZEBEE
31 December 2017, trade receivables of HK$33,907,000 XEFEERBEDRESTER
was determined to be impaired. The aging analysis of trade BEEBR R-E—tF+=
debtors that were not considered to be impaired was as B=+—H EWEZNKE
follows: 33,907,00058 ;t & HE A 8
B-HABRBRENESE
BAWRR AT :
2017
—E—tF
HK$’000
FET
Neither past due nor impaired BE R B EA 78 RORLE 362,572
Less than 3 months past due HEA3E A LA 161,362
Over 3 months but within 1 year past due BHZR=EAE—FR 152,807
676,741

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related
to a wide range of customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to
a number of local governments authorities and industrial
entities in the PRC that had a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, management believed
that no impairment allowance was necessary in respect of
these balances as there had been no significant change in
credit quality and the balances were still considered fully
recoverable.

I #3802 75 RO K FE UK TR
B R RIE R ERNE P
BE-

B HAE i RORE A FE WK TR
BEENFAEEERERZC
SFE P EE TR R T
ERAE-ENBELR A
MMEEERWEEANE A
BOEKAT2EKE &2
BRBBAMZEHRETRE
BEE-
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 7. SHEREEREMIAENAT
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) B (4%&)
Credit risk (Cont’d) b) SERR (&)
Trade receivables (Cont’d) BWEZE (&)
Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of FRAEHEEWEZFEZER
trade receivables during the year are as follows: RIEEREENT :
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
At 31 December under HKAS 39 RIETBETER 53958
R+=—BA=+—H 33,907 33,354
Impact on initial application of HAEREBMEREEAL
HKFRS 9 (note 5) FE 22 E (MFE5) - =
Adjusted balance at 1 January R—A—BzRAREE 33,907 33,354
Impairment losses recognised FRBRAZBEERE
for the year 162,267 7,522
Reversals e (1,274) (9,248)
Exchange differences B 5 E5E (7,273) 2,279
At 31 December R+=ZB=+—H 187,627 33,907

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had concentration
of credit risk as 64.0% (2017: 38.7%) of the total trade
receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer and
67.9% (2017: 44.9%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group’s five largest customers.

(i) The Group does not provide any other guarantees
which would expose the Group to credit risk.

RZBE-NE+ZA=+—
B A&EEHEEEESE+TR
B EAEKRE ZREHR
B 264.0% (ZZ2— Lt F:
38.7% ) AW AEE Z &
REF MEWRE S HREH
BB 267.9% (ZZE—t&F:
449% ) AEWAEB R RE
)Eo

i) AEBAWIBHRIGS
EEESEHAR A
fTEA R -
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short term investment of cash surpluses and raising
of loans to cover cash demands, subject to approval
by the Company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay.

7. CHEAREEREGMIANRTFE
' (%)

(c)

REBE S A

REBAENKEEREASS
HAGNEEER BELR
TRBREERRE URES
ERLUREHAPREFR M
E 18 FUE B L AV K
FAARESEALARESS
HE-AEBMzBRERERE
ZEARRPNADESTER
URHEBFREREHEZER
LIRS R R SRR
TERSHEBIG T ENEAE
B mERPRRBZR
PBEESFE-

TRFAJREBHFITES R
BEZRBESHNEY  DHRE
REBABRNRFEBHES
TRMEERBRARERER
o

On demand
or Total
less than Between Between Over undiscounted Carrying
1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5years cash flows amount
REHR

SRE 122F 2Z58 BB5E REREAE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TERT TERT TERT TET TET

At 31 December 2018 RZB-N%

t=A=t-H
Bank loans RITER 2,795,108 - - - 2795108 2,795,108
Other borrowings HifE 212,296 - - - 212,296 212,296
Trade and other payables B REMERTE 606,383 - - - 606,383 606,383
Deposits received for disposal  HEMBAHzBWiRE

of subsidiaries 415,342 - - - 415,342 415,342
Dividend payable ERARE 60,641 - - - 60,641 60,641
4,089,770 - - - 4,089,770 4,089,770

At 31 December 2017 RZBE—tE

+ZA=1+-H

Bank loans BITEX 1,958,915 275,184 811,181 526,761 3,572,041 3,461,859
Trade and other payables ESREMENTRE 832,890 - - - 832,890 832,890
2,791,805 275,184 811,181 526,761 4,404,931 4,294,749




7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 7.

FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(d)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank
loans issued at variable rates, which expose the Group to

cash flow interest rate risk.

e MBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE=F—/\F+=A=+—HILFE

SHAREERSMIENAT
(%)

(d) F=EE
AEENFEZEABEEREE

RN RBHNVRTERNR &£
AEBEKRRERFIREE

Interest rate profile FIE B
The following table details the interest rate profile of the TRELAEERFERR 2
Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting period: ERFZEEN
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—LF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate rate
BRF= BRI
% HK$’000 % HK$’000
THET TER
Fixed rate borrowings: EEB:
Bank loans BITERK - - 4.35 23,926
Other borrowings HE® 0.0 - 30.0 212,296 = =
B%0.02
30.0
212,296 23,926
Variable rate borrowings: FEER:
Bank loans RITER 3.70 - 6.37 2,795,108 2.08 - 6.37 3,437,933
BEIT0E BF2.08%F
6.37 6.37
Total borrowings BREH 3,007,404 3,461,859
Fixed rate borrowings as a EERERIERERZ
percentage of total borrowings Batt 71% 0.7%
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2018, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease 100 basis points in interest rates, with
all other variables held constant, would have increased/
decreased the Group’s loss after tax for the year by
approximately HK$27,608,000, mainly as a result of higher
finance costs on bank loans. The impact on the Group’s
loss after tax is estimated as an annualised impact on
interest expense of such a change in interest rates. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2017.

As at 31 December 2017, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease 100 basis points in interest rates, with
all other variables held constant, would have decreased/
increased the Group’s profit after tax for the year by
approximately HK$30,904,000, mainly as a result of higher
finance costs on bank loans. The impact on the Group’s
profit after tax is estimated as an annualised impact on
interest expense of such a change in interest rates.

Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position approximate their respective fair values.

7. CHEAREEREGMIANRTFE
' (%)

(d)

(e)

FEEb (&)

R=F-NF+=A=+—
B AstREELRES,RE
1002 % M EEMEE
REFAE AREBFAN
BB EBEASEM RS H
27,608,000/ T F EHNR
TEFRRAIEINFTE - BEEF
ZEHEAEBERBEEEN
FEGTAHANNERINE
tEE - BEASMIIRE_E
—tFERNERETON

A _E—tF+ZA=1+—
B Azt REELBES,RE
1002 % W EEMmEE
REFEFE AREBFAN
BRBEBERNAG D,
30,904,000/ 7T T EHRR
TERKAEME - BRER
ZEBHEAREBERBEENH
SEGHABTNERINEL
B4R,

AFE
R BRI 2 2

SETREENRERBEZR
EEREE B2 FEESE-



7.

8.

)

(a)

FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF 7. SHEREEREMIENATF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) 1B (%)
Financial Instruments by Category H REHEPZERMTE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET
Financial assets ERMEE
At amortised cost /7% £ ) OIN
- Trade and other receivables -EBZKREMEWFIE 449,940 1,876,839
- Bank and cash balances —RITRREEH 273,124 610,947
723,064 2,487,786
Financial liabilities ol =R
At amortised cost b7 £1-0 N
— Bank loans —RITER 2,795,108 3,461,859
- Trade and other payables —-EBS5REMENRIE 606,383 832,890
— Other borrowings —Hib AR 212,296 -
— Deposits received for disposal of —HEMNBARZE KRS
subsidiaries 415,342 -
- Dividend payable -EARE 60,641 -
4,089,770 4,294,749
REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. WHEDEIBER
Revenue (a) Wz
()  Disaggregation of revenue ) WzE5
Revenue represents the revenue from the supply of KRIEREHETEA
industrial water, the provision of wastewater treatment IKNIBESTKEIERE
plants operation services, heating and electricity EERKE HANRE
generation services, sludge and solid waste treatment R -SRREREY
services, hazardous waste treatment services, BOT BERY EREYE
project construction services, BOT project operation B AR# -BOTIE B #:% iR
services and finance income. 7% BOTIE B £ ERBE KR

BMEWNA o
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8.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d) 8.

(a) Revenue (Cont’d)

(0

Disaggregation of revenue (Cont’d)

WERESEHER (H)

(a) Wz (&)

() Yz (&)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with EREGEINEFE
customers by service lines is as follows: HWEE DT :
2018 2017
—B2-NF —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Revenue from contracts with & & B #§ 3% & 2 B 551555
customers within the scope BEEANEFESHNRE
by HKFRS 15
Recognised at a point in time KR — 5 Z#:T
Disaggregation by service lines  ZR 45 &%
- Revenue from supply of —ETERKz KGR
industrial water 48,210 67,479
- Revenue from provision of - RS KEER I EERE
wastewater treatment plants Z W
operation services 268,688 557,015
- Revenue from BOT project - BOTEHE EERK 2 W&
operation services 40,582 35,255
- Revenue from provision of - UMUK BERE 2 WE
heating and electricity
generation services 177,202 198,097
- Revenue from provision of —-RESEREREYER
sludge and solid waste BR 7% = U &
treatment services 320,669 532,523
- Revenue from provision of — IR EE Y R IR AR A
hazardous waste treatment Z W
services 281,578 471,112
1,136,929 1,861,481
Recognised over time BERF R TR
- Construction revenue arising  —RBBOTZH 2 EE K
from BOT arrangement - 222,962
1,136,929 2,084,443
Income from other sources H iR A
Recognised over time BE RS B fE A7
- Finance income —@EWA 16,069 14,655

1,152,998

2,099,098
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(a)

Revenue (Cont’d)

(i)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future

8.

e MBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE=F—/\F+=A=+—HILFE

WEESHER (H)
(a) Wz (&)

(i) REEAHFEHEFES

arising from contracts with customers in existence at BREL T HEMSE
the reporting date B FRHY Y 722
The aggregated amounts of transaction price allocated RBEHRAR 2BMER
to the remaining performance obligations under the SEEREESHNETEIER
Group’s existing contracts at the end of the reporting BHEENRZEKE
period are as follows: ER I
2018 2017
—B-N\F —E-+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TR
Expected to be recognised Fit—FABRIARK
within one year 49,561 71,189
Expected to be recognised it —FERERAR
after one year 614,805 634,449

664,366 705,638
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8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(b)

Segment reporting

The Group manages its business by divisions, which
are organised by business lines. In a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally
to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has presented the following 6
reportable segments. No operating segments have been
aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

1)  Supply of industrial water: this segment supplies
industrial water

2) Provision of wastewater treatment plants operation
services: this segment operates wastewater treatment
plants under Build-Own-Operate (“BOQ”) arrangement

3) BOT project construction and operation services: this
segment constructs and operates wastewater and
solid waste treatment plants under Build-Operate-
Transfer (“BOT”) arrangement to generate revenue
from construction, operation services and finance
income

4)  Provision of heating services and electricity generation:
this segment provides heating services and electricity
generation

5)  Provision of sludge and solid waste treatment services:
this segment provides sludge and solid waste
treatment services

6) Provision of hazardous waste treatment services: this
segment provides hazardous waste treatment services

8. WHEEISMER (&)

(b)

DEW2H

REEIZEF (XK A
B EEER AEEZER
BERDERRRT A O ANEE
BRETHREEAERNIMZHRE
BAEX WA 2FIUT
618 7] 2 2 &5 B[
REDEER BT H A

EE bk

1) HEIZERAK: DM
AT E MK

2) REBSKEBRRIR
EERD o MR
BEER-BR-EE
(IBOO J) ZHE & ITK
BRERE

3) BOTEHEBEZXRKEEMR
By BMARBEER—
£E-BX([BOT]) %
FERREETKRE
EEVMEERE LA
R EERBARR
BWAEE WS

4 REHRBBBEREE:
It B 12 1R A B BR 75 K%

5) REFSERERENRE
HER®: Lo MRS
e X [ 58 BE W) Bz ¥ AR 7%

6) REBEREYEER
oo AR IR T R R
V) 52 32 AR 75
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8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(b)

Segment reporting (Cont’d)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results attributable to
each reportable segment on the following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments. However,
other than reporting inter-segment sales of wastewater
treatment plants operation services, sludge and solid waste
treatment services and hazardous waste treatment services,
assistance provided by one segment to another, including
sharing of assets, is not measured.

The Group’s senior executive management is provided
with segment information concerning segment revenue and
profit. Segment assets and liabilities are not reported to the
Group’s senior executive management regularly.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted
EBITDA” that is, “adjusted earnings before share of
profits of associates and a joint venture, finance costs,
taxes, interest income, depreciation and amortisation,
impairment losses on non-current non-monetary assets,
gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net foreign exchange gain/
(loss)”. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA the Group’s earnings
are further adjusted for items not specifically attributed to
individual segments, such as directors’ remuneration and
other head office or corporate administration costs.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as
provided to the Group’s most senior executive management
for the purposes of resources allocation and assessment
of segment performance for the year ended 31 December
2018 and 2017 is set out below.

e MBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE=F—/\F+=A=+—HILFE

8. WHEEISMER (&)

(b)

DE2E (A)

DESEE BERERE

RTHEDBRERDEDH
BeER ARERSTHE
BABRUTEEERZAZ
HoEBEMEZEE:

W RFAXII2EZZZ DB
EEZHERZSDBRMEE
ZRAXHZE D BEIEEEN
B EE o iR D
BLE AR & 2 2B o A - BRER
EEKREREEBRS 5
e X Bl 58 BE Y] B 1R AR A5 LA K &
PR RV R IR RS 2 0 BRI SHE
S WEETE —E ARG 5 —
B &Rtz HBh (BIEHA
BE) -

FEERSITHREEASER
BED AWK BN 275 B E
BenHEERBBILIFED
BAKERSITHREEAER
g

ARBEDHEFNTETR
B A BEBITDA | B[k
AR hEBEEATR—RE
ERENER BMERE B
EHFIEWAITE RS-
FRBIEREENRES
BE-HENBRAANKRER
EXE (FE)FEAN
FAREBR | -BEFFEE
EBITDA A&EBE 2 B F| T3 ¥
W ARIEEERBRER 5 2B 218
BEHE—SHAE MEEH
B % L fth 48 3B 2K 1 24T BURK
ZIKO

BEZ-\ER-ZE—tF
+TZA=t—HLEFEAEE
BETHEBAERERDE
RoEBEEFTATIRM T2
WoHEE2ERERIOT
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d) 8. WHRDTHMER (&)
Segment reporting (Cont’d) (b) D2 (F)
Provision of BOT Provision
wastewater project Provision of sludge  Provision of
treatment  construction of heating and solid  hazardous
Supply plants and  services and waste waste
of industrial operation operation electricity ~ treatment treatment
water services services  generation services services  Unallocated Total
RE5K  BOTER RESER  RERR
HE RERE BRR  Rita  BEREEM 0 BUEER
IERKX  BERE  EERE  BEREE  RERE it AOR 45
For the year ended HECS-\ET2A=1-R  HKS000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000

31 December 2018 LEE Tn TR T ThR TEn T#r THR TR
Revenue from external customers  REAZFH) 48,210 268,688 56,651 177,202 320,669 281,578 - 1,152,998
Inter-segment revenue AHENE - 66,766 - - 27,631 14,303 - 108,700
Reportable segment revenue T2 PhE 48,210 335,454 56,651 177,202 348,300 295,881 - 1,261,698
Reportable segment profit/(loss) T2 KA %/ (FE)

(adjusted EBITDA) (W= %EBITDA) (10,584) (115,706) 4,222 28,082 (3,358) (66,953) (62,684) (226,981)
Share of profits of associates MEBE DR - - - - - 1,378 - 1,378
Share of loss of ajoint venture ~~ AE—FAELEEE - (2,825) - - - - - (2,825)
Depreciation and amortisation for  FRFEREH

the year (12639 (104226) G79) (2220 (100562  (86,809) (1025  (333.269)
Impairment losses on goodwill ~ EE 2 EFE (27,389) (33,530) - - (72,664) (34,813) - (168,390)
Impairment losses on property, 1% BERRfE2HERE

plant and equipment B45T8  (620,330) O51) (0954 (1012019 (77070 (19333  (1,886,135)
Impairment losses on intangible £ & & 2 HEFR

assels (M507 (8316 (309,602 - 6Ty (62434 - (55
Impairment losses on HERNFEZAESE

lease prepayments - (5,453) - - (34,032 - - (39,485)
Impairment losses on BUEZHERANER L

trade receivables and HEFE

contract assefs (15287 (59,9%9) (5,939) 0263 (4798 (23620) - (161,7%)
Impairment loss on prepayments BB BERRER

for purchase of property, RERAREZRNREL

plant and equipment and WEFE

lease prepayments - (55,882) - - 45,165) - (7,294) (108,341)
Impairment losses on other AfREWER

receivables and prepayments BHFEZHELE - (82,274) (15,588) (2,263) (23,940) (4470) (16,350)  (144,804)
Impairment losses on interestina 4= *Aﬁéﬁ%ﬂ%z

joint venture i - (925) - - - - - (925)
Impairment losses on payments for W%WE’MZT T2 HEFE

acquisition of subsidiaries ) - - - - - - (40,232) (24,258) (64,490)
Impairment loss on amount due AT ESHEZHERE

from a former director - - - - - - (245,300) (245,300)
Impairment loss on amounts due ~ BUE EZEH ATHEL

from companies controled bya ~ BEEE

former director - - - - - - (28,331) (28,331)
Impairment loss on consideration  H&E~FHEAT 2

receivable from disposal of EUREZRERSE

a subsidiary - - - - - - (45,198) (45,198)
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for the year ended 31 December 2018

HE=F—/\F+=A=+—FAILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d) 8. WHERSEER (4#)
Segment reporting (Cont’d) (b) 2R (EF)
Provision of Provision
wastewater Provision of sludge  Provision of
treatment  BOT project of heating and solid hazardous
Supply plants  construction  services and waste waste
of industrial operation and operation electricity treatment treatment
water services services  generation services services  Unallocated Total
RSk BOTER RIDSER  RERR
e EERE BRE  RUME EREM  BNER
TRk LERK EERE  REREE EERHB it AAE 4E
For the year ended BE-Z-tEtZR=1-A HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

31 December 2017 (Restated) L[ (£E5I) TiEn TiEn TiEn Thn TiEn Tin TiEn TiEn
Revenue from external customers R EMI% Bl 67,479 567,015 272872 198,097 532,523 471,112 - 2,009,098
Inter-segment revenue ABELE - 95,004 - - 52213 10446 - 158,563
Reportable segment revenue W 2HAT K 67,479 652,919 212,872 198,097 584,736 481,558 - 2,257,661
Reportable segment profit/(loss) T2 KA HEH / (FE)

(adjusted EBITDA) (FZAEBITDA) 56,276 480,326 60,827 81,733 181,466 264,120 (43,788) 1,080,960
Share of profits of associates MEBELF 2R - - - - - 1333 - 1333
Share of profit of ajoint venture ~ AE—FAELE 2R - 362 - - - - - 362
Depreciation and amortisation ~ FRAFERES

for the year (13,198) (94,618) (658) (6,211) (11,675) (85,936) - (272,29)
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries  HEHEA 2 W& - 66,060 - - - 348 - 66,408
Impairment losses on EVEEZRERE

intangible assets - - - - (8,325) - - (8,325)

The Group’s revenue included revenue of HK$52,479,000
of two subsidiaries namely Guangzhou Kaizhou and
Guangzhou Xintao derived from the provision of wastewater
treatment plant operation services, the provision of heating
services and the electricity generation business. Guangzhou
Kaizhou and Guangzhou Xintao ceased their business
operations in the current year. A substantial portion
of these revenue were not substantiated with relevant
supporting documents including value added tax invoices
while almost all of these revenue were without subsequent
settlements. These, together with other long outstanding
trade receivables brought forward from previous years, were
assessed to be impaired by the present directors and a
provision for impairment loss of RMB44,375,000 (equivalent
to HK$52,509,000) was charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
2018.

AEENRRZDEREMEL
7 (EPE M SN & E M F58)
RS K B R & E RS LA
12 {H ZBR 75 Ke B | K
EE R E52,479,00058 T ©
E N S B N 37 08 R AN R
ERIEEEREE KD
S A LR A
(BRI EREEZ)BE  mE
KO ZEWATEEHLE
HEE - ZEHEERBAFE
LENEMREHREEZEEZES
BRREHREESTIMLE
ERE TREBEE-Z—-N\5F
+ZA=+—-BLEEEZLH
CEZRIBRESERE
AR #44,375,0007T (FE R
52,509,000 JT ) °
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8.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(b)

Segment reporting (Cont’d)

The Group’s revenue also included revenue of
HK$282,963,000 of another subsidiary namely Guangzhou
Lvyou. Guangzhou Lvyou had trade receivable of
HK$104,693,000 as at 31 December 2018. Guangzhou
Lvyou recognized revenue and trade receivables upon
receiving hazardous waste from its customers without
taking into account the performance obligations under the
contracts with customers. As at 31 December 2018, certain
hazardous waste received from the customers were kept
by Guangzhou Lvyou at its plant without being processed
all the necessary treatment services. However, revenue was
fully recognized in respect of these hazardous waste for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

As there were insufficient supporting documents, the
present directors were unable to quantify the financial effect
of this cut off error and no adjustments to the revenue
recognized were made to these consolidated financial
statements.

8.

WERESEHER (H)

(b)

DE2E (A)

AEBzRBETIBEBES —
EHBLARABEMBEE 2K
#£282,963,0008 T R =
E-NE+ZA=+—8"
EMNEHRcERESRES
104,693,000 T ° & MM £ A
REEEFWEEREYE
BRAUEREKRE S RE
WEAREFENETZE
HWEFE-R=FB—NE+=A
=t+—-H EMSBREERE
REBEFWENE T RREE
¥ M EETHELBENE
BR&E -Am BE=ZF—N
F+_A=+—RHIEE B
MZERBEYBEER

3¢
m ©

HRBANAHRR HEEE
EREECHBHER 2V
FE HUBHZEREUR
BREHWDER 2B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(b)

Segment reporting (Cont’d)

(0

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE—F—)\Ft=A=1—HILFE

8. WHEEISMER (&)
(b) ZDEE2H (&)

Reconciliations of reportable segment profits () A2 EEFE R
2018 2017
—EB-N\F —E—+tF
(Re_stated;
(&7
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
M £ TET TET
Reportable segment (loss)/profit A2HH M (FE)
/ﬁﬂ o (226,981) 1,080,960
Elimination of inter-segment profits 73 &5 f&] & 7 ¥ 84 = 4,084)
Reportable segment (loss)/profit REAEENFEFH
derived from the Group’s A 2385 & Al
external customers (226,981) 1,076,876
Share of profits of associates ,378 1,333
Share of (losses)/profits of DR E N BE A
a joint venture —RRELEN
_ (BB wAl (2,825) 362
Finance costs A& R AR 12(a) (242,286) (124,780)
Interest income | E WA 9 13,647 11,627
Depreciation and amortisation TEREHE 12(c) (333,288) (272,296)
Impairment losses on B EEZRERSE
intangible assets . (521,538) (8,325)
Impairment losses on goodwill AEz BEEE (168,390) =
Impairment losses on property, ME- -BENZEZ
plant and equipment HERBE (1,886,135) =
Impairment losses on lease MERNREZ
prepayments REEE (39,485) -
Impairment loss on amounts due WA ESMIEZ
from a former director BEEE (245,300 -
Impairment losses on amounts due BRI =2 E >
from companies controlled NERBZREER
by a former director L (28,331) =
Impairment loss on interest in REELE s EE Y
a joint venture B 5 (925) -
Impairment loss on payments for WEEHE A R 22
acquisition of subsidiaries HEREE (64,490) -
Impairment loss on consideration HE—ZWEHAE 2k
receivable from disposal of a WREZREEE
subsidiary B N (45,198) =
Impairment loss on prepayments BENE BERSRE
for purchase of property, REERTNE L
plant and equipment and BARIEZREREE
lease prepayments . y (108,341) -
Impairment loss on amount FEWBAE 1 B (Y FEH
due from related companies GaREEE)
(not controlled by Mr. Tsui) HEZBEEE (4,141) -
Impairment loss on prepayment for ~ ZE LB THIEZ
construction work BEERE (31,796) =
Impairment loss on prepayment for & + 8 FEZ
purchase of land HEESE (15,759) =
Impairment loss on interest receivable FEY R E 2 i EE 1 (7,484) =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEME QRIS 10 - 66,408
Net foreign exchange gains RG] 10 14,739 20,741
Consolidated (loss)/profit before tax &R & BRBLAT
(&#'),/&F (3,942,929) 771,946
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mEMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE—F—)\Ft=A=1—HILFE

8.

9.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d) 8. WHERNSEMER (&)
(b) Segment reporting (Cont’d) (b) D2 (&)
(i) Information about major customers (i) BEHEEEFFZEH
The Group has transactions with the PRC local 7 £ (8] B B #h 5 BURE
government authorities (under common control from e (ZPEFRBF
the PRC central government) which in aggregate HEES)ETHORS
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue. Revenue from EHBBRAREEEEEE
the provision of wastewater treatment plants operation F10% - BZEZ-ZF— N\
services, BOT project construction and operation F+ZA=+—HLHF
services and provision of sludge and solid waste IERP == lE Rl
treatment services derived from local government B MoK EIR R EE
authorities in the PRC for the year ended 31 BERM BOTHEH #E%
December 2018 amounted to HK$133,153,000 (2017: K& E RS RIZETE
HK$376,673,000). Details of concentrations of credit K [ B8 RE W) B BB AR 7S 75
risk arising from customers are set out in note 7(b). RHIU A £133,153,000
B (-t &§:
376,673,000) ° KRB &
FrEHREERRKFSE
HNMEE7(D) ©
(i)  Geographic information (i)t EEF
Analysis of the Group’s revenue and assets by HRAEBRE KI5 U
geographical market has not been presented as BREEEERRNURA
substantially all of the Group’s revenue and assets are REIEA IR 25
generated and located in the PRC. AEBEZMETIS S D
NEXBEREED -
OTHER INCOME 9. H#gA
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Note (Restated)
Bt & (&%)
Government grants BB (a) 9,500 24,587
Value-added tax refund BERERB (b) 17,557 105,521
Interest income FE WA 13,647 11,627
Consultancy fees BHREE (© - 18,506
Land levelling services T it PR (d) 4,742 129,370
Others Hith 875 1,452

46,321

291,063




FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

OTHER INCOME (Cont’d)

Note

@)

Government grants represents various forms of incentives and
subsidies granted to the Group by the local government authorities in
the PRC.

The Group was entitled to value-added tax refund of HK$17,557,000
(2017: restated HK$105,521,000) during the year ended 31 December
2018 in relation to the provision of wastewater, sludge and solid waste
treatment services of the Group in the PRC. There were no unfulfilled
conditions and other contingencies attached to the receipts of such tax
refund.

In 2017, the Group entered into an agreement with two independent
parties in connection with the bidding of a construction project.
Pursuant to the agreement, these two parties agreed to pay one-off
consultancy fee amounting to HK$18,506,000 to the Group upon the
successful for bidding and sign-off of relevant project contracts. During
the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group has fulfilled the above
conditions.

For the project of Yulin (Fumian) Energy-Saving Environmental
Protection Industrial Park (“Yulin Industrial Park”), Yulin Xintao acts as
the overall representative for the local government authority to provide
agency services in their performance including, the appointment
and supervision of external construction contractors in land levelling
projects for local entities who subscribed for land use rights and who
are to build up and operate production plants in the Yulin Industrial
Park.

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE=F—/\F+=A=+—HILFE

Hittlg N\ (47)

B &t

(@)

BFHEBETEL S RERTAE
BrRFEAzRERE-

BE-Z—-\FE+ZA=+—HI1
FE AEBEREIAEENRPE
REHTK TRREEEYEIE
PR 75 I E B3R #17,557,00058 7T
(ZE—t 5 &£E%105,521,000
BT BN EZEERE
ZARERGHREMRAREIE -

R-ZE—tF FAEEHRBHR—E
ERBEEEMRBE LB L
EREHSE ULMXHERE
REWHPERZEEEBEEESY
BHAEBIN—IMERNER
18,506,000 T - HZ T —+tF
+ZA=+—BLEE REECD
ER ARG

REM(ER)BREBREXE
(TEMEXE]EB G EHHHE
fER 1T BUFHEIN AR R AR
BHORREHRERYE SELRE
THEAETEREMNEREER
REELERENEBEREMER
BEELHFEIRENIMIEERE
@]—o
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10. OTHER NET (LOSSES)/GAINS 10. Hith (&BH) WZFHE
2018 2017
—EB-N\F —E—LF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Note (Restated)
Bfd & (RBEH|)
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries & B A 7 # UKz 44 - 66,408
Net foreign exchange gains 0 5 U &R F R 14,739 20,741
(Loss)/gain on disposal of HEWE BERRE
property, plant and equipment (E51E) (1,390) 26
Loss on disposal of lease HEREREMNFIEZEIE
prepayments (@) (38,190) -
Penalty CIE (b) (106,340) (4,668)
Others Hith (7,788) (2,141)
(138,969) 80,366
Note: B &E
(@ On 19 October 2018, Qingyuan Lvyou entered into an agreement @ R=ZZF-NF+At+NB ER
with an independent third party for the disposal of a piece of land GHE-ZBBEIYE=ALH
and properties located in Qingyuan, Guangdong, the PRC at a net }% NMHEENRPEEREE
consideration of RMB118,182,000 (equivalent to HK$139,844,000). — Bt REWE FREA

The land and properties were classified as prepayments for purchase
of lease prepayments and equipment as at 31 December 2017 as the
Group had not obtained the relevant ownership certificates. Upon
disposal, Qingyuan Lvyou paid the relevant taxes and obtained the
ownership certificates from the local government authority. After
deduction of all the costs and taxes, the Group recorded a loss of
HK$38,190,000 on the disposal.

The penalty mainly represented fines and penalties imposed by local
government environmental authorities as a result of the breach of
environmental regulations and environmental pollution caused by
a number of subsidiaries and the provisions of penalty for illegal
structures and legal proceedings.

AE’#}Hs 182,0007T
139,844,000/ L) - R =&
+:H =+— B HRAEEILE

SHBMAER WERLHBR
4@%%& TREABERERYRIEAR
S ANFIE - RILER - TR
Elaﬂzﬁifﬁﬁﬁmlﬁjtéi&ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ

BB R - R ER K
ZK&WE& FEESESHERR
38,190,00078 7T

SREEEBSBFREHERS
FTHEBARERRRERRIRES
ST A A0 B B0 7R K% B B LA K B B 3F
EEEY 2 SR BOERFARRE
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IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON NON-CURRENT ASSETS

e MBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE—F—)\Ft=A=1—HILFE

1. ERBEEZREEE

Impairment loss on

NTEEZREFE
Property,
plant
and Intangible Lease 2018
equipment assets Goodwill  prepayments Total
(note 19) (note 21) (note 22) (note 20)
W BER HERM —E-N\F
R BREE BE HE @t
(M=E19) (KtE21) (HtE22) (M=E20)
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wi &t TET TET TET TET TER
Year ended 31 December 2018 BE-E2-N\E
tZA=+-HLEE
Guangzhou Yinglong BMEE 19(a)(viii) 231,842 24,372 20,156 - 276,370
Longmen Zhongtao Recycling E 19(a)(iii) 951 309,602 - - 310,553
Longmen Zhongtao BT 19(a)(xv) 241,224 - - - 241,224
Qingyuan Lvyou BEREH 19(a)(ii 624,934 64,274 59,100 34,032 782,340
Guangzhou Liangang EMNER 19(a)(vi) 118,200 50,961 28,693 - 197,854
Ganghui Huanbao BERR 19(a)(x) 40,565 4,544 5,774 - 50,883
Guangyuan Xizhou BrAEM 19(a)(vii) 134,792 - - 5,453 140,245
Heyuan Solid STRE & 19(a)(ii) 57,171 28,824 11,344 - 97,939
Guangzhou Xintao BT 19(a)(vii) 87,255 - - - 87,255
Zhongshan Haitao FILEE 19(a)(iv) 63,290 9,401 7,599 = 80,290
Guangzhou Lvyou BMEH 19(a)(i) 53,981 - - - 53,981
Guangzhou Haitao BNEE 19(a)(v) 138,024 - - - 138,024
Hanyang Shuiwu B¥KE 19(a)(ix) 13,175 11,506 27,383 - 52,064
Guangzhou Kangxiang BMED 19(a)(xi) 4,889 11,474 6,120 - 22,483
Guangzhou Kaizhou =E 19(a)(vii) 21,402 - - - 21,402
Yingde Yingtao REE 19(a)(xii) 19,333 - = = 19,333
Zhongshan Lvjie &R 1,819 - - - 1,819
Guangzhou Xinzhou MM 19(a)(viii) 576 - - - 576
Haoying Solid ERER 19(a)(xiv) 32,112 6,580 2,221 - 40,913
1,886,135 521,538 168,390 39,485 2,615,548
Impairment loss on
UTERZRESE
Property,
plant
and Intangible Lease 2017
equipment assets Goodwill  prepayments Total
nE BER HERM —E-tF
B3 BVEE [k RE st
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i TR TR TR TR TR
Year ended 31 December 2017 BE-Z—tF
TZAZt+-BLEFE
Xinfeng Lvzhi Hesy 21(b) - 8,325 - - 8,325
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12. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax for the year is stated after

charging/(crediting) the following:

12.

PRBLAT (B1R) A

AEBFERZBRHA (B8) 57
MR/ (GFAOUTREEE

5
(a) Finance costs (@) BERAK
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Interest on bank loans RITERFE 166,143 124,181
Loan facility fees EXMEEA 54,269 19,943
Interest on other borrowings HMEERNE 25,924 =
Interest on deposit received glizezFE 15,342 -
261,678 144,124
Less: Interest expenses capitalised & : EANLAEE TN
into construction in AERZ (FaE)
progress (note) (19,392) (19,344)
Total finance costs BB KB 242,286 124,780
Note: B 5T
The borrowing costs have been capitalised at rates of 3.70% - 5.75% BERBEAECRFEFEI.70% —
per annum (2017: 3.70% - 5.75%). 575%&E AR (=T — Lt F:
3.70% —5.75% ) °©
(b) Staff costs (b) EIRK
2018 2017
=E2-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Salaries, bonuses and allowances i€ - 7641 & #8E 198,782 192,569
Equity-settled share-based URESEENROD A%
payment expenses (note 43) (FffzE43) - 9,056
Contributions to defined REMRETEIMHR
contribution plans 11,255 11,718
210,037 213,338
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for the year ended 31 December 2018

HE—F—\F1=A=+—ALFE

12. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Cont’d) 12. BRELE (BE) EF (F
(c) Otheritems (c) HfiEH
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt E FHET FHET
Auditor’s remuneration 2 G 3,500 6,653
Amortisation of intangible assets EF&EE 2 #85 90,627 63,914
Amortisation of lease prepayments 38 & 78 {4 5% 18 = 1# 9,221 8,709
Cost of construction services SRR A - 185,802
Cost of inventories (note) FEAA (M) 214,690 141,411
Depreciation e 233,440 199,673
Operating lease charges KEHEER
- Land and buildings — T REF 19,285 9,215
Research and development WX
expenses 3,574 9,506
Impairment losses on goodwill BEZREEE 11 168,390 =
Impairment losses on property, ME-BERREZ
plant and equipment REEE 11 1,886,135 -
Impairment losses on intangible B EE 2B EEIE
assets 11 521,538 8,325
Impairment losses on lease HERMNREZRESE
prepayments 11 39,485 -
Impairment losses on amount EWRIEERIEZ
due from a former director WERE 29(f) 245,300 -
Impairment losses on amounts ~ FEWBIE S R4 2
due from companies ARIRIBEZ R EEE
controlled by a former director 29(g) 28,331 -
Impairment losses/(reversal of ERESREREGNEE
impairment losses) on WEEE,
trade receivables and contract CRlEE B E) 27 &
assets 29(b) 161,796 (1,726)
Impairment losses on other H At FEUFRIE K
receivables and prepayments FERIEZREEE (i) 144,894 -
Impairment loss on prepayments & B &8 FE
for purchase of lease RBHEZEANRIEZ
prepayment and equipment WERE (ii) 108,341 -
Impairment loss on consideration H&—ZHEAE 2
receivable from disposal of a BRAREZREEE
subsidiary (iii) 45,198 -
Impairment losses on payments WK B QBN R 2
for acquisition of subsidiaries BEEE 28 64,490 -

Impairment losses on interestin  R—FX&a&HEZ
a joint venture &2 BERE 925 -
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12. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Cont’d)

(i)

12, BHE (BEB) JiEF (#F)
(c) Other items (Cont’d) (c) HEE (&)

Notes: Cost of inventories represented raw materials consumed during MizE: TFERNIEHEIZAKE
the supply of industrial water, provision of wastewater treatment RS KEEREZLER
plants operation services, provision of heating services and IR AR RES
electricity generation, provision of sludge and solid waste BT R R EREEY R IER
treatment services and provision of hazardous waste treatment BRIZEAEHMEZEYEER
sV 5 5 24 58 00 B A ) o
Impairment loss on other receivables and prepayments (i) HihpEW s EREARE

WEEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt =t F#ExT FHET
Security deposit EWaHEE KRR S
due from Menghui 28(a) 54,189 -
Prepayments for ERIRBZEMNRIE
construction work 31,796 -
Prepayments for purchase of land B E + i 2 F&8 {4 718 15,759 -
Trade security deposits BES5EMZRS 18,868 =
Security deposits paid to BT 7 BUTHEE 2
local government authorities KiFEE 1,775 -
Interest receivables YRS 7,484 -
Amounts due from the related FEUREAE AR (L IEH
companies (not controlled by BEEEH) FRIE
Mr. Tsui) 4,141 -
Others Hit 10,882 =
144,894 =

The present directors considered that impairment loss should be
made on the above other receivables and prepayments as the
amounts have been outstanding for a long period of time and
there were no progress on the related projects and no refund
was made to the Group up to the date of approval of these

consolidated financial statements.

REESAAH BHREME
il & W R I8 % TR FRIR AR
BEBE REAZERIA
EROKEE BHEEE
WHEER BREHEZS
REUBRXBH AEE
I RN
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for the year ended 31 December 2018

HE—F—\F1=A=+—ALFE

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Cont’d) 12. BFiE (BE) &R (&
(c) Other items (Cont’d) (c) HEE (&)

Notes: (Cont’d)

(ii)

MizE: (&)

Impairment loss on prepayments for purchase of property, (i) VE - BEERREUREES
plant and equipment and lease prepayments EAFRE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
M3 FHET FHExT
Prepayments for construction work E TP MNER IR
by Guangyuan Xizhou FEFT IR 19(a)(vii)&a 39,085 -
Prepayments for purchase of lease BEEHREREFHEZ
prepayments TR IE (b) 59,120 -
Others Hity 10,136 -
108,341 -
Notes: B 5
(@) The present directors considered that the recoverability () REESBRA BHRE

of this amount was remote as the future development of
the project and the commencement of the commercial
operations is uncertain and an impairment loss was made

in 2018.

(b)  This represented the impairment loss made on assets
without ownership certificates transferred from Mr. Gu
Yaokun classified as prepayments for purchase of lease
prepayments (note 19(a)(ii)) and impairment on payments
of HK$28,154,000 made for the purchase of various land
in previous years. The present directors considered that
the possibility of obtaining land use rights was remote,

BRRBERRBEXE
E2RRILTHE &
R-ZB-NFHEHRE
BEE  MEFENT
W Bl E R o

(b) ZREEREZERG
B RN EME
EENEE (DEAB
EREEANRENTE
5038 ) 1E i R (E S
18 (K EE19(a)(i)) B
RBEFFERBEES

therefore, impairment loss was made in the year ended 31 g+ ith 2 AR 2R E
December 2018. 28,154,0007& Jt ° B AT
EERAMB L E

AENTEMERN B
- BERBEZZ-—N
F+=ZA=+—-HLt
FEEHRERE-
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE=F—/\F+=A=+—HILFE

12,

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Cont’d)

(c)

Other items (Cont’d)

Notes: (Cont’d)

(iii)

Impairment loss on consideration receivable from disposal of
a subsidiary

As disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group recorded a consideration receivable from the
disposal of a subsidiary of HK$70,059,000 and HK$4,565,000
as at 31 December 2017 and 2018 respectively. In March,
2018, the Group received a settlement of HK$22,826,000
from the purchaser. A further settlement of HK$4,565,000 was
received in 2019. Details of the disposal are disclosed in note
44(b) to the consolidated financial statements. Since then, no
further payments were made by the purchaser. According to
the management, prior to the disposal, the land acquired by
the subsidiary from the local government had been laid idle
for more than three years without any development and this
was a breach of the original contract for the acquisition. The
purchaser encountered difficulties in obtaining approval for the
development of the land and, as a result, had to pay penalty
imposed by the local government for the breach of contract,
namely, a delay in development which was caused by the
Group. The purchaser also incurred financial losses resulted
from the project delay. In the absence of sufficient documents,
the present directors were unable to ascertain the amount of
penalty paid and the financial losses incurred by the purchaser.
To avoid a claim from the purchaser on the above matter, the
Group did not follow up with the purchaser for the settlement of
the balance of the consideration receivable. As the outstanding
balance has been overdue for a long period of time and without
any further subsequent settlement, the present directors made
an impairment loss of HK$45,198,000 on the consideration
receivable from the disposal of a subsidiary for the year ended 31
December 2018.

12.

PRBLAT (BB1R) T ()

(c)

HfEE (&)

MizE: (&)

(iii)

HE-—RKE QT2 EEA
BZREFSE

AN 4R S B S SR R B FE29FT
BE R-ZE—tER=F
—-NFE+=ZA=+—H8 %
EEDRBEBHE BB
A7) 2 WK E70,059,000
& 7T % 4,565,00058 7T o A =
E-NF=ZA XEEHE
T U B 1 13 FX 1E22,826,000
BRroE—SENFRE
4,565,000/ TER=F— N
FHER -BEREEZE—F
HERBENGE M ERERMW
F44b)c Bt BH W EAE
HE-SHR-BEEEBS
M REER BEEEBX
T REER ZHEQ T
] 4t 75 AT W B 2 £ ith B 4
BERB=FA T EE M
B HNERKENEESLY-
B 75 12 BU45 + b B 2% it SO B
BERE EmMAZTE
BRMEREN (NAREEH
EHHIFELR) MBS
R-BEANEBEEHERME
EHEBIE-BRRZEN
X BREEEREERES
FHXfzEIReBRAE
A HEBE - ABEERN
FEMBIFRHEAR KE
B3 EmEE S IREEEREW
REZG -BARKREBLER
CA-BRE™ A&
FRE-—SREENLS BZ
—EZ-N\F+=ZA=+—8H
LtEE BEESHHE—
R B 2 B oz UK B E
(B 5 1845,198,0005% T ©
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for the year ended 31 December 2018

HE—F—\F1=A=+—ALFE

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 13. FiEH (&) BFxX
(@) Income tax (credit)/expense has been recognised in profit or (@ EREZBEIFAEH (ER)
loss as follows: SR WT
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Current tax — PRC income tax BIEABE1E — R E AT 1535
Provision for the year FERE 8,923 145,930
Under/(Over)-provision in respect BEFERELZE,
of prior years (HBREE ) 10,285 (12,351)
19,208 133,579
Deferred tax IEAER I8
Origination and reversal of ERSMEENELERED
temporary differences (note 40) (FF&EE40) (78,374) (2,142)
Income tax (credit)/expense Frig® (&) X (59,166) 131,437
(b) Reconciliation between income tax (credit)/expenses and (b) FBH (E&) FXEZRE
accounting (loss)/profit at applicable tax rates: AR ESTENET (BBR)
i R ET AR
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
(Restated)
(F2E5)
(Loss)/profit before tax BRBLAT (BE) RF (3,942,929) 771,946
Notional tax on (loss)/profit before  $ZBRIE{HEE R A EE AR
tax, calculated at the rates SERIMEE ERERBIAT (BE)
applicable to profits in the BAFTENBRHIE (M)
jurisdictions concerned (note i) (917,191) 212,017
Tax effect of expenses that are AR TNHRETE
not deductible 812,658 45,176
Tax effect of income that is not FERBIBMANHIBESE
taxable (3,572) (5,306)
Tax effect of preferential tax BEFIBSFENHIBEZE (MEEI)
treatments (note ii) (9,618) (119,139)
Effect of tax losses not recognised 7k ¥ 52 %1 18 &5 18 HY 27 £ 51,700 16,019
Under/(over)-provision in prior years B FE#RERE,  (HBERE) 10,285 (12,351)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses i F 5t i K He 2B TH E5 18 1Y
not previously recognised BiEEE (3,428) (4,979)
Income tax (credit)/expense % (KE) Bx (59,166) 131,437
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
HE—F— V1 =A=+—ALFE

13.

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Cont’d)

(b)

(Cont’d)

Notes:

(i) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the
Cayman Islands and the BVI.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made as the Group
did not earn any income subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for the
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

The statutory income tax rate for the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

(ii) Certain subsidiaries of the Group are entitled to the following
PRC preferential tax treatments:

Guangzhou Xintao Wastewater Treatment Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Xintao”) was approved as a High and New
Technology Enterprise in September 2015, which entitled it to the
preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2015 to 2017.

Guangzhou CT Lvyou Environmental Protection Technology
Company Limited (formerly known as Guangzhou Lvyou
Industrial Waste Reclamation Treatment Company Limited)
(“Guangzhou Lvyou”) was approved as a High and New
Technology Enterprise in September 2015 and November 2018,
which entitled it to the preferential income tax rate of 15% from
2015 to 2017 and from 2018 to 2020.

Heyuan Solid Waste Centralized Treatment Centre Company
Limited (“Heyuan Solid”) was approved as a High and New
Technology Enterprise in December 2016, which entitled it to the
preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2016 to 2018.

Guangzhou Haitao, being an entity engaged in wastewater
treatment and sludge treatment, is entitled to a tax holiday of
3-year exemption and 3-year 50% reduction on income derived
from its principal activities (the “3+3 tax holiday”) starting
from the year in which the project starts to generate operating
revenue. There are 3 phases of waste treatment facilities under
Guangzhou Haitao. The tax holiday for Phase | and Phase Il
facilities ended in 2015; while Phase Il facilities are subject to
exemption from income tax from 2013 to 2015 and reduction of
half of the income tax from 2016 to 2018. Additionally, in October
2015, Guangzhou Haitao was approved as a High and New
Technology Enterprise, which then entitled it to the preferential
income tax rate of 15% from 2016 to 2018. During the year
ended 31 December 2018, Guangzhou Haitao was not entitled
to any preferential income tax treatment as a result of the breach
of certain environmental regulations. The income tax rate was

restored to 25%.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBmRME (F)

13. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Cont’d)

(b) (Cont’d)
Notes: (Cont’d)

(ii)

(Cont’d)

Guangzhou Yinglong Wastewater Treatment Company Limited
(“Guangzhou Yinglong”), a subsidiary engaged in wastewater
treatment, is entitled to the 3+3 tax holiday starting from the
year in which the project starts to generate operating revenue.
Guangzhou Yinglong is subject to exemption from income tax
from 2012 to 2014 and reduction of half of the income tax from
2015 to 2017. In November 2017, Guangzhou Yinglong was
approved as a High and New Technology Enterprises, which then
entitled it to the preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2018
to 2020. During the year ended 31 December 2018, Guangzhou
Yinglong breached certain environmental regulations and all tax
benefits were therefore cancelled.

Qingyuan Lvyou Environmental Protection Technology Company
Limited (“Qingyuan Lvyou”), a subsidiary engaged in solid waste
treatment, is entitled to the 3+3 tax holiday starting from the
year in which the project starts to generate operating revenue.
Qingyuan Lvyou is subject to exemption from income tax from
2014 to 2016 and reduction of half of the income tax from 2017
to 2019. Additionally, in October 2015 and November 2018,
Qingyuan Lvyou was approved as a High and New Technology
Enterprise, which then entitled it to the preferential income tax
rate of 15% from 2015 to 2017 and from 2018 to 2020. As the
tax rate applied during the tax holiday is lower than the tax rate
applied for High and New Technology Enterprise, the effective
income tax rate of Qingyuan Lvyou is 12.5% from 2017 to 2018.

Yulin Xintao Environmental Protection Technology Company
Limited (“Yulin Xintao”), a subsidiary engaged in water supply,
wastewater treatment, land levelling, heating services and
electricity generation, is entitled to the 3+3 tax holiday for waste
water treatment services starting from the year in which the
project starts to generate operating revenue. Yulin Xintao is
subject to exemption from income tax from 2017 to 2019 and
reduction of half of the income tax from 2020 to 2022.

Lvyou Environmental Protection Equipment Company Limited
(“Lvyou Equipment”) was approved as a High and New
Technology Enterprise in December 2016, which entitled it to the
preferential income tax rate of 15% from 2016 to 2018.

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE=F—/\F+=A=+—HILFE
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE—F—)\Ft=A=1—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

14, ==

Year ended 31 December 2018

BE-Z-\E+-A=+-HLEE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-based
and benefits Discretionary scheme payments
Fees in kind bonuses contributions Sub-Total (note 43) Total
§e 2ER BRgE BiA %
e ENEA BERAL #3% It (HiEH43) it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx TiEn T TER TR TiEx TiEn
Executive directors HTEZE
Mr. Tsui Cham To HERLE
(resigned on 8/4/2020) (R=E-%E
ANBBE) - 6,340 9 36 6,385 - 6,385
Mr. Xu Shubiao HEELE
(resigned on 28/12/2018) (R=E-N\E
TZRZTNEEE) - 232 - 30 262 - 262
Mr. Gu Yaokun HRAEE
(resigned on 24/5/2018) (RZE-N\E
AAZTMAEL) - - - - - - -
Mr. Xu Juwen #BEXEE
(resigned on 2/6/2020) (R=B-%FE
~NAZHBME) - 906 - 25 931 - 931
Mr. Xu Zhencheng AL
(appointed on 24/8/2017 and (R=E—tE
resigned on 8/11/2018) NE=tHREZER
RZ2-N%
T-ANBEE) - 1,151 18 14 1,183 - 1,183
Mr. Lu Xiao’an BNREE
(appointed on 5/11/2018 and (R=B-NE
resigned on 18/6/2020) T-ALBEZAR
RZZ-%E
~ATNAEE) - 568 312 7 887 - 887
Mr. Liang Zhenjie RiRpEEE
(appointed on 8/11/2018 and (R=B-N%
resigned on 24/1/2020) T-BNBEZAR
33
-AZTMAEE) - 675 28 5 708 - 708
Mr. Liang Qilin RRBEE
(appointed on 30/11/2018 and (R=E-N\E
resigned on 11/12/2019) T-A=TRHEZER
RZZ2-n%E
+ZB+-HEE) - 308 - 28 336 - 336
Sub-total PNt - 10,180 367 145 10,692 - 10,692
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for the year ended 31 December 2018

HE=—F—\F+=f=F—FIFE
14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d) 14. EEFHM (£)

Year ended 31 December 2018

BE-R-\F+-A=t-HLEE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-based
and benefits Discretionary scheme payments
Fees in kind bonuses contributions Sub-Total (note 43) Total
§e 28R BRGE BB %A
ne BNEAN MRa #3% et (B =243) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TiEn THEx TEx TEx TiEn
Independent non-executive directors B FH{TES
Mr. Liu Yung Chau BRHEL
(resigned on 26/10/2018) (R=B-NE
TAZTAHEE) 86 - - - 86 - 86
Mr. Du Hequn RBELE
(resigned on 16/1/2018) (R=B-NE
—Bt+REEE) 29 - - - 29 - 29
Mr. Chau Paul BAAREE
(appointed on 24/10/2017 and (R=B-tE
resigned on 14/2/2018) TE-tHAEZER
R=B-NE
ZATEARE) 38 - - - 38 - 38
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu REXEE
(appointed on 16/1/2018 and (R=Z-NE-At~A
resigned on 3/8/2020) BZARR-ZE-%%
NB=B#E) 287 - - - 287 - 287
Mr. Suen To Wai BEREE
(appointed on 14/2/2018 and (RZE-NE-B+IA
resigned on 10/4/2019) EZERR-Z-1%
mA+HEE) 263 - - - 263 - 263
Sub-total Nt 703 - - - 703 - 703
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Yang Chunlin BEMEE
(appointed on 3/4/2018 and (RZE-NE
resigned on 25/10/2018) MAZREZHER
RZE-N\E
TAZTRARME) 168 - - - 168 - 168
Sub-total Nt 168 - - - 168 - 168
Total h 87 10,180 367 145 11,563 - 11,563




230

CT Environmental Group Limited Annual Report 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

mEMBRRME (&
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HE=F—/\F+=A=+—FILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

14. EE5HM (&

Year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z-tET-A=t-ALEE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share-based
and benefits  Discretionary scheme payments
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Sub-Total (note 43) Total
Fe 2R BIRGHE Rz
Hhe ENET WA 5% et (Kt3E43) b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Ti#x Ti#n Tign THER TR TR
Executive directors HTEZE
Mr. Tsui Cham To HREELE
(resigned on 8/4/2020) (R=E-%E
ANERBE) - 7,435 17 18 7,470 301 7,171
Mr. Lu ili (resigned on 24/8/2017) ~ BBV %4
(R=B—tE
NAZTMAEE) - 3,323 - 12 3,335 - 3,335
Mr. Xu Shubiao HEELE
(resigned on 28/12/2018) (RZE-N\E
+ZAZ+\HEHE) - 227 26 29 282 251 533
Mr. Gu Yaokun HRAEE
(resigned on 24/5/2018) (R=B-N\E
TAZTNARME) - 284 - 2 286 - 286
Mr. Xu Juwen BRI LA - 446 23 30 499 201 700
Mr. Xu Zhencheng FHRREE
(appointed on 24/8/2017 and (R=B—tF
resigned on 8/11/2018) NBZTHREZER
RZE-NE
T-ANBEE) - 465 17 7 489 301 790
Sub-total N - 12,180 83 98 12,361 1,054 13,415
Independent non-executive directors &V FH{TES
Mr. Liu Yung Chau BRHAE
(resigned on 26/10/2018) (R=E-N\E
TAZ+AHET) - 124 - - 124 - 124
Mr. Lien Jown Jing, Vincent BERERE
(resigned on 24/10/2017) (R=B—tE
TAZTEARAE) - 375 - - 375 - 375
Mr. Du Hequn (resigned on 16/1/2018) #&&H %4
(R=Z2-NF
- B+ ABEE) - 289 - - 289 - 289
Mr. Chau Paul (appointed on heps
24/10/2017 and (R=Z-tF
resigned on 14/2/2018) TAZtHAEZER
RIB-NE
ZATmARME) - 56 - - 56 - 56
Sub-total P - 844 - - 844 - 844
Total @t - 13,024 83 98 13,205 1,054 14,259
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for the year ended 31 December 2018

HE—F—\F1=A=+—ALFE

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d) 14. EEFHM (£)

The details of appointment and resignations of subsequent to 31 R-BE-NE+-A=+—H%ZE
December 2018 were as follows: ERBEZFBOT:

Executive director

HITES RULT BHREEE RELT B #iEHE

Mr. Zhao Keyin 14/1/2019 20/6/2019

HRRTE —E-NAF-A+HA —E-AFAAZTH
Ms. Xu Liugqi 6/12/2019 3/8/2020

®uE A “E2-NF+ZAKH —EZEFNAZH
Mr. Tsui Wai Kin 11/12/2019 3/8/2020

wERLLE —E-NF+ZA+—H —E-EHENAZH
Mr. Xu Huagen 11/2/2020 3/8/2020

BEREE “B-EF-A+—H —EZEFNAZ=H
Mr. Yuan Guanghua 30/6/2019 11/2/2020

REELRLE ZE-AFARAZ=TH —EZEE-A+-—H

Mr. Wu Changbiao 31/1 /2020 N/A

hGREE —E2-2H-A=1+—H TEH

Ms. Huang Qing 12/5/2020 N/A

'EFLL —EZERFHA+TZ=H T8 A

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai 3/8/2020 10/11/2020
ROBERE —EZZFNARZH “B2-2H+-A+H

Mr. Li Yang 3/8/2020 N/A

FHEELE —EZERFNAZ=H TEA

Mr. Lam Wai Tong 29/1 0/2020 N/A

MERELE —E2-2HF+A=+hH TEH

Appointed on

Resigned on
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14. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

Independent

non-executive director Appointed on

BYFHITES RUTBEHREZE

Dr. Ng Wai Kuen 28/1/2019

REEEL —E-hFSEe1AH

Mr. Yu Chung Leung 18/4/2019

RIPREE —E-AFHEA+TNR

Mr. He Jingyong 24/1/2019

AISARE —E-NF-A=+HWEAH
(reappointed on 10/4/2019)
(R=Z—-NAFHOA+H

EEHEE)

Mr. Fong Wai Ho 3/8/2020

FEERRE —E-ZFENAZ=H

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy 3/8/2020

REZzt —EZEFENAZ=H

There were no amounts paid during the year ended 31 December
2018 (2017: Nil) to the directors as inducement to join or upon
joining the Company or the Group or as compensation for loss
of office. No directors waived or agreed to waive any emolument
during the year (2017: Nil).

14. EE5HM (£)

Resigned on
RULT B #EHE

3/8/2020
—EEFNAZ=H

17 7/2/2020
—F-FTF-AttH

28/1/2019
—E-hE-A=t+NA

N/A
Nl
N/A
T

N/A
TEM

BE—_ZT-NF+-A=t—-HL
FE BENESIMEMRK
%Wﬂﬁ%ki%kmﬁjﬁ$%
R zRBIEAEBBAEE (=
E—LH 8 - FAREESK
RYREREEAHFHN (=F

FE) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year
included 3 (2017: 3) directors whose emoluments are reflected
in the analysis presented in note 14. The emoluments of the
remaining 2 (2017: 2) individuals are set out below:

e MBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE=F—/\F+=A=+—HILFE

15. EEHMAL
AEBEHEMAL

FRAXEBREREHHMALTERE
3B (ZE—tE 3R)EE HHF
B R A KT ZE142 5 2 5 4 o H R
ME(ZE—tF WMB)ATZH
[ E

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Basic salaries and allowances HAFHERER 2,083 2,156
Share-based payments IR 21 - 720
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & k8 51 2 £t 7% 43 20
2,126 2,896

The emoluments fell within the following band:

BEAFMALI AT EEA :

Number of individuals

AE
2018 2017
—E-)N\F —E—+F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,00058 7T 1 -
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,00138 7T Z£1,500,0005% 7T 1

HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 T £2,000,0005% 7T = 1
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16. DIVIDENDS

(a)

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the year

16.

iz 2

(a) AEEENEAQATIERIFEA
RE:

2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHExT FHExT
Interim dividend of HK$0.0096 FRHIR 8 R EER0.009678 T
(2017: HK$0.0103) per ordinary (ZE—t%F:0.01038T) &
share and a special dividend of BHREEREBRSER
HK$Nil (2017: HK$0.0018) per (ZZE—+t%:0.0018%T)
ordinary share 60,641 75,985
Final dividend of HK$Nil (2017: RERESREERSER
HK$0.0095) per ordinary share (ZZ=—t%:0.0095%T)
and a special dividend of REEIREEGREBREET
HK$Nil (2017: HK$0.0198) per (ZZE—t%:0.0198% )
ordinary share - 184,352
60,641 260,337

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
declared an interim dividend of HK$0.0096 per share
totalling HK$60,641,000 during the year ended 31
December 2018. However, due to the continued volatility
of the market and in order to preserve the cash level of the
Group for better working capital management purposes,
the Board on 26 March 2019 announced and resolved to
withdraw its recommendation for the payment of the interim
dividend. As a result, dividend payable of HK$60,641,000 as
at 31 December 2018 would be reversed in the year ended
31 December 2019.

No final dividend was paid or proposed in respect of year
ended 31 December 2018.

BE-_Z—-\F+ZHA=+—HL
FE -AQRTRESE ([EEE])E
iR & HA IR 2 = 1R0.009658 7T 0 & i
60,641,000/ T AR HR T 15
SERHIRARBASEENRS
KFE -LEBEELEBEELEE
BEEEN-E-NE=B=+xH
EfREABEEIRASPERE
WEZE-E- R=ZZE—-NF+=
B =+— Bz EfRE60,641,000
BLTERBE=_ZE-hhE+=A
=t+—RIEFERE-

BERBE-_ZF-NF+=A
=t-HLEFERYREZRY



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

16. DIVIDENDS (Cont’d)

(b)

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the previous financial year,
approved and paid during the year

16.

FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

e MBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE—F—)\Ft=A=1—HILFE

B2 (&)

(b)

AR RIRAS £ — BB
ERNAARESIHFEARE

2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHExT
Final dividend in respect of the F—BMBEEZRERE
previous financial year of FREEAR0.0095/% T &
HK$0.0095 per ordinary share and 435Ik E SR Z BER
a special dividend of HK$0.0198  0.0198i& 7T (=& —+tF:
per ordinary share (2017: final F-BBEEZRERE
dividend in respect of the previous 0.00677& JT)
financial year of HK$0.0067) 184,352 42,132
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
HE—F— V1 =A=+—ALFE

17.

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
(@) Basic (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based
on the loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company of HK$3,872,815,000 (2017 (restated): profit of
HK$641,566,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 6,286,457,000 (2017: 6,285,031,000) in
issue during the year, calculated as follows:

17. 8k (BR) BF

(@)

BREX (BBR) BA

FRAEREX(FE) B
FMDBREBEARQBDVEE AENL
% X E5183,872,815,00058
T(ZE—LF (LEH) :
% #641,566,00058 7T ) & F
RERTZERMEFLIH
6,286,457,0008% (— & — +
F 1 6,285,031,0008% ) » 5t &
Fr8mT :

2018 2017

—E-N\EF —E—+F

Number of shares ’000 ’000

grig g T TR

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January R"— B — BB ETEER 6,316,792 6,316,792
Effect of purchase of shares under R1E 8% 10 48 B 51 2158 B IR 19

the Share Award Scheme B s & (30,335) (35,109)
Effect of grant of shares under the R1E IR 17 R B 5T 8% H R 15

Share Award Scheme V& - 3,348
Weighted average number of RT-ZA=+—HWEBR

ordinary shares at 31 December IR 6,286,457 6,285,031

(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (b) BREE (FE) ER

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, there
were no dilutive potential ordinary shares issued. The diluted
(loss)/earnings per share for the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017 is the same as the basic (loss)/earnings per
share.
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+ZBE=1+—HLEE #E
ERTBEHEZBER -BZE
—E-N\FRZE—LtF+=
A=+—HLFEZSREE
(E8) BRAESKRER (F
B) /BFER-



18.

FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018
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DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

The employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC participate in
a defined contribution retirement scheme operated by the
local government authorities whereby the Group is required
to contribute to the scheme at rates of 13% to 19% of the
eligible employees’ basic salary (2017: 13% to 20%). The local
government authorities are responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to the retired employees.

Contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) are
required under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. The Group and its employees in Hong
Kong make monthly mandatory contributions to the MPF
scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The
contributions from employees and employers are subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 (2017: HK$30,000).

The Group has no other material obligations for payments of
retirement and other post-retirement benefits of employees other
than the contributions described above.

e MBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018
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mEMBRRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2018
HE—F—/\F+=H=+—AIFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

19. ME -WHE KR

Buildings Office
and other Motor equipment  Construction
infrastructure Machinery vehicles and others in progress Total
BFR R
HiERRE #a RE REM ERIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Ti#n T T T TR
Cost ﬁﬂi
At 1 January 2017 “E-t5-8-H 1,540,180 1,063,272 14,403 55,596 479,485 3,152,936
Additions mﬁ 4,353 8,768 1,311 7,056 797,160 818,648
Transfer from construction in progress BERIREY 433,072 112,004 - - (545,166) -
Disposals EE - (1,604) (165) (355) i 214
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - (35,503) - (135) - (35,638)
Exchange differences ERAE 122,966 77,258 992 4,127 42,259 247,602
At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 EA:E—H.H:)% ==l
Z-\5-A-H 2,100,571 1,224,195 16,541 66,289 773,738 4,181,334
Additions P E 88,635 27,723 1,108 4,009 575,297 696,772
Transfer from construction in progress BERIREY 201,083 67,117 - 1,198 (269,398) -
Disposals RE - (2,699) (511) (1,632) (1,087) (5.928)
Reclassified as held-forsale (note 32)  BHABARBELE (K32) (488,493) (164,041) (2,098) (1,255) (462402  (1,119,189)
Exchange differences Ejg% (106,857) (59,652) (567) (3,248) (46,430) (216,754)
At 31 December 2018 R=E-NE+-A=1+-H 1,794,939 1,091,744 14,473 65,361 569,718 3,536,235
Accumulated depreciation and R MERAESE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2017 —2-tE-A-R 168,066 250,424 12,068 16,579 5 456,137
Charge for the year FRilk 105,173 82,041 1,777 10,682 - 199,673
Written back on disposals RERHE - (1,458) (162) (347) = (1,967)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - (7,024) - (124) - (7,148)
Exchange differences ERAE 15,390 20,680 852 1,516 - 38,438
At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 R=Z-+&+=A=+-H
—E-\§-B-H 288,629 353,663 14,535 28,306 - 685,133
Charge for the year ERM 99,838 17,175 1,308 15,119 - 233,440
Written back on disposals RERHE - (2,245) (207) (1,754) - (4,206)
Impairment losses }JEIEE? B 846,660 470,885 - 6,773 561,817 1,886,135
Reclassified as held-for-sale (note 32) FABARELE (HiE32) (15,738) (16,628) (433) (231) = (33,030)
Exchange differences Em% (46,900) (37,132) (730) (1,08) (19.942) (105,802)
At 31 December 2018 R=E-NE+-A=t+-H 1,172,489 885,718 14,473 47,115 541,875 2,661,670
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2018 R=E-NE+-A=1+-H 622,450 206,026 - 18,246 27,843 874,565
At 31 December 2017 W-E-t&+-A=1+-H 1,811,942 870,532 2,006 37,983 773,738 3,496,201
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment

Included in property, plant and equipment are the costs
less accumulated deprecation and impartment losses of
the Group’s interests in various environmental pollution
servicing facilities for its operations under different
segments.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s
business operations were adversely affected by a number
of factors including the indictments and legal proceedings
against the Group and investigations as mentioned in note
6 to the consolidated financial statements, the expropriation
of certain land and facilities and early termination of BOT
contracts by local government authorities and insufficient
market demand of its services in certain locations. As a
consequence, a number of cash generating units of the
Group ceased or suspended their operations.

In determining the recoverable amount of these cash
generating units, the present directors adopted the fair
value less costs of disposal basis and made reference to
the compensations that might be received from the local
government authorities which is still under negotiation with
the relevant government officials. However, up to the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements, certain
amount of the compensations has not been confirmed in
writing and might still be subject to change.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
HE—F— V1 =A=+—ALFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

For other cash-generating units with continuing business
operations, the directors adopted a value-in-use basis for
impairment assessment. The calculation of value-in-use
of the other cash generating units, key assumptions used
include growth rate and discount rate. The details of the
impairment assessment on the CGUs were as follows:

()

Impairment assessment — Guangzhou Lvyou

Guangzhou Lvyou had been operating in the
hazardous waste treatment and sludge and solid
waste business segment. On 28 September 2020,
Guangzhou Lvyou entered into a compensation
agreement with the local government authority of
Nansha, Guangzhou pursuant to which the local
government authority would expropriate the land
owned by Guangzhou Lvyou and pay Guangzhou
Lvyou a cash compensation of RMB1,237,884,000
(equivalent to HK$1,381,850,000) and transfer a piece
of land to Guangzhou Lvyou for relocation of the
existing plant. In determining the recoverable amount
of the cash generating unit of Guangzhou Lvyou as
at 31 December 2018, the present directors made
reference to the amount of compensations for the
expropriation of its land, facilities and the business
operation. As the compensations substantially exceed
the carrying amounts of the property, plant and
equipment, lease prepayments and intangible assets
totalling HK$902,725,000 of Guangzhou Lvyou, the
present directors are of the opinion that there is no
impairment on these assets as at 31 December 2018.
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mEMBmRME (F)

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

()

Impairment assessment — Guangzhou Lvyou (Cont’d)

In 2017, the Guangzhou environmental authority
informed Guangzhou Lvyou that certain of Guangzhou
Lvyou’s sludge and solid waste and hazardous waste
treatment facilities did not comply with the relevant
environmental regulations in Guangzhou and ordered
that the relevant sludge and solid waste and hazardous
waste treatment operation be terminated and the
related facilities be demolished. However, Guangzhou
Lvyou did not take any corrective measures. In 2018,
the environmental authority imposed a penalty of
RMB1,000,000 and ordered Guangzhou Lvyou to
demolish all the related facilities. Finally, Guangzhou
Lvyou engaged contractors and demolished the
related facilities in 2019. In addition, certain property,
plant and equipment items were laid idle as there was
no market demand for the related processing services
and these items were without alternative use. As
such, an impairment loss of HK$7,289,000 on those
unqualified property, plant and equipment together
with the impairment loss of HK$46,692,000 on those
assets being laid idle totalling HK$53,981,000 was
made in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

for the year ended 31 December 2018
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(i)

Impairment assessment — Qingyuan Lvyou

On 30 April 2014, the Group acquired 100% equity
interest of Qingyuan Lvyou from a former director,
Mr. Gu Yaokun. On the same date, Qingyuan Lvyou
and Mr. Gu Yaokun entered into an agreement (the
“Original Agreement”) pursuant to which Qingyuan
Lvyou transferred the title of certain fixed assets
and land use rights (together the “Assets”) to Mr. Gu
Yaokun. In addition, Qingyuan Lvyou would purchase
the Assets back when the local government authority
issued formal land and property ownership certificates
for the Assets. Pursuant to an undated supplementary
agreement, if the formal land and property ownership
certificates for the Assets were not issued by 31
December 2015, the Group would have the right
to recover the net assets value of the Assets and
subsequent expenditures on the Assets from Mr. Gu
Yaokun.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
REMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018

BE=—F—\F+=F=F—AIFE
19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d) 10. YME -WERZRE (&)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d) (a) REFME (&)

Impairment assessment — Qingyuan Lvyou (Cont’d)

Subsequent to 31 December 2015, no formal land and
property ownership certificates for the Assets were
issued by the local government authority, nor were
repayments from Mr. Gu Yaokun made to the Group.

On 14 February 2018, the Group entered into a
termination agreement (the “Termination Agreement”)
with Mr. Gu Yaokun under which the title of the Assets
were transferred back to the Group in consideration for
an offsetting of part of the amount of HK$149,338,000
due from Mr. Gu Yaokun brought forward from
2017. After offsetting, the Group recorded
property, plant and equipment of RMB72,105,000
(equivalent to HK$82,293,000), lease prepayments
of RMB28,760,000 (equivalent to HK$32,824,000)
and prepayments for purchase of lease prepayments
and equipment of RMB26,169,000 (equivalent to
HK$29,867,000), totalling RMB127,034,000 (equivalent
to HK$144,984,000) in the books and the amount due
from Mr. Gu Yaokun was reduced by the same amount.
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(i)

Impairment assessment — Qingyuan Lvyou (Cont’d)

In addition, Qingyuan Lvyou also held properties
without ownership certificates with carrying amount
before impairment loss of HK$62,353,000 (2017:
HK$40,410,000) as at 31 December 2018.

On 30 October 2020, the Group obtained a legal
opinion from a PRC lawyer which stated that the
Group may be able to obtain formal legal title of the
subject land use right in respect of the Assets if the
Group would purchase the subject land use right in
respect of the Assets through a public auction or
other means when the local government authority in
Qingyuan should offer the subject land use right to
the public for auction, and the Group pays the related
consideration upon a successful bidding. The PRC
legal opinion also stated that the structures built on the
land which had no ownership certificates were illegal
structures and the local government authority may
impose a penalty equals to 10% of the construction
costs of the illegal structures. In addition, further
actions may be taken to rectify the illegal structures
including an order for these to be demolished or
confiscated by the local government authority.

In 2017, the former directors of the Group were of the
opinion that the use of and the conduct of operating
activities on the land were not affected by the fact that
the Group had not yet obtained the relevant ownership
certificates and no impairment loss was made in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2017.
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e MBRRNE (&

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(i)

Impairment assessment — Qingyuan Lvyou (Cont’d)

However, taking into consideration of the PRC legal
opinion, the present directors consider that the
possibility of obtaining the ownership certificates for
these land is remote and the structures built on the
land which had no ownership certificates were illegal
structures and may be ordered to be demolished or
confiscated by the local government authority and
therefore the assets without ownership certificates
should have no commercial value. Full impairment
loss of HK$149,970,000 on property, plant and
equipment and HK$34,032,000 on lease prepayments
for the Assets transferred to the Group and other
assets without ownership certificate and a provision
for penalty of HK$18,982,000 in respect of the illegal
structures were charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Since 2015, Qingyuan Lvyou commenced the
development of new facilities for the manufacture of
a new product needed for transforming sludge into
an environmental product called ceramsite. However,
due to the new environmental regulations, Qingyuan
Lvyou decided to suspend this project as it would not
be profitable taking into account the costs in meeting
the new standards. As such, the present directors
made full impairment loss of HK$126,086,000 on the
costs incurred in this project which was classified as
construction in progress under property, plant and
equipment for the year ended 31 December 2018.

for the year ended 31 December 2018
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(i)

Impairment assessment — Qingyuan Lvyou (Cont’d)

The present directors made an impairment assessment
on the remaining assets by engaging a professional
valuer to provide their recoverable amounts based
on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow
projections and financial budgets approved by the
directors covering a period of 5 years and determined
that the recoverable amount of the Qingyuan Lvyou
CGU to be HK$240,814,000 as at 31 December
2018. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow
projections is 17.36%. The growth rates adopted in
the first three years are -14% to 18% and cash flows
beyond the three-year period are extrapolated using
a 3% growth rate that is the same as the long term
average growth rate for the industry. It was concluded
that the fair value less costs of disposal did not
exceed the value-in-use. Based on the impairment
assessment, the present directors made impairment
losses of HK$348,878,000 on property, plant and
equipment, HK$64,274,000 on intangible assets
and HK$59,100,000 on goodwill in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2018.

19. ME -WHE KR

(@)

(%)

AR ()

(i)

BB
(4

Vo

— B

REIESZEREREX
HEMESRTEEET
WENL REFERE
Bt E(ERESHE
RESFHEB2HER
ERIRMBEREE)R
MEATKESEE WE

EEEGERSEEE
HR=B—NE+=5

=t+t—HzuKE £
240,814,000 7T - fE
ARBEESRETEN 2B
A BRI R B17.36% o
RE=ZFRAZERE
B-14%ZE18% M &
B=FHNESAREF
AETERPFHER
ZERN3%IE R RIE
B-#AwmAQIAFERK
%ﬁKZI&ITEﬁtH{EﬁHﬁ
B-REREFTMG
1_%%%#%&_7—)\
F+-A=1+—HIF
ExHmiaiBzRD A
MME-BMERRBE-
BREERBEEDRE
{E /&5 18348,878,000/8
JT ~ 64,274,000/ T &
59,100,0005% T °



FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
REMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(if)

Impairment assessment — Longmen Zhongtao
Recycling

EREEBRRKEEZRABEMRDA (“Longmen
Zhongtao Recycling”) a subsidiary of the Group, was
assigned to take up the BOT contract entered into
by the Group with BEFIBRIRBFHLEEER (Longmen
County Environmental Hygiene Administration)
(the “Longmen Authority”) for the construction of
a solid waste treatment plant. Longmen Zhongtao
Recycling completed the construction in 2017 and
the revenue recognized under the BOT project for
the construction services in the year ended 31
December 2017 was HK$222,962,000. As at 31
December 2017, the intangible assets, the gross
amounts due from customers for contract work
and the deferred tax liabilities relating to this BOT
contract were HK$640,506,000, HK$107,547,000 and
HK$33,084,000 respectively.

However, on 20 February 2019, the Group received a
notice from the Longmen Authority pursuant to which
the Longmen Authority ordered to early terminate
the BOT contract. According to the notice, amongst
others, the construction of the solid waste treatment
plant was behind schedule and certain of its facilities
as constructed had quality and safety issues and not
built within the official red line of the BOT project site
and which had therefore seriously violated the terms
of the BOT contract. In this regard, the Longmen
Authority ordered to terminate the BOT contract and
took over the operation of the plant.
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(if)

Impairment assessment — Longmen Zhongtao
Recycling (Cont’d)

On 21 February 2019, the Group signed a release
agreement with the Longmen Authority on the BOT
project. On 22 November 2019, the Group entered
into a supplementary agreement with the Longmen
Authority pursuant to which the parties agreed, among
others, that the compensation for the early termination
of the BOT project to be paid by the Longmen
Authority to the Group shall be based on the value
stated in the valuation report issued by a PRC valuer.
The compensation to be received shall be deposited
into a designated bank account on escrow under the
join custody of the Longmen Authority, the Group and
the bank and is to be used firstly to pay off salaries,
construction costs, bank loans and interests of
Longmen Zhongtao Recycling. The Longmen Authority
shall pay all the compensation within 180 days when
the Longmen Authority enters into a new operating
contract with a new project operator and pay the
compensation to the Group within 30 days when the
Longmen Authority receives payments for the project
from the new operator.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e MWK (&)

for the year ended 31 December 2018

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(if)

Impairment assessment — Longmen Zhongtao
Recycling (Cont’d)

According to the supplementary agreement, the total
compensation shall be based on the valuation report
issued by a professional valuer in the PRC. On 24
April 2020, the Group received the first installment of
compensation payment of RMB65,800,000 (equivalent
to HK$73,453,000) from the local government
authority. However, no formal valuation report has
been issued by the professional valuer up to the date
of approval of the consolidated financial statements.

The present directors estimated that the total
compensation would be RMB329,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$375,488,000 as at 31 December 2018) which
has been used as the basis for the impairment
assessment on the Longmen Zhongtao Recycling
CGU. The estimate has been made based on the
management’s negotiation with the Longmen Authority
up to date although no formal written agreement has
been entered into in respect of the compensation
from the Longmen Authority up to the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements.
After the impairment assessment, impairment
losses of HK$309,602,000 and HK$951,000 on the
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment,
respectively, were charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2018.
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(iv)

Impairment assessment — Zhongshan Haitao

Zhongshan Haitao was engaged in the provision of
wastewater treatment plants operation services and
the supply of industrial water. On 25 April 2019, the
Group entered into an agreement with an independent
third party pursuant to which the independent third
party agreed to inject RMB98,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$109,397,000) into Zhongshan Haitao in form
of equity and shareholder’s loan for 49% equity
interest in Zhongshan Haitao. The deemed disposal
was completed on 20 August 2020. The recoverable
amount of Zhongshan Haitao of HK$100,702,000 as
at 31 December 2018 has been determined based on
the transaction price of RMB98,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$111,847,000) of which RMB43,235,000
(equivalent to HK$49,344,000) was in form of equity.
The present directors considered that the transaction
price reflected the fair value of Zhongshan Haitao
as at 31 December 2018. As a result, the directors
made impairment losses of HK$7,599,000 on
goodwill, HK$9,401,000 on intangible assets and
HK$63,290,000 on property, plant and equipment in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2018.
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e MBRRNE (&

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

v)

Impairment assessment — Guangzhou Haitao

Guangzhou Haitao commenced the construction of
a wastewater pipe system in 2018 in connecting the
wastewater treatment facilities between Guangzhou
Haitao and Guangzhou Yinglong. Upon completion of
the construction, Guangzhou Haitao would be able to
divert wastewater collected from its customers through
the pipe system, to Guangzhou Yinglong and utilize
Guangzhou Yinglong’s wastewater treatment capacity
to generate more business.

In March 2020, the local government authority in
Xintang informed Guangzhou Yinglong that its plant
and facilities would be expropriated in the near future.
As such, Guangzhou Yinglong would no longer be
able to operate its business as a wastewater treatment
service provider. Therefore, Guangzhou Haitao
suspended the construction work and the pipe system
project was abandoned. In this connection, the present
directors considered that the recoverable amount of
the construction in progress relating to the pipe system
is nil. Therefore, an impairment loss of HK$44,626,000
on the carrying amount of construction in progress as
included in property, plant and equipment was charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

for the year ended 31 December 2018
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

v)

Impairment assessment — Guangzhou Haitao (Cont’d)

Subsequent to the indictment for illegal disposal
of sludge made against Guangzhou Haitao, the
management decided to terminate the sludge
treatment operation of Guangzhou Haitao. As a
result, a full impairment loss of HK$56,876,000 on the
property, plant and equipment related to the sludge
treatment facilities was made during the year ended 31
December 2018.

The recoverable amount of the Guangzhou Haitao
of HK$205,434,000 as at 31 December 2018 has
been determined based on a value-in-use calculation
using cash flow projections and financial budgets
approved by the present directors covering a period
of 5 years. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash
flow projections is 16.68%. The growth rates adopted
in the first three years are -51% to 20% and cash
flows beyond the three-year period are extrapolated
using a 3% growth rate that is the same as the long
term average growth rate for the industry. It was
concluded that the fair value less costs of disposal did
not exceed the value-in-use. Based on the impairment
assessment, the directors made an impairment loss of
HK$36,522,000 on property, plant and equipment in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2018.
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(vi)

Impairment assessment — Guangzhou Liangang

Since April 2018, Guangzhou Liangang suspended its
hazardous waste treatment and sludge operation as
a result of the investigation and charge made by the
local government authority as disclosed in note 6(a)
to the consolidated financial statements. In 2019, the
local government in Nansha, Guangzhou planned to
expropriate the land owned by Guangzhou Liangang,
therefore, in determining the recoverable amount of
the cash generating unit of Guangzhou Linagang as
at 31 December 2018, the present directors made
reference to the amount of compensation of not less
than RMB541,000,000 (equivalent to HK$603,918,000)
for the expropriation of its land to be received from
the local government authority. Although no formal
agreement has been entered into in respect of the
compensation up to the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, the present
directors considered that the amount of compensation
has been agreed verbally. As the compensation for
land substantially exceeds the carrying amount of
the lease prepayments of Guangzhou Liangang,
the present directors are of the opinion that there
is no impairment on the lease prepayments of
HK$54,556,000 as at 31 December 2018. As the
compensation does not cover the loss in the business
operation and other operating assets, full impairment
losses of HK$118,200,000, HK$50,961,000 and
HK$28,693,000 on the respective property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill were
therefore charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(vij) Impairment assessment — Guangyuan Xizhou

Since 2011, Guangyuan Xizhou made prepayments
for the acquisition of a piece of industrial land in an
industrial park located at Guangyuan, Sichuan, the
PRC and commenced the construction of water supply
and wastewater treatment facilities upon the land.
Upon completion of the construction, Guangyuan
Xizhou is able to supply water and provide wastewater
treatment services to garment factories operating
within the industry park. However, the present
directors realized that only a few garment companies
moved into the industry park and the demand for
water supply and wastewater treatment services
would not be sufficient to justify a profitable operation.
As such, the construction work has been slowed
down and delayed. Given the prolonged insufficient
demand for the water supply and wastewater
treatment services, and the uncertainties in the future
development and commencement of the commercial
operation, a full impairment loss of HK$134,792,000
on the construction in progress and prepayments
for purchase of property, plant and equipment was
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss

for the year ended 31 December 2018.

In addition, an impairment loss of HK$5,453,000 on
lease prepayments was also made as the carrying
amount of the lease prepayments was higher than its
recoverable amount, which was arrived at based on a
valuation performed by a professional valuer based on

a fair value less costs of disposal basis.
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)
(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(viii) Impairment assessment — Guangzhou Kaizhou,
Guangzhou Yinglong, Guangzhou Xintao and
Guangzhou Xinzhou

Four of the Group’s subsidiaries namely Guangzhou
Kaizhou, Guangzhou Xintao, Guangzhou Xinzhou
and Guangzhou Yinglong were located within two
industrial parks in Xintang, Guangzhou, the PRC
and providing wastewater treatment services and
supply of industrial water to factories operating in the
industrial parks. The local government promulgated a
number of new environment protection policies which
adversely affected the subsidiaries’ operations. A
significant number of the Group’s customers moved
out from the areas where the subsidiaries facilities
were situated in the last quarter of 2017 and early
2018. Guangzhou Kaizhou, Guangzhou Xinzhou
and Guangzhou Xintao also ceased their business
operations whereas Guangzhou Yinglong continued to
maintain a minimal facility for its business operation.
The present directors considered this as an impairment
indicator and carried out an impairment review on
the property, plant and equipment and the related
prepaid land lease payments based on the fair value
less costs of disposal basis. The present directors
estimated that except for Guangzhou Yinglong which
expected a compensation of RMB259,000,000
from the local government authority, there were no
compensation for Guangzhou Kaizhou, Guangzhou
Xintao and Guangzhou Xinzhou. The present directors
concluded that except for the lease prepayments,
full impairment should be made on all other items of
property, plant and equipment not covered by the
compensation as these assets no longer have a value-
in-use and their residual value would be immaterial.
As a result, impairment losses of HK$21,402,000,
HK$87,255,000, HK$576,000 and HK$231,842,000
on the property, plant and equipment of Guangzhou
Kaizhou, Guangzhou Xintao, Guangzhou Xinzhou
and Guangzhou Yinglong and impairment losses of
HK$20,156,000 on goodwill and HK$24,372,000 on
intangible assets of Guangzhou Yinglong were charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2018.
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(viii) Impairment assessment — Guangzhou Kaizhou,

(ix)

Guangzhou Yinglong, Guangzhou Xintao and
Guangzhou Xinzhou (Cont’d)

The present directors considered that the local
government authority would compensate the
subsidiaries as their business operations were
seriously affected by the new environmental rules
and regulations. However, up to the date of approval
of these consolidated financial statements, except
for Guangzhou Yinglong, the local government
authority did not contact the subsidiaries for any
discussions. Therefore, no compensation has been
taken into consideration in the impairment assessment
of Guangzhou Kaizhou, Guangzhou Xintao and
Guangzhou Xinzhou.

Impairment assessment — Hanyang Shuiwu

The recoverable amount of 1L/ JIE 8 & 88 ¥ K 7%
T2 ABMR~2F (Shunde Hanyang Industrial Water
Supply Company Limited) (“Hanyang Shuiwu”) which
was engaged in the supply of industrial waste of
HK$62,772,000 as at 31 December 2018 has been
determined based on a value-in-use calculation using
cash flow projections for financial budgets approved
by the present directors covering a period of 5
years. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow
projections is 18.77%. The growth rates adopted in
the first three years are -13% to 12% and cash flows
beyond the three-year period are extrapolated using
a 3% growth rate that is the same as the long term
average growth rate for the industry. It was concluded
that the fair value less costs of disposal did not
exceed the value-in-use. Based on the impairment
assessment, the present directors made impairment
losses of HK$13,175,000 on property, plant and
equipment, HK$11,506,000 on intangible assets
and HK$27,383,000 on goodwill in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2018.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

*)

Impairment assessment — Ganghui Huanbao

The recoverable amount of ff LT JEE E B ER
R5KEEBMR AT (Foshan Shunde Ganghui
Wastewater Treatment Company Limited) (“Ganghui
Huanbao”) which was engaged in the provision of
wastewater treatment plants operation services of
HK$120,978,000 as at 31 December 2018 has been
determined based on a value-in-use calculation
using cash flow projections and financial budgets
approved by the directors covering a period of 5
years. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow
projections is 18.05%. The growth rates adopted in
the first three years are 6% to 17% and cash flows
beyond the three-year period are extrapolated using
a 3% growth rate that is the same as the long term
average growth rate for the industry. It was concluded
that the fair value less costs of disposal did not
exceed the value-in-use. Based on the impairment
assessment, the present directors made impairment
losses of HK$5,774,000 on goodwill, HK$4,544,000
on intangible assets and HK$40,565,000 on property,
plant and equipment respectively in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2018.
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(xi)

Impairment assessment — Guangzhou Kangxiang

Guangzhou Kangxiang was engaged in the provision
of hazardous waste treatment services. The
recoverable amount of Guangzhou Kangxiang CGU
of HK$6,848,000 as at 31 December 2018 has been
determined based on a value-in-use calculation using
cash flow projections for financial budgets approved
by the present directors covering a period of 5
years. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow
projections is 17.72%. The growth rates adopted in
the first three years are -9% to 19% and cash flows
beyond the three-year period are extrapolated using
a 3% growth rate that is the same as the long term
average growth rate for the industry. It was concluded
that the fair value less costs of disposal did not
exceed the value-in-use. Based on the impairment
assessment, the present directors made impairment
losses of HK$6,120,000 on goodwill, HK$11,474,000
on intangible assets and HK$4,889,000 on property,
plant and equipment respectively in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2018.

19. WX -WERERE (H)

AR ()

(xi)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(xii)

(xiif)

Impairment assessment — Heyuan Solid

Heyuan Solid was engaged in the provision of
solid waste treatment services and had continued
operating at a loss. The valuation based on value-
in-use calculation was a negative amount, therefore,
the present directors determine the recoverable
amount of Heyuan Solid at 31 December 2018 based
on fair value less cost of disposal. Except for the
lease prepayments, the directors considered that the
fair value less cost of disposal for other assets was
immaterial. As a result, the present directors made
impairment losses of HK$57,771,000 on property,
plant and equipment, HK$28,824,000 on intangible
assets and HK$11,344,000 on goodwill in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

Impairment assessment — Yingde Yingtao

Yingde Yingtao had not yet commenced any business
operations. In previous years, Yingde Yingtao incurred
certain costs on preliminary site formation which was
recorded as construction in progress under property,
plant and equipment. Due to the tight cash flow of
the Group, the project was suspended and would not
be proceeded further. As a result, full impairment of
HK$19,333,000 on property, plant and equipment was
made in the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2018.

e MBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE=F—/\F+=A=+—HILFE
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(a)

Impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(xiv) Impairment assessment — Haoying Solid

Since 2016, Haoying Solid commenced the
construction of solid waste treatment facilities in
an industry park located at Foshan, Guangdong,
the PRC. Upon the completion of the construction,
Haoying Solid would be able to provide solid waste
transit warehouse service to factories operating within
the industry park. However, the present directors
realized that only a few companies had moved into
the industry park and the demand for solid waste
transit warehouse services would not be sufficient to
justify a profitable operation. Given that the insufficient
demand for solid waste treatment services, the
present directors decided not to pursue the project.
Therefore, impairment losses of HK$2,221,000 on
goodwill, HK$6,580,000 on intangible assets and
HK$32,112,000 on construction in progress as
included in property, plant and equipment were
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
REMBRRME (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018

BZ—F— )\ F+—A=1—HILFE
19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d) 19. ¥ -BERHEE (E)
(a) Impairment assessment (Cont’d) (a) REFME (&)

(xv) Impairment assessment — Longmen Zhongtao

(xv) JBLIEEFIE —BEFTHIE

During the year ended 31 December 2018, Longmen
Zhongtao was in the construction of a solid waste
treatment plant adjacent to the site of Longmen
Zhongtao Recycling. Following the Longmen Authority
early terminated the BOT contract with Longmen
Zhongtao Recycling and the quality and safety
issues as set out in note 19(a)(iii), Longmen Zhongtao
also suspended the construction of its solid waste
treatment plant. The present directors believe that the
project would be expropriated by the local government
authority eventually. However, up to the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements,
the local government authority did not contact
Longmen Zhongtao for discussion of compensations.
Therefore, no compensation has been taken into
consideration in the impairment assessment of
Longmen Zhongtao. Except for the lease prepayments,
full impairment loss of HK$241,224,000 on the
property, plant and equipment was charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2018.
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

(b)

(c)

At 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment pledged as security for the Group’s
bank loans amounted to HK$188,627,000 (2017:
HK$199,542,000) (note 35).

During the year ended 31 December 2017, local
government authorities commenced an industrial
transformation and environmental remediation plan (the
“Transformation Plan”) on the two environmental industrial
parks in Guangzhou (the “Industrial Parks”), which are
Xiapu Industrial Park and Xinzhou Industrial Park, aiming
at strengthening supervision and inspection of the
environmental protection industry. Certain dyeing factories
in the Industrial Parks were closed and suspended.

Wastewater treatment services to factories in the
Industrial Parks are mainly provided by 3 of the Group’s
subsidiaries, Guangzhou Xintao, Guangzhou Yinglong and
Guangzhou Xinzhou, and the industrial water supply to
factories in the Xinzhou Industrial Park is mainly provided
by another subsidiary of the Group, Guangzhou Kaizhou.
According to the negotiation between the Group and local
government authorities, as part of the Transformation
Plan, wastewater treatment and water supply capacities of
the above 4 subsidiaries will be utilised by new and less
polluted factories in the Industrial Parks. Moreover, the
Group is in negotiation with local government authorities
to compensate the Group for the losses suffered from
the Transformation Plan. Based on the discussion
between the local government authorities and the Group,
the management believe that they will have sufficient
compensation for anticipated losses as a result of the
Transformation Plan.

The Group has assessed the recoverable amounts of the
cash-generating units of the above 4 subsidiaries. As at
31 December 2017, the carrying amounts of the related
property, plant and equipment, lease prepayment, intangible
asset and goodwill could be fully recovered and as a result,
no impairment have been made by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

20. LEASE PREPAYMENTS

mEMBmRME (F)

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE=F—/\F+=A=+—HILFE

20. HEBEMRE

HK$’000
FET
Cost FR 2
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+tF—H—H 338,118
Additions nE 51,111
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHEA (61,113)
Exchange differences [ERZELE 20,528
At 31 December 2017 and R=-F—tH+=-A=+—-HK
1 January 2018 “E-N\H%—HF—H 358,644
Additions wNE 215,861
Disposals HE (178,034)
Reclassified as held-for-sale (note 32) BN EABFEHEE (HE32) (47,000)
Exchange differences [EHEZE (17,831)
At 31 December 2018 RZE—-N\E+=ZA=+—H 331,640
Accumulated amortisation and RitBHERREESE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2017 R-—ZE—tE—H—H 17,295
Charge for the year F Rk 8,709
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—BHRBEAR (4,062)
Exchange differences X EH 1,259
At 31 December 2017 and RZZ—tHF+=ZB=+—HBK
1 January 2018 —E2-N\¥—AF—H 23,201
Charge for the year FRMER 9,221
Impairment loss BEEE 39,485
Reclassified as held-for-sale (note 32) B EABFEHEE (KEE32) (1,464)
Exchange differences EHERE (2,795)
At 31 December 2018 RZZB-NE+ZA=+—H 67,648
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E+=ZA=+—H 263,992
At 31 December 2017 R-ZEBE-—tH+=ZA=+—H 335,443
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for the year ended 31 December 2018

HE—F— V1 =A=+—ALFE

20. LEASE PREPAYMENTS (Cont’d) 20. THETEfTFIA (£F

Impairment assessment

The directors conducted an impairment assessment on the lease
prepayments by estimating their recoverable amount which is
determined based on either value-in-use or fair value less costs
of disposal and made reference to the compensations from local
government. As a result of the assessment, an impairment loss of
HK$39,485,000 was made in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018. The details of the
impairment assessment and reasons for impairment loss are set
out in note 19.

At 31 December 2018, the remaining period of the land use rights
ranges from 24 to 48 years (2017: 25 to 49 years).

As at 31 December 2018, lease prepayments with carrying
amount of HK$63,763,000 were pledged for bank loans (2017:
HK$114,216,000) (note 35).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e MWK (&)
for the year ended 31 December 2018
HE—F—\F1=A=+—ALFE

FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21, BREE
Supply of ~ Wastewater Sludge and Hazardous
industrial treatment solid waste waste
water plants treatment treatment
operation operation operation operation
right rights rights rights Total
fitfe BERR Ve
IXAK BREER E R AR BNEE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i TiEn TR FEr TEn FEr
Cost 2%
At 1 January 2017 R-Z-t§—-H—-A 44,718 104,091 566,272 857,462 1,572,543
Additions NE (@) - - 221,339 - 221,339
Exchange adjustments EHHE 3,134 7,285 39,702 60,100 110,221
At 31 December 2017 and R-E—t&
1 January 2018 T JE = lE %
—Z-N\§-HF—H 47,852 111,376 827,313 917,562 1,904,103
Written off R - - - (15,978) (15,978)
Exchange adjustments EXAE (2,200 (5,121) (42,642) (42,185) (92,148)
At 31 December 2018 RZB-NF
T=eE = =15 45,652 106,255 784,671 859,399 1,795,977
Accumulated amortisation and R &t # 8 K B B8
impairment losses
At 1 January 2017 RZE—t&-HA-H 3,230 13,382 22,872 77,846 117,330
Amortisation for the year FREH 3,084 5,789 10,396 44,645 63,914
Impairment loss HESE (b) - - 8,325 = 8,325
Exchange adjustments EHHE 332 1,137 2,246 6,990 10,705
At 31 December 2017 and R-E-—t&
1 January 2018 +=ZA=+-8K
—Z-N§-Hf-H 6,646 20,308 43,839 129,481 200,274
Amortisation for the year FR#H 3,155 5,923 34,393 47,156 90,627
Written off HRR - - - (15,978) (15,978)
Impairment loss HEEE 11,507 38,316 409,279 62,436 521,538
Exchange adjustments ERAE (826) (2,504) (17,762) (9,845) (30,937)
At 31 December 2018 RZB-NF
+=ZA=1+-H 20,482 62,043 469,749 213,250 765,524
Carrying amount HREE
At 31 December 2018 RZB-N\%
esEE 1 — A 25,170 44,212 314,922 646,149 1,030,453
At 31 December 2017 RIE—+5&
+=ZA=1+-H 41,206 91,068 783,474 788,081 1,703,829
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21.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont’d)

Year ended 31 December 2017

(a)

For the year ended 31 December 2017, additions of
intangible assets mainly represented the BOT arrangement
from Longmen Zhongtao Recycling, whose principle
activities are provision of sludge and solid waste
treatment services in the PRC. Under the above BOT
arrangement, Longmen Zhongtao Recycling will operate
the facilities for a period of 30 years. For the year ended
31 December 2017, the Group has recognised revenue
of HK$222,962,000 (equivalent to RMB192,774,000) and
profit of HK$37,160,000 (equivalent to RMB32,129,000)
on construction of the sludge and solid waste treatment
facilities of Longmen Zhongtao Recycling. The revenue
recognised in relation to construction represents the fair
value of the construction services provided in constructing
the sludge and solid waste treatment facilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, operation right
of solid waste treatment services of Xinfeng Lvzhi Industrial
Waste Reclamation Treatment Co., Limited (“Xinfeng Lvzhi”)
was fully impaired. During the year ended 31 December
2017, the project of Xinfeng Lvzhi was terminated by the
local government. The Group assessed the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit of Xinfeng Lvzhi and as
a result the carrying amount of the intangible asset were
fully written down. Impairment losses of RMB7,198,000
(equivalent to HK$8,325,000) of intangible asset was
recognised.

21.
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22.

FERAREEARRAE FEHE 2018

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont’d)

Year ended 31 December 2018

(€

The present directors conducted an impairment assessment
on the intangible assets by estimating the recoverable
amount of the CGU which is determined based on either
the value-in-use calculation or fair value less costs of
disposal and made reference to the compensations from
local government authorities. As a result of the assessment,
an impairment loss of HK$521,538,000 was made in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2018. The details of the impairment
assessment and reasons for impairment loss are set out in
note 19.

The amortisation charge for the year is included in cost of sales in
the consolidated statements of profit or loss.

21.

e MBRRNE (&

for the year ended 31 December 2018
BE=F—/\F+=A=+—HILFE

BEEE(H)

BE-E-NF+ZA=t+—-HL
FE

) BREESEBMREELE
fuzaECEHELEEE
TRERTE - AT E S E TR
BERAEESEIAFERE
B2 MEEE LR EHRE
E-E-N\F+ZA=1—~H
LEFEZGEBRBERFHRE
&5 18521,538,0005% JT © & &
M 2 BRI ER R 2 EH
FRAMIEE19

FRMBFZBETTAGERERZ

GOODWILL 22, BB
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TFHET
Cost 2N
At 1 January m—HB—H 172,663 161,453
Exchange differences EHEE (7,938) 11,210
At 31 December R+=—B=+—H 164,725 172,663
Accumulated impairment losses B BEERE
At 1 January m—B—H 2,423 2,364
Impairment loss (note 11) WEEE (K1) 168,390 -
Exchange differences [EHEL (6,088) 59
At 31 December BR+=-ZBA=+—H 164,725 2,423
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December BW+=ZBA=+—H” - 170,240
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22. GOODWILL (Cont'd)

Goodwill acquired through acquisition of subsidiaries is allocated
to the Group’s cash-generating unit (“CGU”) identified as follows.

BE (#)

BRWBEHELRESZHERA
SEzCRIREELEN (RE
EEEN])ETIRENT

2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FET
Water supply services ok AR %%
- Shunde Hanyang Industrial Water —EEEEFAEIRE
Supply Company Limited BRATE ([§FKHE])
(“Hanyang Shuiwu”) - 27,684
Wastewater treatment services 5K R IR
- Guangzhou Yinglong —BEMERE - 20,379
- Foshan Shunde Ganghui Wastewater — —{# LT EEEEERR
Treatment Company Limited SKEEERAT
(“Ganghui Huanbao”) (MBERR]) - 5,837
- Zhongshan Hailan Water Resources - HIBEEKE R
Development Company Limited BRAR ([HILEEE])
(“Zhongshan Hailan”) - 7,683
Sludge and solid waste treatment 75 e I [ 78 BE W) = 32 AR 7%
services
- Qingyuan Lvyou —BREH - 59,749
- Heyuan Solid — VR E RE - 11,469
- Guangzhou Kangxiang -EMNER - 6,187
- Foshan Haoying Solid Waste —HILmEREEEY
Centralized Treatment Centre BEETLERAT
Company Limited (“Haoying Solid”) (DERERE]) - 2,245
Hazardous waste treatment services 16 B R WD B2 32 AR A
- Guangzhou Liangang Vessel —EMNTERMRE
Wastewater Treatment Company BRAR ([EMEE])
Limited (“Guangzhou Liangang”) - 29,007

- 170,240
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22. GOODWILL (Cont'd)

Impairment assessment

Year ended 31 December 2017

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on
either value-in-use calculations or compensation from local
government authorities. These calculations use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a period from 13 to 17 years. Cash flows beyond the
period are extrapolated using an estimated weighted average
growth rate of 3% which is consistent with the forecasts
included in industry reports. The growth rates used do not
exceed the long-term average growth rates for the business in
which the CGU operates. The cash flows are discounted using a
discount rate of 14% — 15%. The discount rates used are after-
tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments.
No impairment for the year ended 31 December 2017 was
considered necessary after the impairment assessment.

Year ended 31 December 2018

The present directors conducted an impairment amount on the
goodwill by estimating the recoverable amount of the CGU which
is determined based on either the value-in-use calculation or
the fair value less costs of disposal and made reference to the
compensations from local government authorities. As a result of
the assessment, the directors made full impairment loss on the
goodwill during the year ended 31 December 2018. The details of
the impairment assessment and the reasons for impairment loss
are set out in note 19.
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for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont’d)
e MBmRME (&
for the year ended 31 December 2018

BE—F—\F1-A=1—HIFE
23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 23. RMBARZHKE

RZZB-NF+ZA=+—-HZXE

Particulars of major subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018 are as

follows: EMBARZHFBUT:
Percentage of
ownership interest
BEREREZASL
Place of
incorporation/
registration and